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·1· ·(WHEREUPON, THE PROCEEDINGS WERE HELD AS FOLLOWS:)

·2· · · · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I would like

·3· · · ·to call the meeting to order of the

·4· · · ·Mississippi State Board of Dental Examiners

·5· · · ·January 12th meeting.· I'd like to welcome

·6· · · ·everyone.· I don't see a lot of guests, but

·7· · · ·we do have one.

·8· · · · · · Will you say your name for the record?

·9· · · · · · DR. MAY:· George May.

10· · · · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you,

11· · · ·Dr. May.

12· · · · · · · · · · · AGENDA ITEMS

13· · · · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Seeing none

14· · · ·other, let's see.· We have a quorum; that's

15· · · ·definite.· We're going to approve the agenda.

16· · · ·Now, we are going to have to rearrange our

17· · · ·agenda just a little bit this morning.· We're

18· · · ·going to put off the disciplinary hearings

19· · · ·until Westley gets here, and we'll probably

20· · · ·go into our meeting minutes, get them

21· · · ·approved, and then we will rearrange when he

22· · · ·does get here.· I guess it's the weather down

23· · · ·here.· It's kind of bad.

24· · · · · · Let me start us off with a word of prayer.

25· · · · · · · · · · · (Invocation)
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· First thing,

·2· ·approval of minutes from the

·3· ·October 27th meeting.· Have y'all had a

·4· ·chance to look at those minutes?· And if you

·5· ·have, do we need to -- if we don't have any

·6· ·corrections, I'll entertain a motion to

·7· ·approve.

·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· So moved.

·9· ·Motion second?

10· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.

11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you.

12· · · · All in favor say "aye."

13· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.

14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed?

15· · · · · · · · ·(No response)

16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.

17· ·Those minutes are approved.

18· · · · Second is the November 7th Board meeting.

19· ·Same thing.· You've had a chance to look at

20· ·them?

21· · · · BOARD PANEL:· (No audible response).

22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.

23· ·Can I have a motion to approve those minutes?

24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· So moved.

25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Second?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Second.

·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in

·3· ·favor, say "aye."

·4· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.

·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,

·6· ·"no."

·7· · · · · · · · · (No response)

·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Next are the

·9· ·November 30th Board meeting minutes.· Same

10· ·thing.· Are there are any corrections?

11· · · · · · · · · (No response)

12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Hearing

13· ·none, do I hear a motion to approve?

14· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· I make a

15· ·motion.

16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you.

17· ·Is there a second?

18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Second.

19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you.

20· · · · All in favor, say "aye."

21· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.

22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,

23· ·"no."

24· · · · · · · · · (No response)

25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· One thing
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·1· ·that we need to do, since we did modify the
·2· ·agenda, let's go ahead and vote to approve
·3· ·the agenda with the modifications as you've
·4· ·stated.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·6· ·We need a motion to approve that agenda that
·7· ·we just modified.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· So moved.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Is there a
10· ·second?
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Second.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in
13· ·favor, say "aye."
14· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· We
16· ·did exactly what we said we would do; we did
17· ·the minutes and got them approved while we
18· ·were waiting on Westley to get here.
19· · · · So, now, we are good to go back to the
20· ·original part of the agenda, and the first one
21· ·is going to be a disciplinary hearing.· So we
22· ·will have to consider going into executive --
23· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'm looking
24· ·for the Hearing Officer.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Oh, the
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·1· ·Hearing Officer is not here.· Okay.· We may
·2· ·just have to wait, then, don't we, Westley?
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yes, sir.· We can't
·4· ·proceed without the Hearing Officer.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So we're
·6· ·going to be back on our modified.· We're
·7· ·going to do subcommittee reports and updates.
·8· ·The first one up is Board Regulation 25, the
·9· ·status of that.
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So that's me.· Thank you.
11· · · · In addressing Regulations 25, 41, and 47,
12· ·all of those regulations are still within the
13· ·process within the Administrative Procedures
14· ·Act and OLRC.· This Board will be notified as
15· ·soon as there is action taken.· Ultimately,
16· ·they will to have to appear before the OLRC and
17· ·get approval from them before they can be
18· ·effective.
19· · · · So, essentially, no update regarding
20· ·those, but I will update the Board as soon as a
21· ·meeting is scheduled with the OLRC, in which
22· ·they hear these regulations, to give any Board
23· ·members that wish to attend the opportunity to
24· ·attend.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you,
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·1· ·Westley.
·2· · · · Any questions about his update?
·3· · · · · · · · · (No response)
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· No?· Okay.
·5· · · · Next on the agenda now are our committee
·6· ·reports, the Rules and Regs Committee -- oh,
·7· ·no -- Credentialing.· I'm sorry.· I'm reading
·8· ·the one wrong one.· It's the Credentialing
·9· ·Committee -- no, no.· Wait.· We've got to do
10· ·Rules and Regs, and we've got to hear from
11· ·Dr. Carlton or Dr. Lampkin.· Let's do that.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Okay.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Because,
14· ·see, the Rules and Regs Committee --
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Right,
16· ·Rules and Regs.· So Westley gave part of an
17· ·update, and there have not been any other
18· ·additional meetings with the Rules and Regs
19· ·Committee since those updates.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I have
21· ·nothing to report from Rules and Regs.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
23· ·So the Credentialing Committee.
24· · · · Dr. Curtis?
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Yes, sir?
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Approval of
·2· ·the CE?
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Yes.· I looked
·4· ·over their agenda and spoke with their
·5· ·leadership about their meeting -- their
·6· ·annual meeting, and everything looks more
·7· ·than legitimate.· Their speakers have good
·8· ·credentials, and they certainly qualify for
·9· ·continuing education.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you, 
11· ·Dr. Curtis.· And that comes as a motion from
12· ·the Credentialing Committee to approve it?
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· So moved.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
15· ·That's a motion.· Is there a second?
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second. 
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in
18· ·favor, say "aye."
19· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any 
opposed?21· · · · · · · · · (No response)
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· That 
23· ·is approved.
24· · · · Legislative Committee.· Dr. Lampkin?
25· · · · DR. LAMPKIN:· Just one update.· So we 
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·1· ·all talked to Aria Care, and they do have a
·2· ·proposed draft that they may go through this
·3· ·legislative session with; and if it will be
·4· ·submitted, this may potentially open the
·5· ·practice -- the Dental Practice Act.· And so,
·6· ·that's all we have for now.· I'm not saying
·7· ·that it will go forth, but they have brought
·8· ·forth a draft for that.
·9· · · · And that's all we have to report.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So no
11· ·decisions have been made, but they are
12· ·planning to open it, right?
13· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· That's only if it goes
14· ·through legislative session, so possibly.
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
16· ·Licensure Exam.
17· · · · Dr. Williams?
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I have no
19· ·report.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Practice Act
21· ·Review.
22· · · · Ms. Birmingham?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· So the
24· ·Practice Act Committee did meet last night
25· ·also, and we will continue to have further
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·1· ·meetings on the Practice Act, possibly
·2· ·updating the Practice Act.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So
·4· ·nothing new to report about that?
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Nothing
·6· ·new to report right now.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
·8· ·Budget and Finance.
·9· · · · Dr. Grubbs?
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· (Shakes head
11· ·negatively).
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Nothing?
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· There's no
14· ·report.· Cornerstone will be here a little
15· ·later to give a report on the financials for
16· ·the second quarter of the fiscal year.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· While we're
18· ·in the meeting reports, I want to bring our
19· ·attention back to our last Board meeting.
20· ·Here at the office, when the CRDTS people
21· ·presented their program, we did listen to
22· ·that, and we made a slight error.· We
23· ·referred that to the Rules and Regs
24· ·Committee, and that should have been sent to
25· ·the Licensure Committee.
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·1· · · · So we need a motion to send that to the
·2· ·correct committee.· It was -- a mistake was
·3· ·made.· So do I hear a motion to let the
·4· ·Licensure study the CRDTS thing?
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I'll make a
·6· ·motion.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· There's a
·8· ·motion by Dr. Carlton.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· I'll second.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Dr. Lampkin
11· ·seconded it.
12· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
13· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed?
15· · · · · · · · · (No response)
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So your
17· ·Committee will take that up.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· All right.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So that's it
20· ·for our subcommittees.
21· · · · Westley, do we want to keep going or go to
22· ·yours?
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'd say -- let's see.
24· ·What do we have next on the agenda?
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Specialty
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·1· ·applications.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Keep it moving.· I'm
·3· ·going to take advantage of your momentum and
·4· ·have a small conference with Ms. Love from
·5· ·the AG's Office and our respondent for the
·6· ·hearing today just in order to keep things
·7· ·efficient.· So, if you will, just keep going.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·9· ·Specialty applications.
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So Lou is
11· ·coming from the licensing staff following the
12· ·agenda.· If you want me to speak on behalf of
13· ·this one, I can give you --
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· You can.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So the
16· ·specialty application for orthodontics for
17· ·Dr. Leithead.· He is an orthodontist in
18· ·Louisiana that's been doing some locum tenens
19· ·work in Mississippi, in Hattiesburg.· And so,
20· ·he was given a license in Mississippi at the
21· ·last Board meeting, and this is his
22· ·application for his specialty.
23· · · · He has met all of the requirements to
24· ·receive a specialty license in orthodontics.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Does anyone
·2· ·have any questions about his application or
·3· ·anything?
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·5· ·All in favor of granting Dr. Leithead --
·6· · · · Is that how you say it?
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· That's
·8· ·correct.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· -- an
10· ·orthodontic specialty license?· I need a
11· ·motion to approve it.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Motion.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· There's a
14· ·motion by Dr. Grubbs.
15· · · · Is there a second?
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second by
18· ·Ms. Haley.
19· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
20· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
22· ·"no."
23· · · · · · · · · (No response)
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
25· ·carries.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I do have a
·2· ·question, though, Dr. Smith.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Going
·5· ·forward, when someone is going to apply for a
·6· ·specialty permit, would it -- and they've
·7· ·already established somewhere else, they're
·8· ·doing it by reciprocation or whatever, is it
·9· ·possible to have them apply for the license
10· ·and the specialty at the same time?
11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· That's a
12· ·good question.
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I don't
14· ·know why it wouldn't be.· I think, in this
15· ·particular case, he applied for licensure by
16· ·UROLA.· And so, since that is something the
17· ·Board had to approve, there was a two-step
18· ·process for that; whereas, if he had applied
19· ·through credentialing, he could have been
20· ·licensed and could have done the specialty at
21· ·the same time.
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'll give you
23· ·the standard lawyer answer:· It depends on
24· ·the facts.· So you look at it on a
25· ·case-by-case basis, and it could very well
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·1· ·be -- depending upon the situation, they
·2· ·could apply at the same time; and then, if
·3· ·not, if it does require two steps, we'll just
·4· ·do it that way.· B.
·5· · · · But, I mean, you're right.· It would cut
·6· ·down on going back and doing the same thing
·7· ·over and over again.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Thank you.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Next on the
10· ·agenda is a UROLA -- I guess we're going into
11· ·UROLA.· A dental license for a Dr. Filzen,
12· ·who is --
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So -- I'm
14· ·sorry.
15· · · · So the first application is a UROLA for
16· ·Dr. Angela Filzen.· She has been licensed in
17· ·Texas for a number of years.· She is a resident
18· ·of Mississippi.· She works for the -- she is
19· ·the Oral Health Officer for the State of
20· ·Mississippi Department of Health, so she is
21· ·applying for licensure through UROLA.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· Our
23· ·checklist has been completed.· So is there a
24· ·motion to approve Dr. Filzen?
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· So moved.
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Dr. Lampkin.
·2· · · · Is there a second?
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I'll second.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you,
·5· ·Dr. Carlton.
·6· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
·7· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed?
·9· · · · · · · · ·(No response)
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
11· ·Dr. Filzen has her license.
12· · · · Next is Dr. Lea- -- no -- Dental Hygienist
13· ·Holly Leatherman.
14· · · · MS. SIMS:· So Holly Leatherman, she does
15· ·meet the requirements.· You should see that
16· ·attachments of her residency for Mississippi,
17· ·and she did have a license in another state
18· ·for a year, in California.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· I'll make
20· ·a motion.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Haley has
22· ·made a motion to approve licensure by UROLA.
23· · · · Is there a second?
24· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in
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·1· ·favor, say "aye."
·2· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
·4· ·"no."
·5· · · · · · · · · (No response)
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
·7· ·carries.
·8· · · · Just as an aside, I used to work for a
·9· ·Dr. -- oh, no -- a Mr. Leatherman.· I don't
10· ·know if she's related at all, but he owned a
11· ·lady's shoe store.
12· · · · Next is Jaclyn Nickerson.
13· · · · MS. SIMS:· She is a dental hygienist.
14· ·She has been licensed in Tennessee for a
15· ·year, and she has residence in Mississippi.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· I make a
17· ·motion.
18· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· She's met
19· ·all of our requirements?
20· · · · MS. SIMS:· Yes.· She's a resident of
21· ·Mississippi, and she has had a license since
22· ·2019 in Tennessee.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· I make a
24· ·motion.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Haley made a
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·1· ·motion.
·2· · · · Is there a second?
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Second.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second by
·5· ·D.K.· Thank you.
·6· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
·7· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed?
·9· · · · · · · · · (No response)
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
11· ·Ms. Nickerson has got her license.
12· · · · Now, a reinstatement of license.· You're
13· ·going to do that one too, Lou?
14· · · · MS. SIMS:· Yes.· Jennifer Garza.· Her
15· ·license voided 2021 for failure to renew.
16· ·She had moved to Georgia.· She's a specialist
17· ·orthodontist, and she has been actively
18· ·practicing her profession in Georgia also.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So she's had
20· ·a Mississippi specialty and general?
21· · · · MS. SIMS:· And general license.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And then,
23· ·she's just coming back to Mississippi?
24· · · · MS. SIMS:· She's just coming back to
25· ·Mississippi.
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And all of
·2· ·her paperwork is good?
·3· · · · MS. SIMS:· Yes.· And you will see that
·4· ·she is current CE/CPR.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Do I hear a
·6· ·motion to approve Dr. Garza?
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· So moved.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you,
·9· ·Dr. Carlton.
10· · · · Is there a second?
11· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second.
13· ·Thank you.
14· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
15· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
17· ·"no."
18· · · · · · · · · (No response)
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
20· ·carries.· Dr. Garza is approved.
21· · · · Next is a Dr. James Griffith.
22· · · · MS. SIMS:· Yes.· Dr. Griffith had
23· ·retired; but as you can see for his reasoning
24· ·for coming back to practice in Mississippi,
25· ·it is due to personal reasons.· His CEs are
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·1· ·correct, CPR, and he's within his three years
·2· ·of practicing his profession.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Is there a
·4· ·motion to approve Dr. Griffith?
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So moved.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· There's a
·7· ·motion by Dr. Williams.· Thank you.
·8· · · · Is there a second?
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second.
11· ·Thank you, Haley.
12· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
13· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
15· ·"no."
16· · · · · · · · · (No response)
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
18· ·Dr. Griffith has got his license.
19· · · · Next would be Dr. Heflin.
20· · · · MS. SIMS:· Dr. Heflin's license was
21· ·voided December 2021 by request.· She moved
22· ·to Tennessee.· But she has obtained
23· ·employment with Mid-South Dental since
24· ·September 21, so she would like to reinstate
25· ·her license to practice in Mississippi again.
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·1· ·All of her CEs are correct, CPR, licensure.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well --
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What did you
·4· ·say about her employment?
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· It's Jackson,
·6· ·Tennessee.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Where is she
·8· ·going to practice?
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Yeah, it says
10· ·Jackson, Tennessee.
11· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· It says
12· ·Tennessee.
13· · · · MS. SIMS:· She's been practicing in
14· ·Tennessee since September of 2021.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What did you
16· ·say about Mid-South since September?
17· · · · MS. SIMS:· That's where she's been
18· ·working.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· And that's in
20· ·Tennessee?
21· · · · MS. SIMS:· Uh-huh (affirmative
22· ·response), in Tennessee.
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But where is
24· ·she going to -- how does she get a
25· ·Mississippi license now?· She's got to work
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·1· ·here or live here.
·2· · · · MS. SIMS:· No.· This is a reinstatement.
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· This is
·4· ·reinstatement of a license, so she doesn't
·5· ·have to provide proof that she's going to
·6· ·work in Mississippi.· Her application says
·7· ·she plans to start working part time in
·8· ·Mississippi.· She's already had a Mississippi
·9· ·license.· She just wants it reinstated.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Oh, so this
11· ·is not one of those UROLA things?
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, sir,
13· ·it's not.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· She wants to
15· ·work part time in Mississippi, is what she
16· ·said.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
18· ·Does the Board want to entertain a motion to
19· ·approve Dr. Heflin?
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· So moved.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you.
22· · · · Is there a second?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second by
25· ·Haley.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
·2· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
·4· ·"no."
·5· · · · · · · · · (No response)
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
·7· ·carries.
·8· · · · Okay.· Thank you, Lou.
·9· · · · Next would be a portable dental permit.
10· ·Ms. Vaughn?
11· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· The one we have
12· ·is a portable unit, and it's for Feltz Vision
13· ·Center MS, LLC, and it also goes by 360Care.
14· ·The operator is a Dr. Camille Tabor Cobb.
15· ·The location for these are going to be
16· ·Diversicare of Southaven and also Holmes
17· ·County Long-Term Care in Durant.· Everything
18· ·was in order.· Nick went up on last Monday to
19· ·do a site inspection visit, and everything
20· ·was good to go.· It's portable.· They're
21· ·going to go into nursing homes.· They're
22· ·going to carry their equipment in.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· So is this
24· ·like optometry?· Like, is it vision and --
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So the
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·1· ·original company, the corporate name -- or
·2· ·the name registered with the Secretary of
·3· ·State is Feltz Vision.· They started doing
·4· ·vision care in nursing homes.· They've
·5· ·expanded.· So they do business now, and their
·6· ·d/b/a name is 360Care.· And they offer
·7· ·optometry, dental, some mental health
·8· ·services, and there's something else in
·9· ·nursing homes.· I believe they're out of
10· ·Kentucky is where the corporate --
11· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· It says, "Vision,
12· ·podiatry, audiology" --
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So we're being
14· ·asked to approve a vision trademark name?
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, sir.
16· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· They go by
17· ·360Care.
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· You're
19· ·being asked to approve a portable permit.
20· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Portable.· So
21· ·they're going to take their equipment into
22· ·the nursing home.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, what's
24· ·on here is Feltz Vision Center.
25· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· That is what's
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·1· ·registered at the Secretary of State, the
·2· ·approval name.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Do we have
·4· ·to approve the name of --
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I'm not
·6· ·approving that.
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· The
·8· ·application is not to approve the name.
·9· ·It's --
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· All right.
11· ·What's the question, then?· What are we
12· ·doing?
13· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· It's for a
14· ·portable dental unit for 360Care for
15· ·Dr. Camille Tabor Cobb.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So what's the
17· ·name, and who is it under?· It's not this?
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It's not a
19· ·brick-and-mortar office.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Shouldn't we
21· ·be approving that?
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I don't
23· ·know.
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I don't think
25· ·the brick and mortar exists.· It's a
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·1· ·mobile --
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, I know
·3· ·that.· I'm just saying --
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Still,
·5· ·shouldn't we have approved the name to
·6· ·provide dental services or whatever?
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I don't
·8· ·know the answer to that question.· I would
·9· ·have to look at the regulation on corporate
10· ·trade names.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And the
12· ·reason I ask is because we're specifically
13· ·bound by regulating names of dental clinics
14· ·so they would not be misleading.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Correct.
16· ·So this is not a clinic.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I understand
18· ·that.· But we are approving the name of a
19· ·potential mobile dental clinic.
20· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Let's see.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· That's very
22· ·confusing.
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Does the
24· ·doctor have a Mississippi license?
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yes, sir.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Why wouldn't
·2· ·she put her mobile name whatever up there and
·3· ·show that she's a dentist and ask us to
·4· ·approve that?
·5· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· She's an
·6· ·employee of the company.· She's not -- it's
·7· ·not her company.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, if it's
·9· ·not her, then why isn't the company asking
10· ·for approval?· Somebody has got to be the
11· ·head guy of this thing.
12· · · · And, Robert, if you ask me to approve
13· ·Feltz Vision Center of Mississippi, I'm going
14· ·to say "no."· Now, if you give me the name of
15· ·the mobile clinic, which Nick -- where's Nick?
16· ·If he's already checked that out, I would go
17· ·for that.· But if we're approving the mobile
18· ·clinic by approving this "Vision" name, I don't
19· ·get that.
20· · · · Is it just -- am I retarded or what?
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· No, you're
22· ·not.· I agree with you.· I would ask the
23· ·question -- and I apologize because this is a
24· ·digression from the business at hand.· But
25· ·this whole portable dental thing is so
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·1· ·screwed up, particularly when it comes to
·2· ·recordkeeping.
·3· · · · I deal with these outfits all of the time,
·4· ·where they come into the schools and they take
·5· ·all of the kids in the school and take them to
·6· ·the gymnasium and they do a prophy exam,
·7· ·X-rays, so on and so forth, but there's no
·8· ·record.· The parent doesn't get a report card.
·9· ·They show up at my office because they've got a
10· ·cavity, and I don't have any X-rays.· I don't
11· ·have a progress note about what was done and
12· ·what was found or anything.· All of their
13· ·benefits have already been charged for, so now
14· ·they don't have any benefits to use.· It's
15· ·really screwed up.
16· · · · And I don't think this Board has dealt
17· ·with this.· And I realize this is a digression
18· ·that needs to go somewhere.
19· · · · But this is a good example.· Okay?· Are
20· ·they going to keep a record?· Is the record
21· ·part of the nursing home?· Does it stay in the
22· ·nursing home, or does it stay with this entity,
23· ·with this dental entity?· How do you get access
24· ·to the records?· How do you know what
25· ·procedures have been done?· How do you know
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·1· ·what findings there were?· I think the whole
·2· ·portable thing has got some serious issues that
·3· ·need to be dealt with.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· So,
·5· ·Dr. Curtis, that question came up with Aria
·6· ·Care last night, specifically about
·7· ·recordkeeping, chain of custody of records.
·8· ·And we were assured that they handled those
·9· ·electronically and securely so that if a
10· ·complaint came along, that we would be able
11· ·to properly investigate it.· That was Aria
12· ·Care.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Well, that
14· ·sounds good.· But I can tell you that the
15· ·mobile clinic that comes through our schools,
16· ·they don't keep records.· You cannot get a
17· ·copy of any X-rays even though they took them
18· ·or they said they took them and they charged
19· ·for them.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· That's not
21· ·right for sure.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· It's just not
23· ·right, you know.· And, here, the parent shows
24· ·up at my office for a checkup, and I can't do
25· ·a checkup unless they want to pay for it
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·1· ·because their benefits have already been
·2· ·used.· And I'll say, "Well, what did they
·3· ·find at the school?· Did you get a report
·4· ·card?· Did you get any kind of note?"
·5· · · · "No."
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· There's no
·7· ·record at all?
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· There's no
·9· ·record.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· We've
11· ·discussed this, too, when we were just
12· ·talking about the radiology issues.· Remember
13· ·when I was talking about that?
14· · · · If you have a live patient who gets a
15· ·radiology -- gets an entire series of
16· ·radiographs at one of these schools or training
17· ·places, it needs to follow the patient.· And we
18· ·need assurances that patients have access to
19· ·radiographs even taken in a school setting
20· ·that's not associated with a university.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· And the school
22· ·won't accept responsibility for it.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I understand
24· ·that.· So at some point, we have to consider
25· ·revoking a license or at least suspending it,
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·1· ·in my opinion, if a company is not held to
·2· ·the same standard that a brick-and-mortar
·3· ·dental office is held to.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· This Board
·5· ·will have to change their entire attitude
·6· ·about it because -- and y'all might recall,
·7· ·and probably the people sitting here, that --
·8· ·well, maybe not.· They may have already
·9· ·passed on.
10· · · · But when this first started happening, I
11· ·posted in the newspaper a public notice to be
12· ·careful of what you sign when your kids start
13· ·school.· Because if you give consent for a
14· ·dentist to see your child at school, you need
15· ·to be aware of that.· I got a consent order
16· ·against me for $1,500, and I had to come before
17· ·this Board and defend myself for putting out a
18· ·public service notice, and I was accused of
19· ·false advertising.
20· · · · Does anybody remember that?· Lewis, were
21· ·you around at that time?
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I don't think
23· ·I was here when you did that.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I had to hire
25· ·an attorney and come down here and defend
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·1· ·myself against false advertising because I
·2· ·just put out a public service notice that --
·3· ·you get a stack of papers before you start
·4· ·school, and they just go in there and sign
·5· ·everything.· And one of the things they sign
·6· ·is consent for their child to be seen by an
·7· ·outside dental service.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· This thing has
·9· ·been ongoing for years and years.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Forever.· And
11· ·nobody has ever dealt with it.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· How many
13· ·mobile dental units do we have?
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· There are
15· ·several across the state.
16· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So going
17· ·back to Dr. Grubbs's concern, I'm not there
18· ·to --
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I'm sorry.  I
20· ·didn't mean to --
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, that's
22· ·okay.· But in this particular case for this
23· ·application, you know, Regulation 55 says,
24· ·"Dentists licensed in the State of
25· ·Mississippi who practice as individuals,
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·1· ·partnerships, professional corporations,
·2· ·associations, or other group practices may
·3· ·use a corporate or trade name for the
·4· ·facility in which they conduct their practice
·5· ·if the following conditions are met..."
·6· · · · I assume that applies only to a
·7· ·brick-and-mortar facility.· So I don't know
·8· ·that for them to operate a portable unit in the
·9· ·State of Mississippi the corporate trade name
10· ·has to be approved by the Board.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Thank you.
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So it's two
13· ·separate issues.· But I think Dr. Curtis is
14· ·right.· We need to look at the regulation and
15· ·see how those need to be modernized or
16· ·updated.
17· · · · But, in this case, the legal entity's name
18· ·is Feltz Vision, but they do business as
19· ·360Care.· And they have applied simply for a --
20· ·not simply.· They have applied for a mobile
21· ·unit permit that Dr. Camille -- what's her
22· ·name --
23· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Cobb.
24· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· -- Cobb
25· ·will be the operator.· She is the Mississippi
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·1· ·licensee who will be the operator and go to
·2· ·the nursing home facilities in which they
·3· ·plan to operate.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So we don't do
·5· ·anything?
·6· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· The visit for
·7· ·the radiograph NOMAD is under 360Care.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, what I
·9· ·did is, I found out when they were coming to
10· ·my area and I went to the school and I
11· ·checked out all of their licensure stuff and
12· ·their radiographic stuff and that they were
13· ·doing everything up-board.
14· · · · So it may be incumbent on each one of our
15· ·examiners to go to a school and check and see
16· ·if they're following the law because,
17· ·evidently, there's a lot of miscommunication
18· ·and things that aren't being done right.
19· · · · But when I did go and visit the one -- I
20· ·forget where they were from -- down in the
21· ·Delta.· But I visited them in Como, and they
22· ·were doing everything exactly right, you know.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· What have
24· ·you found with --
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· That's been
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·1· ·several years.
·2· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· And I agree with
·3· ·you.· In this particular instance, I will say
·4· ·that we inspected or did our inspection on
·5· ·the portable equipment.· That's what they're
·6· ·setting up with, and they did have
·7· ·state-of-the-art equipment, up-to-date,
·8· ·brand-new stuff.
·9· · · · What I told them was -- or expressed to
10· ·them was after they got set up in their
11· ·facilities, whichever it was, to let us know to
12· ·actually see them evaluate what you're talking
13· ·about.· I know it puts an extra burden on us to
14· ·do that, but you're exactly right.
15· · · · I feel confident in this company in the
16· ·way they presented themselves to me when I met
17· ·with them, better than some that I have.· But
18· ·it's going to depend on that attending dentist
19· ·at the time that they're in the facilities.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· What
21· ·recordkeeping?· How did they make their
22· ·clinic notes?
23· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· The
24· ·recordkeeping?
25· · · · This company expressed to me that they
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·1· ·keep separate patient recordkeeping and that
·2· ·that is integrated into the nursing home's
·3· ·record.
·4· · · · Now, how that merges?· I don't know.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· What about
·6· ·the schools?
·7· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Now, the
·8· ·schools -- this company is not dealing with
·9· ·the schools.· We do have several companies in
10· ·the state that do that, and that is a problem
11· ·because I have had complaints of the schools
12· ·listing a referring dentist.· And, then, when
13· ·that patient gets to that dentist's office,
14· ·if they have a problem or something, their
15· ·Medicaid or insurance is already spent, so
16· ·then you have a problem.· But, yeah, that is
17· ·something that should be addressed.
18· · · · I feel confident that this company is
19· ·thorough, that they will do -- they're going to
20· ·do a good job of what they're seeking to do.
21· ·Like I said, I don't know anything about the
22· ·representing dentist that they're listing.
23· ·I'll have to visit the operation.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· But they did
25· ·assure you that they would be charting a
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·1· ·chart, making a record --
·2· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Right, right.
·3· ·Yes.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· -- and that it
·5· ·would become part of the nursing home's
·6· ·record?
·7· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Right.· And when
·8· ·I go do these portable and mobile -- of
·9· ·course, it's a different animal, --
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Yes.
11· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· -- but we've got
12· ·it all in the same application.· And I have
13· ·asked, "How are you going to do this?· What's
14· ·your recordkeeping?", those type things.· But
15· ·I feel confident with this company.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I'm okay with
17· ·that, then.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· What kind of
19· ·procedures do they perform?· Anything?
20· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Sir?
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· What
22· ·procedures exactly do they do in the nursing
23· ·homes?
24· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Basically, what
25· ·I understand they're going to do is an
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·1· ·evaluation and hygiene cleaning, those type
·2· ·things.
·3· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· It says here
·4· ·that it does exams, cleanings, diagnostic
·5· ·X-rays, fillings, simple extractions, and
·6· ·dentures, along with audiology, psychology,
·7· ·vision, on and on and on, counseling.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, we do
·9· ·just need to follow up and do a check.· We
10· ·need to see them in operation, I guess.
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yes, sir?
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So are you
13· ·saying by what you read a little while ago
14· ·that we can actually vote on this?
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· That's the
16· ·way I understand it, but I'm not --
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I agree with what Denny
18· ·has stated.· I think the purpose of the
19· ·corporate trade name is to avoid misleading
20· ·patients that may come into a physical
21· ·location.· Our regulation states, as I think
22· ·Denny recited, that the name of the facility
23· ·can very well play into the decision-making
24· ·process of who you choose to see.· And, here,
25· ·we're talking about a portable operation
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·1· ·where there will be no, as I understand it,
·2· ·brick-and-mortar facility apart from that
·3· ·facility which they're setting up shop in.
·4· ·So I would say that corporate trade name need
·5· ·not apply.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So you're
·7· ·saying this is not misleading at all?
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm saying -- well,
·9· ·misleading to whom?
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Me.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And that's the Board's
12· ·purview how?
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· It looks like
14· ·to me that we're approving a vision clinic.
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· However, the thing to
16· ·remember is, what we're approving is a
17· ·portable operation.· We're not approving --
18· ·it's my understanding that we're not
19· ·approving a clinic anywhere.· We're approving
20· ·an operation that is -- and I'm ignorant,
21· ·okay, as to how the semantics or the details
22· ·of how the contract relationship occurs, how
23· ·it's set up, how initiated.
24· · · · But my assumption, and correct me if I'm
25· ·wrong those with greater experience, a nursing
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·1· ·home seeks to provide care, looks for a vendor
·2· ·that can provide certain services, "Hey, you,
·3· ·vendor, wait a minute.· You're called '360
·4· ·Vision Care.'· But wait.· You do provide the
·5· ·services that we're looking for these patients?
·6· ·Yes, you do.· Okay.· Well, great.· Well, come
·7· ·on in."
·8· · · · So the misleading aspect that we're
·9· ·talking about may only be misleading to those
10· ·vendors who want to bring them in and perform
11· ·those services.
12· · · · And so, I think that's a different concern
13· ·than what corporate trade names seek to
14· ·protect, which is that individual patient going
15· ·to find some clinic in their area for them to
16· ·personally go and attend and receive care from.
17· · · · Does that make sense?
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Sure.
19· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I think the
20· ·distinction is -- and, sadly, I had two in a
21· ·nursing home in the past and I have one in a
22· ·nursing home now.· But as y'all know, I think
23· ·the only way it would be misleading would be
24· ·if -- see, the patient -- my mother-in-law
25· ·would never know the name of the company.
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·1· ·They're going to come in with this mobile
·2· ·dental unit, and she will know that there
·3· ·will be dental things going on.
·4· · · · The corporate owner of the nursing home,
·5· ·when they're approached by this company, the
·6· ·company is going to say, "I can do A, B, C, and
·7· ·D."· And they're not misled because they're --
·8· ·part of their program is -- and I've read off
·9· ·all of the things that they do.· So from that
10· ·standpoint, the name is not the issue.· But
11· ·when you're looking at the patient, what we're
12· ·concerned about is that the patient is misled
13· ·by the name.
14· · · · In this instance, since it's a mobile
15· ·unit, I mean, the patient knows that this
16· ·dental mobile unit just pulled in and they're
17· ·told, "You're going to get your teeth checked."
18· · · · And so, to the extent that they're -- you
19· ·know, they're not misled because they know
20· ·what's being done.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, let me
22· ·interject this:· "Well, the vision clinic
23· ·just pulled up to the door, and we're going
24· ·to take you out and get your teeth fixed."
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Absolutely.
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·1· ·But that's not how they're going to approach
·2· ·it.· That would be accurate, but --
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· The great
·4· ·thing about living in America is, I'm still
·5· ·voting "no."· So let's just get on with it.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
·7· ·That's interesting.· Thank you for the
·8· ·comments.
·9· · · · All right.· Is there a motion, then, to
10· ·approve the portable dental permit that has
11· ·passed all of the paperwork and inspection?· Do
12· ·I hear a motion to approve?
13· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· So moved.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you,
15· ·Dr. Lampkin.
16· · · · Is there a second?
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· Yeah, I'll
18· ·second it.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second by
20· ·Dr. Carlton.
21· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
22· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
24· ·"no."
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yes.
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· One "no."
·2· ·Okay.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I do have
·4· ·a question just relative to procedural things
·5· ·in the past.
·6· · · · Aria did apply for a trade name.· Do they
·7· ·have a brick-and-mortar store, Westley, a
·8· ·brick-and-mortar facility?
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I don't know the answer
10· ·to that.
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I believe
12· ·they have a Flowood -- or, I mean, a
13· ·Ridgeland address, so --
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Do they
15· ·provide services at that location?
16· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I don't
17· ·think so.· I need to look into that.· I had
18· ·started down that path, looking into that,
19· ·and there is a local address that comes up
20· ·for them.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I just
22· ·wonder if we're holding people to the same
23· ·standard across the board because I know --
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And it's a good question.
25· ·There may be a distinction also between that
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·1· ·mobile practice and a portable practice.
·2· ·"Portable" to me is safer because they're
·3· ·always going to have a facility to which
·4· ·they're coming into.
·5· · · · With "mobile," I wonder if they also would
·6· ·be subject to the corporate trade name.  I
·7· ·don't know what their patient base is.· I don't
·8· ·know enough about the operation.· But if, in
·9· ·fact, they are -- if a mobile operation is
10· ·seeking patients or seeing patients much in a
11· ·traditional way, then I would say corporate
12· ·trade name probably would apply to them as
13· ·well.· But I'm too ignorant on this topic to
14· ·give you anything definitive.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· And,
16· ·Dr. Williams, I need to correct myself.· That
17· ·was a different company.· Aria does not have
18· ·an address.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
20· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· That was a
21· ·different one that I looked at.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So you
23· ·mentioned "portable" and "mobile" in the same
24· ·sentence, --
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's right.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- and you
·2· ·said portable is better than mobile?
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No, sir.· Port- -- well,
·4· ·let's be careful.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· You just
·6· ·mentioned that portable had a facil- -- had a
·7· ·permanent place to go to.· They just --
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I think there's -- right.
·9· ·I think there's less chance -- or with the
10· ·concern regarding misleading, I feel more
11· ·confident saying that that concern doesn't
12· ·exist with a portable operation as it does to
13· ·a mobile operation.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So in this
15· ·particular case with this 360 Vision Care,
16· ·the implication to me -- what I heard was,
17· ·they're going to go into a facility, like a
18· ·nursing home, that is an established place;
19· ·they're going to bring some equipment in
20· ·there; provide dental care in the nursing
21· ·home; and then go home.· But the application
22· ·is for a mobile dental clinic, not a
23· ·portable.
24· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yes, sir.
25· ·So I can answer that.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.· And
·2· ·"mobile" indicates we're on wheels and we
·3· ·drive around and people get in our van or bus
·4· ·or whatever, have dental treatment done, and
·5· ·then we get off the bus and we drive away; is
·6· ·that correct?
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Correct.
·8· · · · So in this particular case, this
·9· ·application for a portable made us aware that
10· ·there is no portable mobile -- portable unit
11· ·application that exists, and so there was not
12· ·time to create one electronically before this
13· ·request.· And so, that is on our to-do list in
14· ·our new database system.· I will probably not
15· ·spend the money to do it in the current system
16· ·because this is the only one that we've had in
17· ·a year for a portable.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
19· ·Because I just --
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You are correct.
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· We did
22· ·notice that, so...
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Thank you.
24· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It will
25· ·probably look the same.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:  I
·2· ·understand.· But when this was brought up, I
·3· ·know that it was as a mobile.
·4· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yeah, that
·5· ·was a good -- that's the right catch.· But
·6· ·that's the ans- -- the reason why.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· An extension
·8· ·will be made later?
·9· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It will be,
10· ·yes, sir.· At some point in the history, the
11· ·Board made a distinction between those two,
12· ·because they used to be combined, and the
13· ·application wasn't --
14· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· I'm sorry.· This
15· ·is a paper application, and this is what I
16· ·do -- carry with me to do my inspection.
17· ·And, as you can see, it says "mobile" and
18· ·"portable," so they're combined.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· On our
20· ·digital one, though, it only has "mobile."
21· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· That was done
22· ·online.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I'm fine
24· ·with that.· Thank you.· I wasn't trying to
25· ·muddy the water.· I just --
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No.· You
·2· ·asked the right question.· But that's just
·3· ·the real answer.· There's just not one that
·4· ·exists, so...
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, since
·6· ·we're digressing, the dentist that got this
·7· ·license, -- I remember something about the
·8· ·discussion -- where is her office in
·9· ·Mississippi?· Where did we say she worked?
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· She's in
11· ·Tennessee.· Her office is in Tennessee.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So that was
13· ·a UROLA thing?
14· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So the
15· ·Board denied her licensure through UROLA
16· ·because she didn't -- couldn't provide proof
17· ·of employment in Mississippi because this
18· ·company had not yet been approved.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· That's what
20· ·I thought.
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Okay.· So
22· ·she went back through the credentialing
23· ·process.· She met the requirements to be
24· ·licensed under the credentialing, so she has
25· ·a Mississippi license; and so, now, they've
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·1· ·applied for the permit.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So, Nick, on
·4· ·this form right here that you showed me that
·5· ·you-all inspected, it says, "Minimum
·6· ·requirements."· And to Dr. Curtis's concern,
·7· ·it doesn't say on here anything about
·8· ·records.
·9· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· No.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And so, when
11· ·we're making a new form, a new checklist, at
12· ·the very minimum, it needs to -- I believe
13· ·needs to categorize the importance for
14· ·patient charts, recordkeeping, and the
15· ·ability for records to follow patients to
16· ·other offices.
17· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Right.· And all
18· ·of that should be presented in the initial
19· ·application.· My suggestion would be to
20· ·separate them and get a separate portable
21· ·dental application and a separate mobile
22· ·dental application and separate the two
23· ·because there's aspects of one that doesn't
24· ·apply to the other, and I have to eliminate
25· ·that on my inspection.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I'm fine
·2· ·with that, but both need to have -- I think
·3· ·we need to specifically have on this form,
·4· ·"What's your recordkeeping protocol?· Are you
·5· ·going to have paper charts to follow the
·6· ·patients, or are you going to have an
·7· ·electronic record?"
·8· · · · Like this company says that they do
·9· ·electronic recordkeeping in the Cloud,
10· ·basically, is what this made me think, is that
11· ·it would be available anytime.
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· It says they
13· ·have a patient portal, so that would be --
14· ·you're exactly right.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Right.· So
16· ·they at least have something that could be
17· ·accessed if the patient has to go to a
18· ·different dental office, and their records
19· ·could be transferred quite easily.
20· · · · I think going forward we need to identify
21· ·that just so we can help alleviate what
22· ·Dr. Curtis was saying has occurred at other
23· ·places.
24· · · · And I've seen that same thing occur at my
25· ·office, when patients showed up and said,
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·1· ·"We've got the radiographs," that said they
·2· ·have two cavities.· I don't know which teeth.
·3· ·I don't know anything about it.· But, oh, yeah,
·4· ·they cleaned their teeth and they did their
·5· ·sealants.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Robert, when
·7· ·was the last time we updated all of this
·8· ·stuff relative to the Board Order?
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· It's been
10· ·several years, I know.· We need to get a -- I
11· ·think we need to address that.
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I think
13· ·they were split in 2019 or something like
14· ·that.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I think we
16· ·need to send it to somebody and make sure,
17· ·and let's just look at them again and update
18· ·them.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And,
20· ·certainly, when we get the new software that
21· ·you're discussing, --
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· We're going
23· ·to update everything.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· -- there will
25· ·be new forms.· But I think recordkeeping
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·1· ·ought to be added to this checklist at that
·2· ·point.
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Absolutely.
·4· ·Yes, sir.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I think
·6· ·there ought to be a place for the dentist to
·7· ·acknowledge on their form that they submit
·8· ·that, "Yes, we plan to provide the same thing
·9· ·that every other brick-and-mortar dental
10· ·office in the state of Mississippi is
11· ·required to provide."
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yes, sir.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And that
14· ·they're HIPAA compliant and OSHA compliant
15· ·and everything, yeah.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yes.· Okay.
17· ·Thank you.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So can we give
19· ·that to a committee or somewhere to update
20· ·that?· Where would it go?
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Rules and
22· ·Regs.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Rules and
24· ·Regs, probably.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· It's a
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·1· ·licensure.· So when I think of license, I
·2· ·think of dental and dental hygiene.· So I
·3· ·think Rules and Regs would be fine.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· You said
·5· ·Regulation 61 deals with portable and mobile
·6· ·clinics?
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yeah.· 61
·8· ·is mobile, and 62 is portable.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So we have
10· ·regulations for that.· We just need to maybe
11· ·look at making those more specific or
12· ·stronger.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· So I'm kind
15· ·of new to this.· So you're looking at the
16· ·wording exactly in those regulations that
17· ·maybe need to be addressed?
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· More
19· ·specific.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· More
21· ·specific.· Okay.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So
23· ·we're going to make a motion for somebody to
24· ·refer that to the Rules and Regs Committee,
25· ·and they'll get us a report back.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Motion.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·3· ·We have a motion from Dr. Grubbs.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second
·6· ·from Haley.· Thank you.
·7· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
·8· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
10· ·We'll get to work on that.
11· · · · Okay.· We're finished with No. 10.
12· · · · So, Westley, do we want to --
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm ready when you are,
14· ·sir.
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· We
16· ·can stop on our agenda and go back to the
17· ·disciplinary hearings if you want to.· We
18· ·will need to consider going into executive
19· ·session.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I need a
21· ·motion to consider the need to go into
22· ·executive session.
23· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· So moved.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· We have
25· ·motion.· Second?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Second.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in
·3· ·favor, say "aye."
·4· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· And the
·6· ·motion is the need to determine to go into
·7· ·executive session to see if there's a need to
·8· ·conduct a hearing.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So moved.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Second?
11· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second by
13· ·Dr. Lampkin.
14· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
15· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
16· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· All right.
17· ·The Board is going into executive session to
18· ·discuss the need to go -- into executive
19· ·session to have a hearing on pending matters
20· ·before the Board.· Everyone clear out.
21· · · · · ·(ENTER EXECUTIVE SESSION)
22· · · · · · · · · · *******
23· · · · · · (EXIT EXECUTIVE SESSION)
24· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· If the
25· ·parties are ready to proceed, we can do so at

Page 61
·1· ·this time.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The State is ready.
·3· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.  I
·4· ·will begin.· I am Kristen Love, and I will
·5· ·serve as the Hearing Officer in this matter
·6· ·today.
·7· · · · My role during the course of this
·8· ·proceeding will be to rule on objections to
·9· ·questions or evidence raised by the parties; to
10· ·see to the orderly process of the proceedings;
11· ·and to ensure that these proceedings are
12· ·conducted in accordance with the applicable
13· ·laws and rules.
14· · · · We are before the Mississippi State Board
15· ·of Dental Examiners regarding Docket
16· ·No. 2023-071, in the matter of Mississippi
17· ·Dental License No. 1523-72, Dr. George Andrew
18· ·May, Jr.
19· · · · At this time, I'll ask the members of the
20· ·Board to introduce themselves for the record.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Lewis Grubbs.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Haley
23· ·Birmingham.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· David Curtis.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Mark
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·1· ·Williams.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Alexa
·3· ·Lampkin.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· John Carlton.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· Wade Bishop.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Robert
·7· ·Smith.
·8· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And will the
·9· ·attorney for the Board state your name for
10· ·the record?
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yes, Westley Mutziger.
12· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Is the
13· ·licensee, Dr. May, present?
14· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes.
15· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And, Dr. May,
16· ·are you represented by counsel?
17· · · · DR. MAY:· No, ma'am.
18· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Because
19· ·you're not represented by counsel, I have a
20· ·few questions for you.
21· · · · DR. MAY:· Okay.
22· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Do you
23· ·understand that you have a right to an
24· ·attorney to represent you today?
25· · · · DR. MAY:· I do.
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·1· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And you
·2· ·understand you have the right to have
·3· ·witnesses testify on your behalf?
·4· · · · DR. MAY:· I do.
·5· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And to have
·6· ·this Board issue subpoenas on your behalf?
·7· · · · DR. MAY:· I do.
·8· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And
·9· ·understanding all of this and the nature of
10· ·the charges pending against you, would you
11· ·like to proceed with this hearing without an
12· ·attorney?
13· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes, I would.
14· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Are there any
15· ·preliminary matters?
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Other than the -- well,
17· ·at this time, the State would actually go
18· ·ahead and move to admit exhibits if there's
19· ·no objection from the respondent?
20· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Is there an
21· ·objection, Dr. May, for the admittance of the
22· ·State's exhibits into the record today?
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And to be clear, before
24· ·you answer, that would be Exhibits B-1
25· ·through B-6.
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·1· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes.
·2· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· What's your
·3· ·objection?
·4· · · · DR. MAY:· Oh, no, I have no objection.
·5· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· No objection?
·6· · · · DR. MAY:· No.
·7· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·8· ·The State's Exhibits B-1 through B-6 are
·9· ·admitted into today's record.
10· · · · ·(EXHIBIT NOS. B-1 THROUGH B-6
11· · · MARKED AND ADMITTED INTO THE RECORD)
12· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Dr. May, do
13· ·you have some exhibits that you would like to
14· ·have admitted?
15· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes, I do.
16· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Can you just
17· ·identify those for us on the record?
18· · · · DR. MAY:· It's a recording of the -- it
19· ·takes a little explanation.· I went to -- I
20· ·transferred my private practice into
21· ·corporate practice in 2018 to American Family
22· ·Dentistry, Ed Hochhauser's organization, and
23· ·all of the records were under a different --
24· ·a completely different computer system called
25· ·Imprompts (phonetic).· And in the beginning
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·1· ·of last year, Heartland bought out
·2· ·Dr. Hochhauser, so we each had to change all
·3· ·of our -- everything that I had learned for
·4· ·the first three years about computers to
·5· ·Dentrix, and I'm slowly gathering that.
·6· · · · I did have records of previous credits
·7· ·from 2021 and '22.· They were buried, but my
·8· ·office manager and my assistant got to work and
·9· ·were able to find where I did all of these
10· ·credits.· And it came to -- they add up to 24
11· ·hours from 2021.
12· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Is there an
13· ·objection?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No objection at this
15· ·time.
16· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· We'll admit
17· ·those as Exhibit R-1.
18· · · · How many pages do you have?
19· · · · DR. MAY:· Ma'am?
20· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· How many
21· ·pages do you have --
22· · · · DR. MAY:· Pages?
23· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· -- in your
24· ·exhibit?
25· · · · DR. MAY:· It's -- I gave this to --
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·1· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· It's just
·2· ·one?· All right.· We'll admit that as the
·3· ·respondent's exhibit, R-1.· So it's admitted
·4· ·into the record.
·5· · · · DR. MAY:· Thank you.
·6· · · · · · (EXHIBIT NO. R-1 MARKED
·7· · · · ·AND ADMITTED INTO THE RECORD)
·8· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· At this time,
·9· ·I'll ask if there are any individuals in
10· ·attendance that will give testimony to
11· ·identify yourselves so that this court
12· ·reporter can swear you in.
13· · · · Dr. May, will you give testimony on your
14· ·behalf today?
15· · · · DR. MAY:· Is this where I tell my story?
16· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Not right
17· ·now.· But if you're going to give testimony
18· ·today --
19· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes.
20· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
21· ·So, now, the court reporter will swear you
22· ·in.
23· · · ·(Dr. George May, Jr., Duly Sworn)
24· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· The Board,
25· ·will you have any witnesses testifying?
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The Board will not.
·2· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·3· ·If the parties are ready to proceed, we can
·4· ·at this time with opening statements.
·5· · · · Would you like to give an opening
·6· ·statement?
·7· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Just very briefly.
·8· · · · · · · ·OPENING STATEMENTS
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Board, as you know, your
10· ·role is to protect the public.· You protect
11· ·the public in various ways.· You do so by
12· ·conducting disciplinary hearings and
13· ·enforcing sanctions when appropriate, when
14· ·there have been violations of the Mississippi
15· ·Dental Practice Act.
16· · · · The Dental Practice Act ensures that each
17· ·dentist practices in accordance with certain
18· ·standards so that quality and competent care is
19· ·delivered to the patients.
20· · · · Today, we are here on a matter of
21· ·noncompliance with continuing education
22· ·requirements.· I ask the Board not to fall into
23· ·the trap of viewing this as just a benign
24· ·violation.· Continuing education is something
25· ·that this Board has seen fit to require of its
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·1· ·licensees to ensure that there is continued
·2· ·competency in care delivered to its patients.
·3· · · · I believe today we have a rather
·4· ·straightforward case of a second violation by
·5· ·the respondent of meeting the requirements of
·6· ·Board Regulation 41 that requires him to
·7· ·complete 40 hours of continuing dental
·8· ·education every two years.
·9· · · · Today, I believe the evidence will clearly
10· ·show that second violation, and it will be up
11· ·to this Board to determine an appropriate
12· ·sanction for that violation.
13· · · · I just ask that you consider all of the
14· ·evidence duly admitted into the record today
15· ·and make a decision that is in line with the
16· ·best interest of the public.
17· · · · Thank you.
18· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
19· · · · Dr. May, at this time, you may give a
20· ·brief opening statement.· It's just a brief
21· ·overview of the evidence that you plan to
22· ·submit today.· You can give that now.
23· · · · DR. MAY:· Thank you.
24· · · · I'm accused of not being able to say
25· ·anything briefly.
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·1· · · · It's basically -- it's circum- -- it's
·2· ·completely circumstantial that I did not submit
·3· ·the credits that I did receive.· As I've spoken
·4· ·with Westley and Denny over the phone the last
·5· ·few months, the situation is that my wife has
·6· ·had cancer for the last nine years, nearly died
·7· ·twice.· My entire focus on life has been to
·8· ·care for her and to keep working.· We've been
·9· ·through a lot of life changes, and it's made my
10· ·vision pretty well tunnel vision to take care
11· ·of her and work, to treat patients.
12· · · · I've gone through a lot of changes myself
13· ·with transferring out of a private practice for
14· ·46 years and going corporate.· That was a major
15· ·life change at 72 years old.· That part of it
16· ·has been a struggle.· But I'm still enjoying,
17· ·you know, working with people, and I continue
18· ·to do that.
19· · · · So as long as care is needed for my wife,
20· ·I -- the absolute blessing is, -- what a
21· ·miracle that I've seen in the last nine years.
22· ·Miracles do exist -- the insurance which we had
23· ·going into this, there was none, and corporate
24· ·insurance pays for her treatment for a
25· ·preexisting condition.· So I'll continue to
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·1· ·work as long as she needs that care.
·2· · · · A lot of things went by the wayside.
·3· ·Family, friends, other associations went by the
·4· ·wayside, and I did not keep proper records of
·5· ·my continuing education.· A lot of it was lost
·6· ·in a computer that I didn't understand.· And
·7· ·there were a lot of credits that I did have,
·8· ·but I never did -- they were never submitted
·9· ·for certification and submitted to the Board;
10· ·and, for that, I have submitted to Westley all
11· ·of those that I have completed.· And at this
12· ·time, for '23, I've completed 35 hours of
13· ·continuing education.
14· · · · It's been difficult for me to get away
15· ·because of a lot of travel.· My wife is
16· ·receiving treatment in Little Rock, Arkansas,
17· ·which has been another miracle, and it has
18· ·required a lot of travel.· So it's just been --
19· ·she's doing great right now, and that's allowed
20· ·me to start paying attention to, you know, what
21· ·I need to to stay in compliance.
22· · · · So that's what I desire to do.
23· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
24· · · · So at this time, we'll move with the Board
25· ·Counsel's case; and once they rest, you will
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·1· · · · have an opportunity again to speak to the
·2· · · · Board.
·3· · · · · · ·DR. MAY:· I am hard of hearing.
·4· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·5· · · · Thank you.
·6· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you.
·7· · · · · · ·So I will start with calling Dr. May as an
·8· · · · adverse witness.
·9· · · · · · · · · ·DR. GEORGE MAY, JR.,
10· · · · · · having previously been duly sworn,
11· · · · · · · · · testified as follows:
12· · · · · · · · · · · ·EXAMINATION
13· ·BY MR. MUTZIGER:
14· · · · Q.· ·Dr. May, you're aware of the Board's
15· ·requirements for continuing dental education?
16· · · · A.· ·Yes, I've been made aware of that.
17· · · · Q.· ·What are those requirements?
18· · · · A.· ·Forty hours every two years.
19· · · · Q.· ·How long have you been a practicing
20· ·dentist?
21· · · · A.· ·Fifty-one years.· This is my 52nd.
22· · · · Q.· ·How many continuing education audits or
23· ·time periods, rather, have you gone through?· How
24· ·many license renewals have you gone through?
25· · · · A.· ·License renewals?· What's that?· Once
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·1· ·every two years?
·2· · · · Q.· ·Yes, sir.
·3· · · · A.· ·So that's 26.
·4· · · · Q.· ·Twenty-six.
·5· · · · · · ·So, ultimately, 26 renewals where you are
·6· ·required to complete continuing education.
·7· · · · · · ·Dr. May, you've already stated, for the
·8· ·Board's benefit, that you failed to meet the
·9· ·requirement.
10· · · · · · ·It's fair to say it's not because you
11· ·didn't know what the requirement was; is that
12· ·accurate?
13· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
14· · · · Q.· ·In fact, you're here today claiming that
15· ·it's circumstantial; is that right?
16· · · · A.· ·Correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·And so, just to be clear for the record,
18· ·is it fair to say that you were notified
19· ·approximately May 1st, 2023, that you were selected
20· ·to be a part of the Board's continuing education
21· ·audit?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · · Q.· ·And would it also be fair to say that you
24· ·were given a timeline of approximately two months --
25· ·June 30th being the deadline -- to submit all
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·1· ·evidence of records of continuing education?
·2· · · · A.· ·I believe that's correct.
·3· · · · Q.· ·And as you've already testified, you had
·4· ·knowledge of those requirements.· Would you agree
·5· ·that it's accurate, when I read from your Complaint
·6· ·in Exhibit B-3b -- or which has been marked
·7· ·Exhibit B-3b, that according to Board Regulation 41,
·8· ·"A record of courses taken, the date, location,
·9· ·number of hours for each course, and certificates of
10· ·attendance/successful course completion shall be
11· ·kept by the dentist for a minimum of three years
12· ·from the date of attendance and shall be made
13· ·available for review at any time by a member of the
14· ·Board or designated agent of the Board."
15· · · · · · ·Would you agree that's a correct
16· ·recitation of Board Regulation 41?
17· · · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · · Q.· ·So, in fact, you have an affirmative
19· ·requirement as a license holder, as a licensed
20· ·dentist in this state, not only to complete 40 hours
21· ·every two years, but also to keep records; is that
22· ·right?
23· · · · A.· ·Correct.
24· · · · Q.· ·And not just any record, not just a list,
25· ·but actually records that would include certificates
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·1· ·of completion, right?
·2· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·3· · · · Q.· ·So being aware of those, when selected
·4· ·May 1st for the audit, what was your response to the
·5· ·Board?
·6· · · · · · ·And let's just be more direct:· Did you
·7· ·submit any continuing education records by June 30th
·8· ·of 2023?
·9· · · · A.· ·I believe I did.
10· · · · Q.· ·By --
11· · · · A.· ·By June of '23?
12· · · · Q.· ·Within the time period required, within
13· ·the audit period, May 1, you were notified of
14· ·selection?
15· · · · A.· ·Right.
16· · · · Q.· ·May 1, 2023 to June 30th, 2023, two months
17· ·later, did you submit any records of continuing
18· ·education within that time period?
19· · · · A.· ·From '21 and '22?
20· · · · Q.· ·Correct.
21· · · · A.· ·Those weren't -- those were the ones that
22· ·weren't retrievable, I believe.
23· · · · Q.· ·I would submit to you, sir, that you did
24· ·not submit any records.
25· · · · A.· ·Okay.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And I would draw your attention to
·2· ·Exhibit B-6, which you have before you.
·3· · · · · · ·B-6, if you would take a look at it,
·4· ·that's going to be the final page of the exhibits
·5· ·which you've been provided.
·6· · · · · · ·Let me know once you're there, please,
·7· ·sir.
·8· · · · A.· ·Uh-huh (affirmative response).
·9· · · · Q.· ·In looking at B-6, the summary of
10· ·continuing education audit results regarding your
11· ·compliance specifically, would you please read for
12· ·the record what is listed by your name and license
13· ·number?
14· · · · A.· ·I'm not sure I'm on the right page.
15· ·Exhibit C?
16· · · · Q.· ·Exhibit B-6.· It should be the final page
17· ·in your records.
18· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· I'm sorry,
19· · · · Westley.· The Board wants copies of the
20· · · · exhibits.
21· · · · · · ·EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So if you
22· · · · go under the folder that says "Board" in your
23· · · · computer, you'll see that folder that says
24· · · · "Hearings."
25· · · · · · ·I just added yours to yours, Dr. Lampkin.
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·1· · · · · · ·BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
·2· · · · · · · · (Overlapping Conversation)
·3· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· May we go off the record?
·4· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Let's take a
·5· · · · brief recess to allow everyone to identify
·6· · · · the exhibits.· So we'll go back on the record
·7· · · · at 10:00.· It's 9:54.
·8· · · · · · · · · · ·(OFF THE RECORD)
·9· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
10· · · · We are back on the record a little bit
11· · · · earlier than the originally timed recess.
12· · · · · · ·Board Counsel, you can proceed with your
13· · · · examination.
14· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you.
15· ·BY MR. MUTZIGER:
16· · · · Q.· ·So, Dr. May, you have located what's in
17· ·the exhibits what's been labeled Exhibit B-6; is
18· ·that correct?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · · Q.· ·Would you please read for the record the
21· ·text that you find next to your name and license
22· ·number?
23· · · · A.· ·"George Andrew May, Jr., 1523-72, Second
24· ·Offense" --
25· · · · · · ·BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Dr. May,
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·1· · · · she's trying to take down everything that's
·2· · · · said.· And she's good, but you need to speak
·3· · · · a little bit louder and talk not quite as
·4· · · · fast because no one is that good.
·5· · · · · · ·DR. MAY:· All right.· "George Andrew
·6· · · · May, Jr., 1523-72, Second Offense
·7· · · · (Matter 2002-013).· Dr. May did contact the
·8· · · · Executive Director on 7/6/23.· Though he
·9· · · · continues to practice full time, due to
10· · · · serious health concerns with both he and his
11· · · · wife, he has no continuing dental education
12· · · · hours to submit for the audit."
13· ·BY MR. MUTZIGER:
14· · · · Q.· ·Would you agree that that is accurate?
15· · · · A.· ·It would be at that time, I believe.
16· · · · Q.· ·At that time?
17· · · · · · ·And so, you were, in fact, directed by the
18· ·Notice to provide records by June 30th.· And as you
19· ·just read, by virtue of your agreement, you
20· ·contacted the Board on July 6th, 2023, and you, in
21· ·fact, had no records to submit at that time; is that
22· ·correct?
23· · · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · · Q.· ·Since that time, you have submitted
25· ·records to the Board; is that right?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Why is it that you are submitting records
·3· ·to the Board now as opposed to when it was requested
·4· ·of you during the audit?
·5· · · · A.· ·Because that's when it got my attention
·6· ·and I got busy with it.
·7· · · · Q.· ·You mean to say that if your attention
·8· ·was -- the Board didn't have your attention when
·9· ·they requested it the first time?
10· · · · A.· ·No.· The serious health matters and --
11· ·yeah, the serious health matters were my total focus
12· ·and attention.
13· · · · Q.· ·And so, has there been a change in the
14· ·circumstances to which you are alluding to, those
15· ·serious health matters, since July of 2023 to
16· ·provide you time to provide records now?
17· · · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · · Q.· ·Is that what you're saying?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · · Q.· ·But you do understand that the records
21· ·that you have provided to the Board, which I would
22· ·draw their attention to Exhibit B-5 and I would also
23· ·ask you to look at Exhibit B-5, you understand,
24· ·Dr. May, that those records were submitted untimely,
25· ·correct?
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·1· · · · A.· ·Yes.
·2· · · · Q.· ·And not just untimely, five to six months
·3· ·untimely.
·4· · · · · · ·So what is it that -- well, before I get
·5· ·to that, Dr. May, how many hours were you able to
·6· ·locate?
·7· · · · A.· ·For the periods of '21 and '22?
·8· · · · Q.· ·Yes, sir, for the audit period.
·9· · · · A.· ·Twenty-four --
10· · · · Q.· ·Twenty-four?
11· · · · A.· ·-- for '21, and I believe it's 7.5 for
12· ·'22.
13· · · · Q.· ·Twenty-four for 2021; is that right?
14· · · · A.· ·That's what -- yes, sir.
15· · · · Q.· ·And then, how many for 2022?
16· · · · A.· ·What did I say?· I believe it was 7.5 for
17· ·'22.
18· · · · Q.· ·And those hours to which you are
19· ·referring, are those the records that are found
20· ·currently in Exhibit B-5?
21· · · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · · Q.· ·So is it your testimony today that you've
23· ·completed 31.5 hours for the audit period?
24· · · · A.· ·I'm getting confused on the numbers, sir.
25· · · · Q.· ·I think the Board can take it upon
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·1· ·themselves to review these records in Exhibit B-5.
·2· · · · · · ·Let me ask:· Did you have any other
·3· ·submission to the Board regarding continuing
·4· ·education records for 2021 and 2022 not found in
·5· ·Exhibit B-5?
·6· · · · A.· ·No, no further.
·7· · · · Q.· ·But didn't you, in fact, today admit into
·8· ·the record Exhibit R-1?
·9· · · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · · Q.· ·Now, R-1 was provided not with these
11· ·hours.· These hours were, in fact, submitted to the
12· ·Board late November of 2023, is that accurate, those
13· ·hours in B-5?
14· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
15· · · · Q.· ·And the list that you've provided today,
16· ·Exhibit R-1, has only been provided to the Board
17· ·yesterday, January the 11th, 2024; is that accurate?
18· · · · A.· ·That's correct.
19· · · · Q.· ·And this list that you provided,
20· ·Exhibit R-1, you've highlighted numerous of what
21· ·appear to be titles of courses.· It would appear
22· ·from studying this document that you've highlighted
23· ·the courses with dates falling within the calendar
24· ·year of 2021; is that accurate?
25· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
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·1· · · · Q.· ·And so, you are submitting to this Board
·2· ·that you, in fact, completed these specific courses;
·3· ·is that right?
·4· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·5· · · · Q.· ·What is this document, Dr. May?· Because
·6· ·this document appears completely foreign to both
·7· ·myself and the Board.· It doesn't appear to be any
·8· ·kind of official Board form; rather, it looks to be
·9· ·an Excel document of some sort.
10· · · · · · ·What is this that we're looking at?
11· · · · A.· ·It's the only information that I was able
12· ·to retrieve out of the old company's records.
13· · · · Q.· ·So are you testifying today that this is a
14· ·software program or a record of a prior company
15· ·which you were affiliated or employed by?
16· · · · A.· ·Correct.
17· · · · Q.· ·And as you'll recall, Dr. May, when I read
18· ·from your Complaint, Board Regulation 41, you are
19· ·required to maintain records not just of names,
20· ·isn't that right, --
21· · · · A.· ·Correct.
22· · · · Q.· ·-- but also certificates of completion?
23· · · · A.· ·Correct.
24· · · · Q.· ·And you do recognize that while you have
25· ·submitted today for the Board's consideration a list
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·1· ·of names of courses, in fact, there are no
·2· ·certificates of completion to correspond, at least
·3· ·with this submission?
·4· · · · A.· ·Those were not retrievable.
·5· · · · Q.· ·And so, Dr. May, before I turn it over to
·6· ·you, because I do understand through our
·7· ·conversations that you have those significant life
·8· ·circumstances which you want the Board to take into
·9· ·consideration, I do just want to reiterate that you
10· ·understand that you have violated the Dental
11· ·Practice Act?
12· · · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · · Q.· ·And you understand that it's incumbent on
14· ·this Board to take disciplinary action for such
15· ·violation?
16· · · · A.· ·I understand.
17· · · · Q.· ·And if the Board were to order
18· ·disciplinary action, would you comply?
19· · · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · · Q.· ·And you have stated today to the Board
21· ·that it's your intent to remain practicing?
22· · · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · · Q.· ·Do you also recognize, Dr. May, that for a
24· ·second violation of the Board's regulation regarding
25· ·continuing education, that the Board stipulates that
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·1· ·that person shall be subject to penalties, including
·2· ·a 30-day suspension?
·3· · · · A.· ·Yes, sir.
·4· · · · Q.· ·And if the Board, in fact, imposes a
·5· ·30-day suspension, you understand that you will be
·6· ·prohibited from practicing during that time,
·7· ·correct?
·8· · · · A.· ·I understand that.
·9· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· No further questions.
10· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
11· · · · Does the State rest at this time?
12· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· The State does rest.
13· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
14· · · · · · ·So, now, Dr. May, this is your opportunity
15· · · · to make any additional statements that you want
16· · · · to to the Board in your defense.
17· · · · · · ·STATEMENT OF DR. GEORGE MAY, JR.
18· · · · · · ·DR. MAY:· My reason for coming here is
19· · · · just to -- I've been brought back to a full
20· · · · understanding of compliance and can focus on
21· · · · staying compliant now.· My request for the
22· · · · penalties is I can do all of it.· I don't
23· · · · know how I can manage without serious
24· · · · complications to my office, to my wife, to
25· · · · the team that I work with to not be able to
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·1· ·practice for 30 days.· Patients wait for me
·2· ·now with -- you know, the clients that I've
·3· ·had to miss this year.
·4· · · · I had a serious accident the first of the
·5· ·year with a punctured lung and a punctured
·6· ·diaphragm, and I was out for five or six weeks
·7· ·then.· We've had other interruptions in
·8· ·practice.· The practice is extremely busy, and
·9· ·I love it.· My desire is to be able to continue
10· ·to do work.· Everything else I know I can focus
11· ·and keep in compliance.
12· · · · I do have a -- I'm going to get a knee
13· ·replacement next Friday, so I don't know how
14· ·long I'm going to be out then.· I just need to
15· ·keep -- I need to keep working.
16· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· So at this
17· ·time, the Board may have some questions for
18· ·you.
19· · · · DR. MAY:· Okay.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· Do we have
21· ·access to Exhibit R-1?· That has not been
22· ·provided, at least in the --
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We have them.· My
24· ·apologies.· It was provided today.· So I do
25· ·apologize for forgetting to disseminate this.
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·1· · · · · · · · ·(Short pause)
·2· · · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE BOARD
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· These are not
·4· ·in addition to --
·5· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The questions should be
·6· ·directed to the respondent.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· These are not
·8· ·in addition to the 24 hours that you've
·9· ·submitted for 2021, or are these included?
10· · · · DR. MAY:· These are, yeah.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· Okay.· That's
12· ·all.
13· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Do we have a
14· ·question here?
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yes.
16· · · · Westley, I think you said in your
17· ·presentation that this is the second violation?
18· ·Is the first one rela- --
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Let me pause for just a
20· ·second.· Is it appropriate for a question to
21· ·be directed to me as we're still under
22· ·examining --
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I don't mind
24· ·asking you.
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· -- or testimony by the
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·1· ·respondent?
·2· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Just so that
·3· ·he won't have to testify as the attorney,
·4· ·you --
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So this is
·6· ·my question for you, as a Board:· We're being
·7· ·asked to look at this case as a second
·8· ·violation, but we don't have really any
·9· ·information on the first violation.
10· · · · Is that important, Drew?
11· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Yeah, I think
12· ·that's significant.· If we were going to
13· ·consider that this is a second violation,
14· ·then I would think that we would have to have
15· ·some indication of what the first violation
16· ·was.· And, of course, it's completely up to
17· ·the Hearing Officer.· But as the attorney for
18· ·the Board, I would ask that we -- let's look
19· ·at the facts that we have before us now, and
20· ·then we will deliberate on those facts.
21· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And that's
22· ·all you have.· So if you don't have anything
23· ·related -- if you don't believe, during your
24· ·deliberations, that you have anything put
25· ·into evidence today that will support a
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·1· ·finding that this is a second violation, then
·2· ·you can, you know, decide accordingly.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, I was
·4· ·just kind of curious about when that may have
·5· ·occurred and what --
·6· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· So the only
·7· ·witness right now that --
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- all that
·9· ·sort of thing.
10· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· -- you can
11· ·ask that is Dr. May.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
13· ·Dr. May?
14· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes.
15· · · · BOARD PANEL:· According to his
16· ·presentation, this is the second time you
17· ·violated the continuing education requirement
18· ·section of the Practice Act.
19· · · · Do you remember the first time?
20· · · · DR. MAY:· I have no idea how long ago it
21· ·was or what it was about.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.· Thank
23· ·you.
24· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
25· ·additional questions from any other Board
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·1· ·members?
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Dr. May, when
·3· ·you missed the five weeks for your surgery,
·4· ·you had no one cover for you?
·5· · · · DR. MAY:· Sir?
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Did you have
·7· ·anyone come and work for you?
·8· · · · DR. MAY:· No.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Were you
10· ·working for a corporate deal at that time?
11· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes, I was.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So they didn't
13· ·try to help you find someone to work for you?
14· · · · DR. MAY:· No, they could not.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Did you ask
16· ·them?
17· · · · DR. MAY:· That's -- they were trying to,
18· ·but that's up to corporate.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· This R-1 that
20· ·you've presented today, you said you couldn't
21· ·retrieve any of these.· Did you go back to
22· ·the people that gave these and try to get
23· ·some documentation from them?
24· · · · DR. MAY:· That is what this is, and this
25· ·was all that was retrievable.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· No, I'm not
·2· ·talking about from your records or from your
·3· ·computer.· I'm talking about actually going
·4· ·to the people that gave the course.· You
·5· ·should have signed in when you took it, and
·6· ·they should have given you a paper copy of
·7· ·what you took and how many hours you
·8· ·completed that day.· If it was on the
·9· ·computer, they would have printed it off for
10· ·you there; or if you were in person, they
11· ·would have given it to you in person at that
12· ·time that day.
13· · · · Did you go to those people and ask them
14· ·for a copy of it?
15· · · · DR. MAY:· No, I didn't.· I don't know
16· ·that -- I don't even know how to contact
17· ·them.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, they
19· ·have names.· And most anytime, -- I'm fussing
20· ·at you a little bit -- you know, you can find
21· ·out anything on a computer as far as what's
22· ·presented and what's going on.· I'm a little
23· ·disappointed that you didn't go back
24· ·that -- try to get that aggressive about it.
25· · · · DR. MAY:· I informed my PMO, my practice
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·1· ·manager, about the situation, and this was
·2· ·all that I was able to retrieve.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, that's
·4· ·because they only tried one way.· That's what
·5· ·I'm trying to make a point of.· You didn't go
·6· ·and try to find out who it was and get in
·7· ·touch with them and find out if you could get
·8· ·a paper copy or a documentation for your
·9· ·hours?
10· · · · DR. MAY:· I wouldn't even know how to
11· ·begin to do that.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.
13· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
14· ·additional questions from any other Board
15· ·members?
16· · · · · · · · · (No response)
17· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Hearing none,
18· ·at this time, we will proceed with closing
19· ·statements.
20· · · · Board Counsel, you may begin.
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you.
22· · · · · · · ·CLOSING STATEMENTS
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The evidence speaks for
24· ·itself.· The testimony you've heard today
25· ·clearly supports the violation that the
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·1· ·respondent, Dr. May, failed to meet the
·2· ·Board's continuing education requirements.  I
·3· ·just ask the Board to impose the discipline
·4· ·that it deems appropriate under the
·5· ·circumstances.
·6· · · · Any deference that you may afford to the
·7· ·testimony offered by Dr. May and his unique
·8· ·life circumstances, again, I would just remind
·9· ·you that your job is not to represent the
10· ·dentist.· It is not to represent me.· Your job
11· ·is to represent the patient and protect the
12· ·public.
13· · · · Thank you.
14· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Dr. May, this
15· ·is your opportunity to give your closing
16· ·statement.
17· · · · DR. MAY:· As I've already stated, the
18· ·reason I'm here is to actually -- I
19· ·understand all of it.· I understand the
20· ·gravity of it.· I understand that I am
21· ·refocused on making sure that I keep up with
22· ·it.· I guess it's just to ask for mercy on
23· ·the actual suspension.· I don't know exactly
24· ·how long I'm going to be off with my knee
25· ·replacement, but there's no one to cover for
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·1· ·me at that time.
·2· · · · FURTHER EXAMINATION BY THE BOARD
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Have you asked
·4· ·how long you're going to be out for your knee
·5· ·replacement?
·6· · · · DR. MAY:· I'm asking -- I don't know if
·7· ·I'm too aggressive with it or not, but I'm
·8· ·asking for two weeks.· I don't know if it
·9· ·will be longer.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Which knee is
11· ·it?
12· · · · DR. MAY:· It will be when I'm physically
13· ·able.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Which knee is
15· ·it?
16· · · · DR. MAY:· My left.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Do you use
18· ·your right knee for your rib stabs
19· ·(phonetic)?
20· · · · DR. MAY:· Yes.· But I'm hoping that's in
21· ·my favor also.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You can do it
23· ·in two weeks if you want to.· Good luck to
24· ·you, though.
25· · · · DR. MAY:· I can?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.
·2· · · · DR. MAY:· That's what I'm hoping for.
·3· ·That injury in February was quite severe.· It
·4· ·happened on a Sunday, and I practiced for
·5· ·four days before I went to the emergency room
·6· ·and found out the severity of my injuries.
·7· ·So I'll heal up fast.
·8· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·9· ·Any additional closing statements?
10· · · · · · · · · (No response)
11· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
12· ·At this time, I will -- I understand that
13· ·there are two matters on the docket.· So does
14· ·the Board want to take up the next matter, or
15· ·are you ready to deliberate on this matter
16· ·first, come out and announce, and then take
17· ·up the next matter?
18· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· So for the
19· ·second matter, they're not here; is that
20· ·right?
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· (Nods head
22· ·affirmatively).
23· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· For the
24· ·second matter, the individual is not here.
25· · · · Westley, are you going to do a
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·1· ·presentation and ask for action to be taken on
·2· ·that matter?
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We are going to establish
·4· ·due process and essentially plan to --
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Right.· Do
·6· ·you want to just go ahead and make a quick
·7· ·record and do that?
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We can.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Since it's
10· ·just going to be a due process notice on the
11· ·record, then what you can do is go ahead and
12· ·conclude this matter, and then we can quickly
13· ·take up the second matter, and then we can go
14· ·into deliberation if you so desire.
15· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Okay.· So,
16· ·Dr. May and Board Counsel, we will conclude
17· ·this hearing in Docket No. 2023-071.· The
18· ·Board will deliberate on this matter today
19· ·and announce its decision.· It's just not
20· ·going to happen right now.· We're going to
21· ·move to the next matter on the docket; and
22· ·then once we conclude that matter, the Board
23· ·will then deliberate on both matters at the
24· ·same time and then announce its decision.
25· · · · So you can wait here for that
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·1· ·announcement, or you can wait to receive a
·2· ·written copy of it in the mail.
·3· · · · DR. MAY:· How long will --
·4· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· It won't be
·5· ·long.
·6· · · · DR. MAY:· Okay.· I'll wait.
·7· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·8· ·So you can step back into the atrium area.
·9· · · · DR. MAY:· Do I need to leave the room?
10· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· No.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you, Dr. May.
12· · · · DR. MAY:· Thank you.
13· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
14· ·We will take up the next matter on the
15· ·docket, Docket No. 2023-072, before the
16· ·Mississippi State Board of Dental Examiners,
17· ·in the matter of Mississippi Dental License
18· ·No. 2753-93, Dr. Jimmy Dale Vance.
19· · · · Good morning, I am Kristen Love, and I
20· ·will serve as the Hearing Officer in this
21· ·matter today.
22· · · · My role during the course of this
23· ·proceeding will be to rule on objections to
24· ·questions or evidence raised by the parties; to
25· ·see to the orderly process of the proceedings;
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·1· ·and to ensure that these proceedings are
·2· ·conducted in accordance with the applicable
·3· ·laws and rules.
·4· · · · At this time, I'll ask the members of the
·5· ·Board to state their names for the record.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Lewis Grubbs.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Haley
·8· ·Birmingham.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· David Curtis.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Mark
11· ·Williams.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Alexa
13· ·Lampkin.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· John Carlton.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· Wade Bishop.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Robert
17· ·Smith.
18· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Will the
19· ·attorney representing the Board state your
20· ·name for the record?
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Westley Mutziger.
22· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· And is the
23· ·licensee, Dr. Vance, present?
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· He does not appear to be
25· ·present.
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·1· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All right.
·2· · · · Can you briefly --
·3· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· As a preliminary matter,
·4· · · · I would call Mr. Nick Hardwick, the Board's
·5· · · · investigator, to establish due process and
·6· · · · proceed with this hearing.
·7· · · · · · ·HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· That would be
·8· · · · great.· Thank you.
·9· · · · · · ·The court reporter needs to swear you in.
10· · · · · · · ·INVESTIGATOR NICK HARDWICK,
11· · · · · · · · ·having been duly sworn,
12· · · · · · · · · testified as follows:
13· · · · · · · · · · · ·EXAMINATION
14· ·BY MR. MUTZIGER:
15· · · · Q.· ·Could you please state your name for the
16· ·record?
17· · · · A.· ·Nick Hardwick.
18· · · · Q.· ·What is your -- in what capacity are you
19· ·here today, Mr. Hardwick?
20· · · · A.· ·I'm here as an investigator for the
21· ·Mississippi State Board of Dental Examiners.
22· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.
23· · · · · · ·Mr. Hardwick, I would like to draw your
24· ·attention to Exhibits B-1 through B-8, which have
25· ·not yet been entered into evidence.· You will see
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·1· ·that this is regarding Jimmy Dale Vance.
·2· · · · · · ·Can you please testify as to whether, to
·3· ·your knowledge, Jimmy Dale Vance is present for the
·4· ·hearing today?
·5· · · · A.· ·It appears he is not.
·6· · · · Q.· ·And, Mr. Hardwick, I would like to direct
·7· ·your attention to Exhibit B-2 to begin.
·8· · · · · · ·Would you please identify for the record
·9· ·Exhibit B-2?
10· · · · A.· ·So Docket No. -- the exhibit list --
11· · · · Q.· ·B-2.
12· · · · A.· ·B-2 is the respondent's license
13· ·information.
14· · · · Q.· ·On B-2, at the bottom of the page, you
15· ·will find a screenshot of information with "Address
16· ·Type."
17· · · · · · ·Can you please confirm that the "Address
18· ·Type" and the information is the Board's information
19· ·regarding the respondent, Dr. Jimmy Dale Vance?
20· · · · A.· ·It is.
21· · · · Q.· ·Can you please read for the record the
22· ·mailing address listed for Dr. Vance?
23· · · · A.· ·It's 36 Savannah Circle, Brandon,
24· ·Mississippi 39047.
25· · · · Q.· ·Now, I draw your attention to Exhibit B-3.
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·1· · · · · · ·Would you identify, for the record,
·2· ·Exhibit B-3?
·3· · · · A.· ·It's the Notice of Hearing and Complaint.
·4· · · · Q.· ·In looking at B-3a, you'll see there the
·5· ·title is "Notice of Hearing."· In looking at B-3a,
·6· ·to whom is this Notice of Hearing directed?
·7· · · · A.· ·It's addressed to Jimmy Dale Vance,
·8· ·D.M.D., 36 Savannah Circle, Brandon, Mississippi
·9· ·39047.
10· · · · Q.· ·Very good.
11· · · · · · ·At what time and location is this Notice
12· ·of Hearing directing Dr. Vance to appear?
13· · · · A.· ·It is directing him to appear Friday,
14· ·January the 12th, 2024, at 8:30 a.m.
15· · · · Q.· ·Where is it directing him to appear?
16· · · · A.· ·To the Board Office located at 600 East
17· ·Amite Street, Suite 100.
18· · · · Q.· ·Excellent.· Thank you.
19· · · · · · ·I now direct your attention to
20· ·Exhibit B-3c, which you will see is titled, "Proof
21· ·of Service."· That will consist of two pages.
22· · · · · · ·In looking at B-3c, can you identify --
23· ·what does this appear to be to you, the first page
24· ·of Exhibit B-3c?
25· · · · A.· ·This appears to be a registered for
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·1· ·certified mail.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Would it be fair to say it's a registered
·3· ·mail receipt?
·4· · · · A.· ·Correct.
·5· · · · Q.· ·To whom is it addressed, please, for the
·6· ·record?
·7· · · · A.· ·Jimmy Dale Vance, D.M.D., 36 Savannah
·8· ·Circle, Brandon, Mississippi 39047.
·9· · · · Q.· ·Okay.· Thank you.
10· · · · · · ·And drawing you to the second page of
11· ·Exhibit B-3c, would you identify what this appears
12· ·to be to you on the record, please?
13· · · · A.· ·This is a United States Postal Service
14· ·tracking.
15· · · · Q.· ·Thank you.
16· · · · · · ·Now, in looking at the first and second
17· ·pages of Exhibit B-3, you will find a tracking
18· ·number listed at the top and a registered number at
19· ·the top on the first page.· Please take your time
20· ·to -- and I know it's small.· But, if you would,
21· ·please verify for the record that the tracking
22· ·number of the USPS document matches the registered
23· ·mail number which you've identified as the
24· ·registered mail receipt for the Notice of Hearing
25· ·for Dr. Vance?
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·1· · · · A.· ·They are one and the same.
·2· · · · Q.· ·Very good.
·3· · · · · · ·And last -- actually, two more questions,
·4· ·Mr. Hardwick.
·5· · · · · · ·Would you please state for the record the
·6· ·last update or the status for this USPS tracking
·7· ·document?
·8· · · · A.· ·The status on this tracking document says,
·9· ·"Delivered, Individual Picked Up at Post Office,
10· ·Brandon, Mississippi 39047, December the 30th, 2023,
11· ·9:49 a.m."
12· · · · Q.· ·And the final question, Mr. Hardwick:
13· ·Would you please identify the date stamped on the
14· ·registered mail receipt, which you previously
15· ·identified as the first page of Exhibit B-3c?
16· · · · A.· ·This is a stamp from the United States
17· ·Postal Service dated December the 12th, 2023.
18· · · · Q.· ·Thank you, Mr. Hardwick.
19· · · · · · ·MR. MUTZIGER:· So at this time, the
20· · · · State would move that the proceedings are
21· · · · appropriate to move forward as due process
22· · · · has been established by process of registered
23· · · · mail filing at least 30 days prior to the
24· · · · date of hearing and that the address mailed
25· · · · is the same address of record that the Board
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·1· ·maintains as the mailing address for
·2· ·Dr. Jimmy Dale Vance.
·3· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
·4· · · · Yes, I agree.· It appears that Dr. Vance
·5· ·received statutory notice of today's hearing
·6· ·and has provided no request for a continuance.
·7· ·So at this time, we will proceed in his
·8· ·absence.
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you very much.
10· · · · At this time, the State would move to
11· ·admit Exhibits B-1 through B-8.
12· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· So admitted.
13· · · · ·(EXHIBIT NOS. B-1 THROUGH B-8
14· · · MARKED AND ADMITTED INTO THE RECORD)
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The State would quickly
16· ·identify those exhibits and then rest on the
17· ·pleadings following.
18· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Provided for the Board
20· ·today, you will find exhibits of the
21· ·Complaint and Notice of Hearing charging
22· ·Dr. Vance with violation of Board
23· ·Regulation 41, failing to meet the
24· ·requirements of continuing education in this
25· ·state.
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·1· · · · You will find documentation showing that
·2· ·he was selected for an audit on or about
·3· ·May 1st, 2003, in Exhibit B-4.
·4· · · · In Exhibit B-5, you will find the records
·5· ·actually submitted by the respondent to the
·6· ·Board in response to the audit.
·7· · · · In Exhibit B-6, you will find e-mail
·8· ·communication from Dr. Vance dated June 30th,
·9· ·2023, to the Board.
10· · · · In Exhibit B-7, you will find a summary of
11· ·the CDE audit results for the continuing
12· ·education audit performed by the Board
13· ·regarding the respondent.
14· · · · And then, finally, in Exhibit B-8, you
15· ·will find an e-mail from Dr. Vance, once again,
16· ·to the Board dated yesterday, January 11th,
17· ·2024.
18· · · · The State would rest on its pleadings.
19· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Thank you.
20· · · · I will tell, at this time, ask the Board
21· ·if they have any questions for today's witness
22· ·in this matter?
23· · · · · · EXAMINATION BY THE BOARD
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Westley, have
25· ·you had any correspondence with Dr. Vance?
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I have not had any
·2· ·correspondence with Dr. Vance, but you will
·3· ·find two e-mails where he has e-mailed Denny.
·4· ·Denny, actually, was the primary contact
·5· ·during the continuing education audit.
·6· ·That's why Denny was contacted.
·7· · · · And so, in his e-mails, I'll let those
·8· ·speak for themselves unless, of course, you are
·9· ·asking me -- I don't know whether I should go
10· ·down the road of characterizing these e-mails
11· ·or rather just allow the Board members to read
12· ·them for themselves.
13· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Yeah, or if
14· ·the witness wants to add anything.· That's
15· ·the witness that you are to ask your
16· ·questions to about the exhibits, if you have
17· ·any.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· No.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· What I would
20· ·like to know is, if he's surrendering his
21· ·license, why are we doing this?· I know it
22· ·just came up yesterday.
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Well --
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Can go back
25· ·and charge him and actually --
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So to answer your
·2· ·question -- and I assume that you're
·3· ·referring to his request in his e-mail, is
·4· ·that right, --
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Uh-huh
·6· ·(affirmative response).
·7· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· -- where, essentially, he
·8· ·is referencing retirement or surrendering?
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Uh-huh
10· ·(affirmative response).
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The reason why we
12· ·actually moved forward with the proceeding
13· ·is, to have someone surrender their license,
14· ·meaning to actually admit to disciplinary --
15· ·or grounds for disciplinary action, that you
16· ·actually violated the Dental Practice Act, in
17· ·this case, that you failed to comply with the
18· ·audit, you have to have an agreement to that
19· ·effect.
20· · · · Now, I have not been able to engage in any
21· ·reliable correspondence with Dr. Vance.· So in
22· ·order for me to adequately represent the Board
23· ·and conclude the disciplinary matter, the
24· ·investigation we have regarding noncompliance
25· ·of the continuing education audit, I would have
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·1· ·to enter into an agreement with Dr. Vance.· And
·2· ·since the audit began, there has been very
·3· ·limited communication.
·4· · · · I can't speak to the -- Denny would have
·5· ·to speak to those initial communications, but I
·6· ·have had no response from Dr. Vance from any of
·7· ·my attempts at communications.
·8· · · · So when I am not able to reach that
·9· ·person, I still need to find resolution of the
10· ·case.
11· · · · So the way to do that is, I have to set
12· ·the matter for hearing.· I have no other
13· ·recourse but to set the matter for hearing and
14· ·then have the Board decide what's appropriate
15· ·at that time.· Because if I've satisfied due
16· ·process, as I've shown now, then the Board is
17· ·free to make a decision regardless of whether
18· ·Dr. Vance has appeared or responded to me.· So
19· ·this allows the Board to move forward even when
20· ·someone has not responded.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So, Ma'am,
23· ·as an Officer of the Court, today we
24· ·reinstated a license for a dentist who had
25· ·retired.
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·1· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Okay.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So if, in
·3· ·the future, this dentist decided to apply for
·4· ·reinstatement of his license, would it be
·5· ·important for us to have ruled on this
·6· ·particular case so that it would be on
·7· ·record?
·8· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Well, you
·9· ·have to rule on this case right now because
10· ·it's a pending matter before the Board.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So
12· ·regardless of whether or not he is retired as
13· ·a dentist and surrendered his license, we're
14· ·still obligated to follow this course of
15· ·action; isn't that correct?
16· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Whatever that
17· ·course of action may be.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And isn't it
19· ·important for us to document our findings and
20· ·attach that to his license regardless if that
21· ·license is no longer valid?
22· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· I think
23· ·that's something that you can deliberate on.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· As Board
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·1· ·Counsel, I would advise you that there are
·2· ·actually two separate issues.· I am reading
·3· ·the exhibit where the doctor has indicated
·4· ·that he wants to voluntarily surrender his
·5· ·license.· That's over here.· It's a separate
·6· ·issue than what's before the Board right now.
·7· ·You have to act on what's before the Board
·8· ·right now keeping in mind that he is
·9· ·surrendering it, but that doesn't nullify the
10· ·case that's before us right now.
11· · · · So you are correct because if, in the
12· ·future, an additional request -- or a request
13· ·could be made to reinstate it, you wouldn't
14· ·ignore what is before us right now.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And his
16· ·license was valid up to the point where he
17· ·has decided to retire, right?
18· · · · He cannot retroactively retire based off
19· ·of the day that he says he incurred some health
20· ·issues and diminish the requirement for
21· ·maintaining that license?
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· No.· That is
23· ·correct, yes.· In essence, we will look at
24· ·the facts that have been presented, and we
25· ·will act on this specific case accordingly.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Thank you.
·2· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
·3· ·additional questions?
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· If I may just reply to
·5· ·the statements made by Dr. Williams?
·6· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Yes.
·7· ·STATEMENT BY IN-HOUSE COUNSEL MR. MUTZIGER
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I do think it's important
·9· ·that you draw attention to -- a very
10· ·important consideration by this Board is that
11· ·the Board does have processes for
12· ·reinstatement of licenses, and so I think
13· ·it's important to address -- we don't want to
14· ·simply let a violation go because someone is
15· ·saying they are choosing to retire or letting
16· ·their license lapse when there is an avenue
17· ·in the future for them to have that license
18· ·reactivated.
19· · · · And so, I do think that there is value in
20· ·the Board creating a record and addressing the
21· ·violation and imposing disciplinary action
22· ·because we don't control the future in terms of
23· ·what he wants to do.· He may wish to come back
24· ·and practice; and, therefore, I believe it's
25· ·appropriate for the Board to address violations
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·1· ·regardless of his desire to retire.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Thank you.
·3· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
·4· ·additional questions?
·5· · · · · · · · · (No response)
·6· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Hearing none,
·7· ·I will conclude the hearing regarding
·8· ·Document No. 2023-072, in the matter of
·9· ·Mississippi Dental License No. 2753-93,
10· ·Dr. Jimmy Dale Vance.
11· · · · And, at this time, I'll entertain a motion
12· ·from the Board to go into closed determination
13· ·to determine whether grounds exist to go into
14· ·executive session to deliberate on Docket
15· ·No. 2023-071 and Docket No. 2023-072.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· So moved.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Second.
18· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All in favor?
19· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
20· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
21· ·opposition?
22· · · · · · · · · (No response)
23· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Hearing none,
24· ·at this time, I'll entertain a motion from
25· ·the Board to actually go into executive
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·1· ·session to deliberate on Docket No. 2023-071
·2· ·and Docket No. 2023-072.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· Motion.
·4· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Is there a
·5· ·second?
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
·7· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· All in favor?
·8· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·9· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Any
10· ·opposition?
11· · · · · · · · · (No response)
12· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· Hearing none,
13· ·the Board is now in executive session to
14· ·deliberate on the stated matters.
15· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I will say
16· ·that for the sake of those that need, we will
17· ·take a three-minute break.· So if anyone
18· ·wants to go to the restroom, you may do so.
19· · · · · ·(ENTER EXECUTIVE SESSION)
20· · · · · · · · · · *******
21· · · · · · (EXIT EXECUTIVE SESSION)
22· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· We are back
23· ·on the record.· At this time, I'll ask the
24· ·Board members to state their names.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Lewis Grubbs.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Haley
·2· ·Birmingham.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· David Curtis.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Mark
·5· ·Williams.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Alexa
·7· ·Lampkin.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· John Carlton.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· Wade Bishop.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Robert
11· ·Smith.
12· · · ·BOARD RULING - DOCKET NO. 2023-071
13· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· At this time,
14· ·I will announce the Board's decisions.
15· · · · In Docket No. 2023-071, the Board
16· ·determined that the Respondent, Dr. May, is
17· ·guilty of the charge presented in the
18· ·Complaint.· The penalty imposed is a $1,000
19· ·fine and a 30-day suspension.· Those days are
20· ·to run consecutively.· The 30-day suspension
21· ·must be completed no later than June 15th,
22· ·2024.
23· · · ·BOARD RULING - DOCKET NO. 2023-072
24· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· In Docket
25· ·No. 2023-072, the Board determined that
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·1· ·Dr. Vance is guilty of the charge in the
·2· ·Complaint.· The penalty imposed is a $500
·3· ·fine.
·4· · · · This concludes the hearings before the
·5· ·Board today, June [sic] 12th, 2024.· Thank you.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· January.
·7· · · · HEARING OFFICER MS. LOVE:· January 12th,
·8· ·2024.· Thank you-all for your service.
·9· · · · · · ·AGENDA ITEMS CONTINUED
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I think we
11· ·can go on and get with our reports.
12· · · · Nick, No. 11 is Board determination on the
13· ·rotation of investigative Board member cases.
14· ·Do you want to discuss that, or is that Denny?
15· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Probably more so
16· ·Denny.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
18· ·Denny?
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So this was
20· ·a discussion that came out of, initially, an
21· ·AADB meeting that we attended back in
22· ·October.· You know, they have some
23· ·recommendations as it relates to
24· ·investigative Board members not investigating
25· ·peers within certain geographical areas.· We
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·1· ·would call those "districts" here in
·2· ·Mississippi.
·3· · · · I don't know that you, as a Board, is
·4· ·large enough and our state is large enough that
·5· ·we could have a clean separation of that where,
·6· ·you know, Dr. Bishop would not ever investigate
·7· ·anyone from District 5.· But it did come up in
·8· ·discussion that, perhaps, we could rotate the
·9· ·investigations as they're needed.· And so, the
10· ·staff would maintain a list of all eight Board
11· ·members, and whoever is up next gets the next
12· ·one on the list.
13· · · · So that would mean a couple of things:
14· ·One, it would be a shared workload as far as
15· ·the investigations among the Board members
16· ·because some districts are heavier than others
17· ·when it comes to complaints.· And so, I felt
18· ·that that might be a way to keep that process
19· ·fresh on each Board member, you know, because
20· ·some of you do it more than others.
21· · · · And so, Dr. Smith and I had a conversation
22· ·about it and just decided that we would put it
23· ·before the Board as a decision and let you
24· ·decide.· If you want to leave it the way it is,
25· ·that's fine.· We can do that, or we can develop
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·1· ·a simple rotation list, you know.· And we will
·2· ·maintain that in the office, and the next
·3· ·complaint ready to be submitted to an
·4· ·investigative Board member, whoever is next on
·5· ·the list would receive it.· So that's the idea
·6· ·behind it.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· Is it a
·8· ·problem that we need to address the way it is
·9· ·right now?
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It's not
11· ·necessarily a problem.· Basically, there's
12· ·six of the eight Board members who do all of
13· ·the investigations.· If we're doing it just
14· ·by districts, then it's six of the eight.· So
15· ·it doesn't allow for the two at-large members
16· ·to be a part of that on a consistent basis.
17· · · · And, then, the districts are different.
18· ·You know, I think when Dr. Smith and I e-mailed
19· ·about it, which was December the 6th, -- so
20· ·it's a month old -- at that time District 1 had
21· ·22 pending investigations plus three that were
22· ·already assigned to the Board member of that
23· ·district; District 2 had 14, plus three
24· ·assigned; District 3 had ten pending
25· ·investigations with zero assigned; District 4

Page 116
·1· ·had 26 pending and 12 already assigned;
·2· ·District 5 had 18 pending investigations before
·3· ·currently assigned to the Board member; and
·4· ·District 6 had nine pending investigations with
·5· ·one currently assigned.
·6· · · · And there are 65 investigations that are
·7· ·not yet even connected to a district.· So
·8· ·you've got a load of 65 that we've got to go
·9· ·through and assign a district to them to
10· ·eventually go to one of the Board members.
11· · · · But in just that simple review, you could
12· ·see how the numbers are significant, from
13· ·District 6 having nine to District 4 having 26
14· ·pending investigations assigned at that -- or
15· ·waiting to be assigned at that point.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And, Wade,
17· ·you do get paid $40 on each case.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Is that
19· ·statute, that amount of money?
20· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· The per
21· ·diem is, yes.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So that
23· ·can't be changed unless the Practice Act gets
24· ·opened?
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, sir.
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·1· ·That's every single Board member on every
·2· ·single occupational Board in the State of
·3· ·Mississippi.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I want to
·5· ·move that to a thousand dollars if they open
·6· ·the Practice Act.· I'm serious.· If they open
·7· ·the Practice Act --
·8· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· They're now
·9· ·downtown.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· If it gets
11· ·opened, I think we should submit that --
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It's a
13· ·different statute.· It's not the Dental
14· ·Practice Act.· It's a State statute that
15· ·assigns the per diem.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, $40 is
17· ·just ridiculous.
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It is.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· We did learn
20· ·last night not to go down the rabbit hole.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I don't want
22· ·to.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· We did learn
24· ·last night that examining Board members, by
25· ·statute, are currently paid $900 -- no --
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·1· ·$900 or $700 a day to do an examination.
·2· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· That's in the Dental
·3· ·Practice Act.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Can that be
·5· ·retroactively applied?
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· So the other
·7· ·thing is, one of the real issues we learned
·8· ·at the AADB meeting was the popular thing now
·9· ·is to challenge most anything we do as a
10· ·Board on the basis of antitrust issues, and
11· ·that by a member from a district examining
12· ·other members in the district, that that
13· ·naturally is going to create problems if
14· ·somebody takes us to task.· And that is real.
15· ·It's happened in other states.
16· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So I don't
17· ·think we can cleanly say you'll never
18· ·investigate anyone in your district, but I
19· ·think it will help decrease that --
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So what do you
21· ·accomplish, then?
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I'm sorry.
23· ·What?
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What do you
25· ·accomplish from an antitrust deal if you
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·1· ·still wind up doing somebody in your
·2· ·district?
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· The
·4· ·potential challenge that because you,
·5· ·Dr. Grubbs, are investigating someone in your
·6· ·district, then you have a bias because
·7· ·they're your competitor.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· You're going
·9· ·to restrain the trade.· You're just naturally
10· ·going to do that.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, I'm just
12· ·not crazy about giving into lawyers about
13· ·antitrust.
14· · · · No offense, Westley.
15· · · · But I don't think this is an issue.  I
16· ·don't know that it's going to speed anything
17· ·up.
18· · · · If we want to work on something, I would
19· ·highly recommend us -- you know, Denny, you and
20· ·I have talked about this.· At first, I kind of
21· ·said, "Yeah, maybe so."· And the more I thought
22· ·about it, I said, "No, I don't want to do that
23· ·because the cases" -- and I get more cases than
24· ·anybody in this room.
25· · · · But what happens is, if Nick brings me six
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·1· ·cases, which he's done before, and he slaps
·2· ·them on my desk and he and I sit down, we can
·3· ·go through 50 percent of those cases and be
·4· ·done in 30 minutes.
·5· · · · Now, what's going to happen is, if we
·6· ·change it, -- and if you vote to do it, that's
·7· ·fine -- you're going to have to farm those out.
·8· ·They're going to have to go to the coast, to
·9· ·North Mississippi, to wherever, to wherever,
10· ·and I think it's going to slow the process
11· ·myself.
12· · · · But don't -- just because I got -- I don't
13· ·give a crap about 40 bucks.· I'll donate it to
14· ·somebody.· It doesn't matter to me, not that
15· ·I've got a lot of money, but I got over that
16· ·$40 thing a long time ago.
17· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Again,
18· ·after just hearing the concerns and reasoning
19· ·for the AADB, I just want to do my -- at
20· ·least propose some options.· But it's up to
21· ·the Board.· I mean, we'll do whatever.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, let me
23· ·tell you, we've got cases and we've had cases
24· ·that have been on somebody's desk for a long
25· ·period of time.· That's our issue.
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·1· · · · Now, this is not an issue, and I'm not
·2· ·saying let's not vote on it.· But we've got
·3· ·other issues relative to cases, as far as
·4· ·getting them back in a timely manner and being
·5· ·done, that we're going have to address, too.
·6· · · · So if we're going to get into it, let's
·7· ·really get into it and dive into because it's
·8· ·not going to make any difference with these
·9· ·people where you send them, except maybe when
10· ·you have to mail them out to somebody else.
11· · · · I'm saying for me, personally -- and as of
12· ·Wednesday, I'm only working two days a week, so
13· ·it's not a big issue for me.· I'm not going to
14· ·be here forever.· I don't mind doing these
15· ·cases.· I don't mind doing them because Nick
16· ·can come by at lunch and he and I can go
17· ·through a boatload of them real quick, so --
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· So you're
19· ·volunteering to take them all?
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I can make $40
21· ·just like that (snaps fingers).
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It was just
23· ·a suggestion.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I have a
25· ·question.
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yes, sir.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So if you do
·3· ·assign them on a rotating basis, that still
·4· ·doesn't prevent a person from investigating a
·5· ·dentist or a hygienist in their own district?
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It's not
·7· ·clean.· That's right.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So do we
·9· ·reduce the risk of this antitrust litigation
10· ·by having a rotating schedule if the
11· ·randomness of the rotation is that I still
12· ·investigate somebody in my district?
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, I mean,
14· ·because it's based on the individual case.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:  I
16· ·understand.
17· · · · Have we had a problem with that in the
18· ·past in the State of Mississippi?
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I'm not
20· ·aware.· I don't know.
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I don't think
22· ·that's been brought up.· I think that there
23· ·is an argument that if you are randomly
24· ·assigning these cases -- but, frankly, I
25· ·don't know that we've ever really had that
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·1· ·come up.· And the reality of it is, I'm not
·2· ·sure that we necessarily want somebody from
·3· ·the coast having to go to Southaven to do an
·4· ·investigation, because you just burned up,
·5· ·you know, two days.
·6· · · · But it could be one of those things that,
·7· ·you know, we've just got to look at it and see
·8· ·what's the most efficient way of doing it.
·9· ·It's up to y'all.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I do think
11· ·that knowing a little bit about the people,
12· ·the complainant, I guess, or the dentist that
13· ·has the complaint against them, has been
14· ·beneficial when I've done investigations.
15· ·And I would be happy to step aside if our
16· ·Board Counsel thought that there was a
17· ·conflict of interest.
18· · · · But as Dr. Grubbs said, many times when
19· ·you call somebody, you're able to -- because
20· ·you've seen them at district meetings and other
21· ·things, you can kind of get to the heart of the
22· ·matter a little quicker than if I call somebody
23· ·in Hernando and started asking questions.· They
24· ·don't know me.
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, I think
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·1· ·that on a typical antitrust argument, you
·2· ·would have to look at the situation where
·3· ·it's almost like the dentist themselves has
·4· ·come up with the charge in order -- because
·5· ·the argument is you're reducing your
·6· ·competition.· And, typically, from what y'all
·7· ·are looking at and the thoroughness of what's
·8· ·being done, especially with Nick and his
·9· ·team, I don't know that you really see that.
10· · · · I mean, they're not trumped-up charges.
11· ·They are not things that, you know, are
12· ·obscure, that you're somehow imposing to reduce
13· ·your competition.· These are real, valid
14· ·concerns.· So I don't know.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I'm not
16· ·trying to minimize that as a risk, but we're
17· ·not the -- the investigating dentist is not
18· ·the first line of the accusation.· The
19· ·accusation was brought by some other party,
20· ·whomever that is, and --
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· And that's my
22· ·point.· That's right.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- the
24· ·person that's been there and done an
25· ·investigation says, "A dentist needs to look
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·1· ·at this," right?
·2· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· And
·3· ·Dr. Grubbs brings up a really good point:
·4· ·And y'all don't vote.· So whatever -- well,
·5· ·let me back up.· The investigating dentist
·6· ·does not vote on that case.
·7· · · · So I think that it makes for a harder
·8· ·antitrust -- and I don't know on the cases,
·9· ·Denny, that have come up -- and I'm sure there
10· ·have been because lawyers will do anything.
11· ·But I don't know how you get around that.
12· · · · I mean, once you're -- you know, you're
13· ·not voting on it.· You're just merely
14· ·presenting the facts, and the other dentist has
15· ·got the opportunity to dispute those facts and
16· ·have a full-blown hearing.· So you've got due
17· ·process.· So I don't know that I would take an
18· ·antitrust case on that given those facts.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And, look,
21· ·Denny, I told you how I felt about it.  I
22· ·think we need to really consider how we're
23· ·doing cases, and we should return these cases
24· ·easily within 30 days once they're presented
25· ·to us, or less because it's not fair to these
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·1· ·investigators and it's not fair to this
·2· ·Board.· And I don't think we're getting that
·3· ·done.· And I don't know that they're going to
·4· ·try to dictate to us how quick we do this.
·5· ·But just because we're busy and we want to go
·6· ·to the show one night, that's great, but you
·7· ·still have to look at these cases.· And we
·8· ·need to get them back in a timely manner and
·9· ·get them off of our docket.
10· · · · Because if you look at how many cases are
11· ·out there, you'll say, "Oh, my Lord.· What's
12· ·going on?"· We've got -- I saw a case not too
13· ·long ago that was when Jane was here and, you
14· ·know, we're just trying to fix it.· That, to
15· ·me, is more of a problem.
16· · · · And I'm not saying you're saying this is
17· ·an issue.· I'm just saying that we have an
18· ·issue that we need to address as far as how
19· ·long it takes us -- unless we need information,
20· ·unless we have to send it back to the
21· ·investigator, we should get these cases done in
22· ·a timely manner and get them out.
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Why don't
24· ·you let the computer keep up with that and,
25· ·say, give us a 30-day thing on each case as
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·1· ·the compliance officer?
·2· · · · Is that a compliance thing?
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· No, sir.
·4· ·That's still investigation.
·5· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· No, sir.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So does
·7· ·anybody want to make a motion that we do
·8· ·change and go or just keep it the way it is?
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· We've got two
10· ·new members coming on, too.· So, you know, if
11· ·y'all want to do it, fine.· But why don't we
12· ·wait until --
13· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· I mean, can we just
14· ·volunteer to help?· I mean, I can volunteer
15· ·to help, which I've mentioned, because I
16· ·haven't had any.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You haven't
18· ·had any cases?
19· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· No.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· There you
21· ·go.· Give her ten cases.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Ten?
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, five.
24· · · · All right.· Financial reports are, I
25· ·guess, Denny or Denise?
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Denise.
·2· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· I know it's getting to
·3· ·be close to lunchtime, so I'm going to be
·4· ·quick.· I think y'all have seen the reports
·5· ·and the numbers, so I just want to kind of
·6· ·give you the highlights of them.
·7· · · · At the end of December, we were six months
·8· ·through our year, and so you would expect that
·9· ·we would be at 50 percent of our budget.· We
10· ·always talk about that.· But we're really only
11· ·at 36 percent of expenditures to the budget.
12· · · · Now, one of the things I did is, I said,
13· ·"Let's say" -- you've got that category called
14· ·"Subsidies, Loans and Grants," and that only
15· ·happens once a year.· So if I took that out of
16· ·the equation, we would still only be at
17· ·40 percent of our budget to expenditures.· So
18· ·you're in good shape for how much money you
19· ·have in your budget to what you've spent.
20· · · · That "Subsidies, Loans and Grants" is
21· ·where you actually pay the PMP, and you also
22· ·pay the Health Network.· And the PMP payment to
23· ·the pharmacy was made last week, so that has
24· ·already happened.· And your next payment will
25· ·cover the Health Network in the next couple of
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·1· ·months.· So then you'll have that category
·2· ·expended.
·3· · · · The Legislature, as you've noted, is in
·4· ·town now, and so we're expecting at any time to
·5· ·have budget hearings.· Denny did submit the
·6· ·request to have a budget hearing in both the
·7· ·House and the Senate.· A lot of times we're in
·8· ·the process of doing those hearings at this
·9· ·point in January; but because it is a long
10· ·session this year and they're changing their
11· ·committee appointments, we're expecting the
12· ·hearing may not happen until early February.
13· ·But appointments were made yesterday and today,
14· ·so that may get moved up.· So we'll know more
15· ·about that shortly.
16· · · · If we look at your FY '24, I went and
17· ·looked at where you are on salaries because
18· ·salary is a good indicator of where you really
19· ·are to your budget.· And you've spent 47 of
20· ·your budget in the salary line item.
21· · · · For travel, in the last meeting that I was
22· ·here, we talked about that the daily meal rates
23· ·have gone up, and travel costs are continuing
24· ·to rise.· The mile rate was increased in
25· ·January.· So even though your per diems weren't
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·1· ·increased, you can now get 67 cents a mile for
·2· ·your travel.· So we'll keep an eye on where
·3· ·that is going for your travel cost and whether
·4· ·or not we need to increase the budget request
·5· ·for next year.
·6· · · · I think in the last meeting I talked about
·7· ·the fact that the way travel was going to be
·8· ·processed was going to change because we were
·9· ·implementing a new payroll system, but the
10· ·State has taken that implementation off the
11· ·table, and we don't think it's going to happen
12· ·for who knows when.· So you can keep processing
13· ·travel the same way.· So we're not worried
14· ·about anything there.
15· · · · And in the contractual and commodity line
16· ·items, you are below budget.· And so, I don't
17· ·see any issues or anything that really needs to
18· ·be pointed out.
19· · · · I am going to just say that I like the
20· ·fact that we don't want to wait until the end
21· ·of the year to do all of our equipment and
22· ·commodity-type purchases and make it crazy
23· ·trying to spend money at the last bit.· So if
24· ·there is something that needs to be purchased
25· ·and you can do that in the next three months or
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·1· ·so, that would be helpful.
·2· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· The
·3· ·database.
·4· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Well, okay.· That's
·5· ·going to take legislative action for that to
·6· ·happen, and so that's on the list for that
·7· ·hearing.
·8· · · · And then the only other thing that I want
·9· ·to talk about is your revenue.· Denny has been
10· ·doing an in-depth dive into the revenue and
11· ·reviewing.· I say there's probably a little
12· ·something wrong with him because he likes to
13· ·audit numbers, but it's good that he is taking
14· ·that detailed approach.· And so, he's been
15· ·looking at that.
16· · · · The year-to-date revenue so far is
17· ·993,000.· And so if you looked at that compared
18· ·to where you were this time last year, you
19· ·would think you're doing really well.· But you
20· ·can't really compare one year to the next.· You
21· ·really need to go back two years to compare
22· ·because of the way your renewal cycles work.
23· · · · So I went back to 2022 to see where you
24· ·were at this time, at the end of December in
25· ·'22, and you actually have $47,000 more in
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·1· ·revenue in the current year than you did two
·2· ·years ago, but that's not to say that revenue
·3· ·is continuing to go up.· But I don't see any
·4· ·problems in the revenue issues either.
·5· · · · And that's really all I have unless y'all
·6· ·have questions for me.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, he
·8· ·threw out a number last night that kind of
·9· ·scared me.· He said we've had 124 dentists
10· ·not renew, so that's a pretty good amount.
11· · · · Are you forecasting that's happening every
12· ·year now or --
13· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· That's hard to tell.
14· ·But the one good thing is, you do have quite
15· ·a bit of cash reserve, and so that -- and
16· ·you're collecting pretty much enough revenue
17· ·in a given year to cover your expenses during
18· ·that year.· And so, if your numbers keep
19· ·going down, then you could use some of that
20· ·reserve to make up the cash flow difference,
21· ·and then what you could do is increase your
22· ·fees.
23· · · · Denny and I talked about that, too.· He
24· ·said that they're setting your statute up to a
25· ·limit, and you can go up to that limit to
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·1· ·increase your fees.· But we talked about the
·2· ·fact that some of the fees are not in the
·3· ·statute and that you could probably add these
·4· ·through your Administrative Procedure Act.· And
·5· ·so, Denny had some ideas about that.
·6· · · · And I don't know if you talked to them
·7· ·about that in the meetings last night, but...
·8· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· I'll bring
·9· ·that up.
10· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Okay.· So, I mean, I
11· ·think you're still in good shape, but we will
12· ·want to keep up eye on it, especially with
13· ·some of the things that -- like these
14· ·one-time purchases for like a new computer
15· ·system.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So when we
17· ·have hearings like we just held and sometimes
18· ·the findings are we have a fine, plus related
19· ·expenses, can we add fees into that as well?
20· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· So the fines don't help
21· ·you because the fines go to the State, but
22· ·the fees do.· I mean, if you collect it in
23· ·the same year that the expense happened, then
24· ·that money gets added back into your budget.
25· ·So it's a reduction of expense instead of
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·1· ·increased revenue.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, in
·3· ·theory, those investigations should offset
·4· ·the salaries of investigators, right, and
·5· ·potentially paying all of us $40 to hear the
·6· ·case?
·7· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Right.· The $40, yes,
·8· ·because it's a refund of an expense.· As far
·9· ·as the salaries, the State will not allow us
10· ·to do that as a refunded expense because you
11· ·had the expense of the salaries anyway.
12· · · · But your corporate order is an expense
13· ·that you wouldn't have had.· The mileage to and
14· ·from, you could keep up with that.· That would
15· ·be a refund of an expense, but the salaries
16· ·would not be.
17· · · · And in the past -- I'll just say this,
18· ·when you have outside counsel, then the outside
19· ·counsel's cost could be added because that
20· ·would have been a cost that you didn't have.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So we
22· ·really --
23· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· And the way
24· ·Denise is saying it, you know, it's not a --
25· ·you said they don't charge it back to the

Page 135
·1· ·expense.· We can still charge for staff time
·2· ·and cost recovery and it will go to income
·3· ·revenue, but it doesn't go against the
·4· ·expense is what she's trying to say.· Now, to
·5· ·do that, though, we have to have very
·6· ·detailed records of, you know, Nick spent
·7· ·this number of times on here, and Westley...
·8· · · · But, yes, we can increase revenue that way
·9· ·through recovering costs.
10· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· But then
11· ·you've still got to look at your spending
12· ·authority, and that's where it becomes
13· ·somewhat problematic because you can recoup
14· ·all of that money; but then the next thing
15· ·you know, you can't spend it.
16· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yeah,
17· ·right.
18· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We're
19· ·constantly fighting on spending authority.
20· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· I've seen some boards
21· ·be able to say, "Should we gain this money,
22· ·then we can escalate" -- they get an
23· ·escalation clause in the --
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· That's right,
25· ·yeah.
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·1· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· So you could do that.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So if we
·3· ·lose Dennis, we could potentially lose
·4· ·Dennis's renewal fees.· We could increase
·5· ·some fees to renewals, but we potentially
·6· ·could add fees to some other things that we
·7· ·do; is that correct?
·8· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Denny, can you run
·9· ·it --
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· Yeah.· So I
11· ·think we have to -- I think we need a
12· ·facility permit fee for these events.
13· ·Anesthesia permits that we're issuing,
14· ·there's not one.· So what happened with
15· ·Regulation 13, when we did the local
16· ·anesthesia permits, in the regulation the fee
17· ·was put there.· So it's not in the Practice
18· ·Act.· So I don't see why we can't do in the
19· ·regulation for -- Regulation 30 to also
20· ·include the facility fee.· I think that would
21· ·be the easier route than trying to change it
22· ·in the Dental Practice Act.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I understand
24· ·that.· I just -- we're solvent, though,
25· ·right?
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·1· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Absolutely.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And we've
·3· ·done our due diligence as a Board overseeing
·4· ·this, correct, Dr. Smith?
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I think so.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
·7· · · · MS. DEROSSETTE:· Thank y'all.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·9· ·Now, we will move, I guess, to the Executive
10· ·Director -- do we have time to do the
11· ·Director's report before lunch?
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· It's up to
13· ·you.· I mean, it's not too long, but I have a
14· ·few things that I wanted to -- it will
15· ·probably take about ten minutes.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I'm kind of
17· ·looking at the schedule.· Are we going to be
18· ·able to finish by 2?
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· We'll have
20· ·to make it happen.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, can we
22· ·go take a lunch and be back in 45 minutes?
23· ·Can we start back at 12:45?
24· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HYDRICK:· (Nods head
25· ·affirmatively).
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· What about
·2· ·if we do that?· Yeah.· Okay.· It's not
·3· ·raining.· Let's take a recess for 45 minutes
·4· ·for lunch, and we'll meet back here at 12:45.
·5· · · · · ·(A LUNCH BREAK WAS TAKEN)
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I would like
·7· ·to call the Board back into session after our
·8· ·recess.· It looks like we are seven minutes
·9· ·late.
10· · · · So, Denny, where were we?· We were on the
11· ·Executive Director's report?
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yes,
13· ·sir.· So I submitted a copy of the report to
14· ·everyone.· I've got just a few things to
15· ·highlight and a couple of additions.
16· · · · One, I wanted to introduce Carrie Colbert,
17· ·our newest employee, a licensing
18· ·representative, but I think she has gone back
19· ·upstairs.· But Carrie, we're excited to have
20· ·her.· She's got a great personality.· She just
21· ·jumped right in and started and is picking up
22· ·on things really quickly.· So if you haven't
23· ·met her, be sure and take a moment to meet her.
24· · · · In looking over the things we've done over
25· ·the past quarter, I have a couple of things to
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·1· ·highlight.· One of the things that I've been
·2· ·wanting to do all year -- and it's taken me a
·3· ·year to find the time do it, and it's still
·4· ·kind of a work in progress.· But I was able to
·5· ·create an index of all of the Board minutes
·6· ·since 1994 into a searchable -- ability to
·7· ·search.· So when we're looking for historical
·8· ·information on, you know, local anesthesia, now
·9· ·we can put that in there and see when it was
10· ·addressed and in what Board meeting and what
11· ·year from 1994.· So I'm hopeful that's going to
12· ·make life more -- just make things work more
13· ·efficiently as we're searching historical
14· ·records.
15· · · · Some things that are coming up:· The
16· ·annual Board nominations open up on Monday.
17· ·Monday is a State holiday, but our database
18· ·system people will turn that ability on Monday
19· ·at 8 a.m., and that will run through
20· ·March 15th.· It will be set up by districts
21· ·for, you know, each person -- each licensee in
22· ·the district to nominate three licensees in
23· ·their district.· The caveat is that we've added
24· ·a rule that they have to have a license in
25· ·Mississippi for five years for them to be --

Page 140
·1· ·for their name to come up in that search
·2· ·because that's part of the statute to be a
·3· ·Board member.· So if someone's name is not
·4· ·coming up and they've only been licensed in
·5· ·Mississippi for two years, well, that's why.
·6· ·They're not eligible to be nominated.· That's
·7· ·really the only significant change to that.
·8· · · · We've got some scheduled times with
·9· ·different hygiene schools and the dental school
10· ·in March to do presentations to the sophomore
11· ·students and graduating students, so we're
12· ·looking forward to that.
13· · · · Just some dates to be aware of:· The
14· ·midyear meeting for the AADB is in Chicago in
15· ·April.· It's April the 12th and 13th.· If you
16· ·would like to go, if you'd let me know, I can
17· ·make sure we get the flights and hotels and all
18· ·of that arranged for you.
19· · · · The second page is just a listing of
20· ·current licenses.· The main thing, we've
21· ·already talked about it.· But just noted for
22· ·the purposes of the record here, you know, as
23· ·of this past week, we had 1,587 licenses --
24· ·general dentist licenses in Mississippi.
25· ·That's down around 124, 123, somewhere in
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·1· ·there, from last year.· About 70 of those are
·2· ·retirees or they have voluntarily voided their
·3· ·license.· The others either just missed the
·4· ·renewal or -- you know, most of them were
·5· ·living and practicing out of state anyway, so
·6· ·they may have just chosen not to renew.· Of
·7· ·that 1,587, 97 are listed as inactive.· So when
·8· ·you kind of peel that back, we're at about 1489
·9· ·or so actively practicing dentists in the State
10· ·of Mississippi at the present time.
11· · · · Just a note, as of this week, we've issued
12· ·24 local anesthesia permits to hygienists.
13· · · · I did not do a newsletter the last
14· ·quarter -- or the last three months of 2023.
15· ·There just wasn't a lot to put together.· And,
16· ·frankly, with the renewals, I just didn't have
17· ·a lot of time to do it.· But I will, hopefully,
18· ·get one out here in the next two to three
19· ·weeks.· If you would like to contribute
20· ·anything to that newsletter, I would love to
21· ·have some guest articles; or if you have an
22· ·idea about a topic or something to cover in
23· ·those newsletters, please let me know.
24· · · · I e-mailed everyone, so you should be
25· ·aware of it.· But the request for a lease
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·1· ·proposal went out for public notice on
·2· ·Wednesday of this past week, so it will be
·3· ·posted for 16 days in the Clarion-Ledger.· And
·4· ·at the end of those 16 days, I can see what
·5· ·type of response we've had.· We can extend it.
·6· ·We can do different things.· But as of today,
·7· ·I've only had one response.· So we'll see how
·8· ·that plays out.
·9· · · · I think those are the highlights that I
10· ·wanted to mention.
11· · · · Any questions about the -- oh, I did fail
12· ·to mention this:· When it comes to
13· ·investigations, we had 140 that came in in
14· ·2023; in 2022, there were 116; and, in 2021,
15· ·there were 93.· So we're seeing a pretty
16· ·significant uptick in complaints that are being
17· ·received.
18· · · · Now, a complaint is a complaint.· It can
19· ·be something that will be remanded, or it can
20· ·be more serious.· But, certainly, I think it's
21· ·worth noting that the volume has increased
22· ·significantly over the past two years.
23· · · · Any questions about that?
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.· I was
25· ·kind of busy listening to Dr. Williams.· What
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·1· ·did you say?· Who's going to South Carolina?
·2· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
·3· · · · Dr. Lampkin, Haley, and myself.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Oh, good.
·5· · · · The other thing is, were you going to
·6· ·mention the Compacts?· You sent out a -- is
·7· ·there anything we need to take up with this
·8· ·Compact deal yet?
·9· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So I
10· ·think that will need to come through the
11· ·Committee.· But, certainly, I would just
12· ·state more, in a public setting like this,
13· ·that I think it would behoove the Board to
14· ·take that up pretty quickly as something
15· ·under advisement to consider.· The CSG, which
16· ·is the Council of State Governments, Compact
17· ·is sponsored by the Department of Defense.
18· ·Three states have already signed on to that:
19· ·Washington, Iowa, and Tennessee.· They are
20· ·currently having conversations with 14 other
21· ·states at the legislative level.· I don't
22· ·know what states those are.· Kentucky, I do
23· ·know, is one of them, but that's all that I
24· ·know.
25· · · · And so, I think it's something that's
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·1· ·coming, and I don't believe it can wait another
·2· ·year for the Board to, you know, take up.· That
·3· ·is a concern or is something to consider.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· You had a
·5· ·comparison printed out.· Did you say it
·6· ·doesn't cost the State anything?
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· The CSG
·8· ·does, yes.· So there are two Compacts right
·9· ·now because the Council of State Governments
10· ·is the one, again, that's being promoted
11· ·through funding from the Department of
12· ·Defense.
13· · · · The AADB, the American Association of
14· ·Dental Boards, has created a -- they're an
15· ·alternative compact, and it more closely is
16· ·modeled by the medical -- the physician
17· ·Compact.· But that Compact doesn't cost the
18· ·State anything.· The cost is passed on to the
19· ·registrant or the licensee.
20· · · · For the CSG, what that is, is that's
21· ·actual legislation, where they go to the
22· ·Legislature.· And if it's put into law, all of
23· ·the member states split the cost.· And so, this
24· ·group, the CSG, has authority to buy buildings,
25· ·buy real property, anything that they so choose
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·1· ·to buy, and the states have to divvy it up and
·2· ·pay for it.
·3· · · · So they have a minimum of seven states
·4· ·that are required before they will start this
·5· ·process.· They've got three.· But if they only
·6· ·have seven, seven states are going to share the
·7· ·cost equally.· Each state will have one
·8· ·representative to represent that state on the
·9· ·Council.· But, ultimately, it's a majority.· So
10· ·if the majority chooses to make this decision,
11· ·you know, and Mississippi is one of those
12· ·states, we're going to pay our share of it even
13· ·if we voted "no" on that.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I don't know
15· ·if this is appropriate:· But you or our
16· ·attorney, could y'all bring us a
17· ·recommendation by the next Board meeting that
18· ·we might need to sign up?
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· We can,
20· ·but I don't think it can wait until the next
21· ·Board meeting, honestly.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Oh.
23· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I think
24· ·we need to be prepared.· And this was
25· ·something we were discussing a little bit
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·1· ·last night in our Committee meeting.· This is
·2· ·a very aggressive campaign to get states to
·3· ·sign on.· And I don't have any insider
·4· ·information other than -- but, I think,
·5· ·logically, if I were in their position --
·6· ·Mississippi is a connecting state for
·7· ·Tennessee.· So I would certainly go after
·8· ·connecting states that are already -- that
·9· ·are connecting a state that has already
10· ·signed on.· And so, I think we're probably
11· ·going to be on their radar.
12· · · · And if I can speak for Dr. Bishop, -- he
13· ·can speak for himself -- but he has a friend
14· ·who is in Tennessee, I think a former Board
15· ·member, and the Board was not even aware of it.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· It was done
17· ·before the Board was even aware that it had
18· ·happened.
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yeah.
20· ·So I think we really need to put some energy
21· ·into --
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, AADB
23· ·and Guy Shampaine are pushing this one really
24· ·good.
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· They're
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·1· ·wanting to do a presentation to the Board,
·2· ·you know, at any time.· We can certainly set
·3· ·up a Zoom, you know, meeting where they could
·4· ·do a presentation.
·5· · · · In my opinion, as a non-clinician in this
·6· ·situation, the CSG is not a good option for a
·7· ·lot of reasons.· But I think we're going to
·8· ·have to get on the bus with one, you know, if
·9· ·that makes sense.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.· Well,
11· ·what's the Board's pleasure?· Do you want to
12· ·get more information and then let us have a
13· ·special Zoom meeting, say, in a few weeks,
14· ·something like that, at the Board's pleasure,
15· ·or do you want to vote on it right now?
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I don't know
17· ·that --
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Is it that big
19· ·of a rush?
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· I don't have
21· ·enough information to --
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I don't want
23· ·to be a part of something that tells us how
24· ·much we have to pay for anything.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Right.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· I'd suggest
·2· ·that when we were at the AADB meeting, the
·3· ·President of the AADB said that they were
·4· ·working on putting together a presentation
·5· ·for the state boards, which should be good to
·6· ·go at this point.· I would suggest that we
·7· ·somehow see what they're doing.
·8· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· He's
·9· ·actually going to do that presentation this
10· ·afternoon on the call, the general assembly
11· ·for the CWC.· So he will be presenting today
12· ·the AADB version with some comparisons to the
13· ·CSG.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But we
15· ·probably will have a special Zoom meeting
16· ·about it?
17· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yes,
18· ·sir.· I think at least, you know, if we can
19· ·go ahead and make a decision and if the AADB
20· ·Compact is the one that this Board feels most
21· ·comfortable with, we can go ahead and start
22· ·the process of finding a legislator sponsor
23· ·to have conversations with.
24· · · · You know, if you're on the front end of
25· ·selling something, it's much easier than trying
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·1· ·to say, "This is bad.· Don't go here," if they
·2· ·already have an audience with the Legislature.
·3· · · · As I understand it, the CSG just kind of
·4· ·did this at the end of the 2023.· It's just
·5· ·like all of it was more talk and plans; and
·6· ·then, just out of the blue, -- I don't know if
·7· ·it was the last quarter or something -- they
·8· ·were able to somehow get these three states to
·9· ·sign on.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So at some
11· ·point you say this -- we have to be a part of
12· ·a Compact?
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I don't
14· ·think we have to.· But I think that if the
15· ·Board doesn't take some proactive action on
16· ·it, they're going to go to the Legislature
17· ·and you don't know what will happen.· And it
18· ·strips the powers of the Board pretty
19· ·significantly.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· From what
21· ·I've read, it's not -- okay.
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I think
23· ·my call this week with the CWC on Wednesday
24· ·night is kind of what lit a fire for me to
25· ·think, "Okay.· We can't be passive about this
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·1· ·anymore.· It's pretty serious."· And there
·2· ·are a lot of other things that are coming, I
·3· ·think, somewhat related to it.· But we're
·4· ·going to have to kind of get ahead of it.
·5· · · · You know, I'll be glad to answer any
·6· ·questions.· I'm not an expert on either
·7· ·Compact, but I can -- I did get yesterday from
·8· ·Kimber a comparison of the two, and I can
·9· ·forward those -- did I forward them?
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· You might
11· ·have.
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· But I
13· ·can forward them.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So the way
15· ·it goes is, we approve it, and then it's
16· ·taken to the Legislature and tell them that's
17· ·what we want?· Is that what you're saying?
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· That's
19· ·one route.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· That's one
21· ·route?
22· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· But
23· ·what -- yes.· But CSG -- and that's the only
24· ·way.· Let me back up.· That's the only way
25· ·for AADB to be implemented in a state.
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·1· ·They're not going out and going to
·2· ·legislators in the states trying to sell
·3· ·their Compact.· They're providing state
·4· ·boards an option to consider before the CSG
·5· ·comes in and goes directly to the
·6· ·Legislature.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, we
·8· ·heard last night that if he wanted something
·9· ·considered, didn't they say there was a
10· ·February 14th cutoff?
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yes.
12· ·For something new, yes, sir.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So we've got
14· ·to do this before --
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Or be
16· ·prepared for it.· That's the thing.· You
17· ·know, if the CSG doesn't come in by
18· ·February the 14th, well, then we've got
19· ·another year.· Does that make sense?
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· It's
22· ·just that we don't know what's happening
23· ·behind the scene.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Right.· We
25· ·don't want them to drop it the last day and
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·1· ·we're not prepared.
·2· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Right.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· Well,
·4· ·we're not going to vote today to do it.
·5· ·We're going to have to have a special meeting
·6· ·before.
·7· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yeah.
·8· ·I mean, I definitely understand that you
·9· ·don't have any information on really what to
10· ·vote on.· I just wanted to bring it to the
11· ·fact -- you know, to everyone's attention
12· ·that --
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Maybe we can
14· ·hear the presentation this afternoon and see.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· But
16· ·Kimber or Dr. Shampaine are willing to Zoom
17· ·in anytime.· So if we want to have just a
18· ·more intimate-type presentation where you can
19· ·ask questions, I'll be glad to set something
20· ·up.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· I think that's
22· ·our best bet, just personally having kind of
23· ·seen it already.· I was way more informed
24· ·when I was done with it than I was when I
25· ·started the presentation.
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·1· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I'll
·2· ·touch base with them and see when they might
·3· ·have some possible dates.· Would an evening
·4· ·or like a lunchtime-type thing work better
·5· ·for everybody, or does it just depend on the
·6· ·date?· I'll see if I can get a couple of
·7· ·options, and we'll poll everybody and see.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· Well,
·9· ·personally, like if we had it during the day,
10· ·I would have to cancel patients.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Yeah, me,
12· ·too.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· So it would
14· ·be better if it was --
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· And
16· ·that's not -- we don't want that.· I'll
17· ·figure something out.
18· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And that way
19· ·we can say we did our due diligence.
20· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Sure.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But I could
22· ·vote today.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Me, too.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Do we need a
25· ·motion?
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· If you want
·2· ·to.
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I will
·4· ·say that Alabama, I think Montana, and one
·5· ·other state is preparing this year to present
·6· ·the AADB Compact to their Legislature.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· Explain to me
·8· ·what the benefit of that is.· What's the
·9· ·benefit of --
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Of the
11· ·Compact?
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· -- going
13· ·ahead and being in the Compact?
14· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So it
15· ·depends on which one we're talking about.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· The one you
17· ·just mentioned, the AADB.
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So in
19· ·that one, each state -- so think of it
20· ·more -- the AADB Compact more as a
21· ·clearinghouse.· So instead of you making an
22· ·application to Mississippi and turning in
23· ·your transcripts and all that, they make an
24· ·application to the AADB.· So they have the
25· ·clearinghouse.· And so, then the states that
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·1· ·are part of that Compact license that person,
·2· ·and so they have to have a license in each
·3· ·state that they want to work in.
·4· · · · And so, you know, "clearinghouse" may not
·5· ·be the right word, but it's kind of a central
·6· ·database where the states can get access to
·7· ·licenses and you don't have to make multiple
·8· ·license applications.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. BISHOP:· They'll serve
10· ·as the original source.
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· That's
12· ·right.· That's the right way to say it.
13· · · · The CSG doesn't do that.· With the CSG,
14· ·you're licensed in one state, and it doesn't
15· ·necessarily have to be your home state.· So I
16· ·can have a license in Texas and live in
17· ·Mississippi; but if that state is part of the
18· ·CSG, then all of the other states have to allow
19· ·me to practice in them.· They do not have to
20· ·give me a license for that state.· So I'm not
21· ·practicing then, you know, in Mississippi with
22· ·a Mississippi license; I'm practicing with a
23· ·Texas license that is part of that Compact.
24· ·And so, if I get in trouble in Mississippi, the
25· ·Board can say, "You've got to leave the state.
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·1· ·You can't be here," but they can't report it as
·2· ·a disciplinary action.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· It sounds
·4· ·like it's coming from these big corporations
·5· ·that have a lot of different offices in
·6· ·different states and just ship people around.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And that's
·8· ·-- yeah.
·9· · · · This letter says that for the AADB, the
10· ·Compact requires a true hand skill testing at
11· ·only a CODA-accredited dental school.
12· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· That's
13· ·right.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So,
15· ·evidently, with the other one, you cannot
16· ·take a hands test and you cannot come from a
17· ·CODA school.
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Right.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So I think
20· ·the strongest -- the best one is the AADB.
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· And not
22· ·to cause even more apprehensions, but one of
23· ·the second largest concerns that is emerging
24· ·is issues with foreign-trained dentists.· And
25· ·so, there's one state that I won't mention
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·1· ·whose governor is basically forcing their
·2· ·licensing groups to license any
·3· ·foreign-trained person that brings a license
·4· ·to that state.
·5· · · · So he gave an example that in the
·6· ·Philippines, you go to what's equivalent of a
·7· ·two-year technical degree to become a dentist.
·8· ·So you basically have a junior college level of
·9· ·training in that country to be a dentist.· Now,
10· ·they can come to this state and get a license
11· ·in that state simply because they're licensed
12· ·in a foreign country.· And you know what?· In a
13· ·year, under UROLA, if they want to come to
14· ·Mississippi, they could come to Mississippi.
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, I make
16· ·a motion that we adopt the AADB Compact?
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· I'll
18· ·second it.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· There's a
20· ·second.· Now, we can have some discussion.
21· · · · I think it's the best thing for us, you
22· ·know, and especially if it doesn't cost
23· ·anything.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Yeah.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Dr. Grubbs,
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·1· ·do you have any comment that you want to make
·2· ·before we --
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You know what?
·4· ·Believe it or not, Robert, I do not.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·6· ·The motion is to accept this, and there is a
·7· ·second.
·8· · · · So all in favor, say "aye."
·9· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
11· ·"no."
12· · · · · · · · · (No response)
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
14· ·carries.· So sign us up.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I'll
16· ·touch base with them and see what we need to
17· ·do to start moving forward with that.
18· · · · Thank you.· That's all that I have for my
19· ·report unless you have any more questions.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I do not.
21· · · · So does that get us to No. 15, new
22· ·business?
23· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yes,
24· ·any new business that may be there.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I do have
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·1· ·a question.· We've been asked by CRDTS to
·2· ·accept them.· At some point, is that even
·3· ·going to be necessary?
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, I
·5· ·don't know, but we heard that --
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:  I
·7· ·understand.· I'm asking publicly.· So if
·8· ·we're part of the AADB Compact now, is it
·9· ·necessary for us to even say, "We accept
10· ·CRDTS exam," because we have to if people
11· ·apply by UROLA credentials or, now, if
12· ·they're a member of the AADB Compact?
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So at
14· ·present, AADB does not recognize CRDTS.
15· ·Okay?
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
17· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Second,
18· ·it doesn't change already established
19· ·pathways for licensure in the State of
20· ·Mississippi.· So I can come -- as a Compact
21· ·member, I can still come with my examination,
22· ·credentialing, and so on.· So there's still a
23· ·decision, I think, that would need to be made
24· ·one way or the other.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.· Very
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·1· ·good.· Thank you.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Remember, I
·3· ·had -- there was a case that I wanted to
·4· ·bring -- there was something that I wanted to
·5· ·talk about.
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Do you
·7· ·want me to --
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· You
·9· ·remember?· Yeah, you can tell --
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
11· · · · Dr. Lee?
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah,
13· ·Dr. Lee.
14· · · · Do y'all know David Lee from Greenville?
15· ·He used to be the journal editor of Mississippi
16· ·Dental.
17· · · · Okay.· He called me last week, and he also
18· ·called the office, I guess, and talked to Lou.
19· ·He surrendered his license five years ago when
20· ·he had a major stroke.· He never thought he
21· ·could practice dentistry, so he surrendered his
22· ·license.· He doesn't have complete use of his
23· ·left hand, and he says that he never can
24· ·practice dentistry again.· He can't work in a
25· ·mouth, you know, so to speak.
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·1· · · · But he said, "I could do hygiene checks.
·2· ·I never thought I would want to do that.· But,
·3· ·now, I've rehabbed and I miss it."· And he
·4· ·said, "I don't think there's a way" -- "we
·5· ·don't have any way in the Dental Practice Act
·6· ·that I could just check hygiene?"
·7· · · · And I said, "I don't think there's a way
·8· ·either, but I'll bring it up to the Board.· And
·9· ·let us, maybe, possibly discuss some way
10· ·that" -- I feel bad for him.
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· It
12· ·would be a restricted license is what you're
13· ·asking.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Right.· He
15· ·practiced for 35 years.· I know him in
16· ·Greenville.· I don't know.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· What does it
18· ·take to get reinstated for the full license?
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· He would
20· ·have to do -- it's been three years, so he
21· ·would have to take a practical exam to be a
22· ·dentist.· But doesn't want to practice.· He
23· ·can't.· But he said, "I feel like this" --
24· ·"getting back, it would help me, help me
25· ·mentally," you know.
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·1· · · · And I said, "I understand.· I see what
·2· ·you're saying."· And I said, "As we all get
·3· ·older, it may be that hygiene checks might be
·4· ·something.· There might be something we could
·5· ·do.· I don't know."
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Is there
·7· ·anything related to teaching institutions
·8· ·that we make concessions for, like the dental
·9· ·school or hygiene schools or something like
10· ·that?
11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· In the
12· ·Practice Act, we're able to give a special
13· ·designation, aren't we?· We can designate --
14· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· There's
15· ·some language -- I don't know that it's ever
16· ·been used --
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah, I
18· ·don't know either.
19· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
20· · · · -- where the Board can restrict a license.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I think --
22· ·we're going to be opening up the Dental
23· ·Practice Act from what I understand, right?
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Uh-huh
25· ·(affirmative).
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· If that's
·2· ·going to happen, I think we need to start
·3· ·some discussions on that because I've thought
·4· ·about that for years.· I know Walt, when he
·5· ·goes to Africa, he has Jim Long come over
·6· ·here and just walk around and say, "Hey," to
·7· ·everybody.· He never touches anybody, but he
·8· ·supervises the hygienists.
·9· · · · So there's a role for that.· There's a
10· ·call for it.· I think that would be a
11· ·reasonable thing for us to give consideration
12· ·to.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I think we
14· ·ought to send Nick up there to get that
15· ·straight.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I think we
17· ·just need to come up with the right
18· ·terminology and define it, a supervisory role
19· ·or a restricted role or whatever you want to
20· ·call it.· Yeah.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· If we have a
22· ·special thing and we've never used it but
23· ·it's on the books, why couldn't we use it?
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.· Why
25· ·couldn't we use it?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I wouldn't
·2· ·have an issue with it.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I mean, that's
·4· ·something even I would be interested in as I
·5· ·get into retirement.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Right.
·7· ·Yeah, same.
·8· · · · Can we do one for a restricted --
·9· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So the
10· ·issue, I think, in this particular case is,
11· ·you know, his license is void.· So we have to
12· ·navigate the reinstatement of a license.· So,
13· ·now, you're giving a license back.· It's not
14· ·taking an active license and giving a
15· ·restriction -- putting a restriction on it.
16· ·So it's much different than, you know -- so I
17· ·don't know.· Maybe Westley has a better take
18· ·on it.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Would there be
20· ·some way to write language where you can
21· ·actually issue a license from scratch that's
22· ·not a true dental license, but a restricted
23· ·dental license or whatever you want to call
24· ·it?
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· A new
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·1· ·license type?
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· That's what
·3· ·we need, yeah.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· That doesn't
·5· ·require a practical exam.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah, right.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· They have to
·8· ·do jurisprudence and some other things,
·9· ·but...
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I don't
11· ·know.· That's a whole new license type.  I
12· ·don't know that --
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yeah.· The thoughts just
14· ·are racing.· It sounds much more like a
15· ·limited license, and it seems as though
16· ·it's -- based on the discussion, it seems as
17· ·though a prerequisite is, at one time, a full
18· ·unrestricted license.· It's almost a
19· ·limitation from a full restricted license.
20· ·So you wouldn't want to create a pathway to a
21· ·limited license because then you're creating
22· ·a whole new class of practitioners, right?
23· · · · So I think it's something that, yeah, the
24· ·Board can take under advisement.· It's
25· ·interesting.· But perhaps some kind of pathway
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·1· ·of -- instead of -- it's almost similar -- I
·2· ·don't know.· I think about retirement as well.
·3· ·You know, we're kind of unique in how we handle
·4· ·people who retire, allowing -- we allow
·5· ·licenses to have certain designations at the
·6· ·end of their career.
·7· · · · So I don't know.· It might be possible.
·8· ·It might be possible.· It just requires more
·9· ·research.· Maybe refer it to a committee.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I think it's
11· ·worth exploring.
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· When we open
13· ·up that session, we just need to get the
14· ·right wording for it.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Yeah.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So we can at
17· ·least tell him we're going to look into it or
18· ·something, maybe?
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You need a workgroup or a
20· ·committee or something to really focus in on
21· ·this subject because, I mean, you're talking
22· ·about a whole new -- it's not necessarily a
23· ·whole new class.· But if we're talking
24· ·patient safety, the thing that concerns me is
25· ·that you have someone -- you're empowering
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·1· ·someone to practice.· And what we all
·2· ·understand as the traditional practice of
·3· ·dentistry, you're empowered to go into
·4· ·someone's mouth and do work.· Well, we're
·5· ·talking about a class of persons who are
·6· ·incapable or unqualified to do that.
·7· · · · And so, I don't know what more to say
·8· ·about it other than this would not be a quick
·9· ·determination.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I don't think
11· ·it would be more unreasonable than general
12· ·supervision of general hygienists when
13· ·there's nobody in the house at all.
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And I don't disagree in
15· ·terms of -- I don't necessarily think it's
16· ·unreasonable.· I think it may be not
17· ·practical to deliver this particular person
18· ·any form of a prompt response because I think
19· ·it would require the Board to take a broader
20· ·approach than just the one specific case.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Sure.  I
22· ·understand.
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's all.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But if we
25· ·maybe put a limit of, say, 30 years of dental
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·1· ·practice, that you have to have 30 years, you
·2· ·know, or 35, something like that, and we
·3· ·limit it real small.
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I definitely think there
·5· ·are possibilities for exploring things like
·6· ·that, having a minimum experience requirement
·7· ·and limiting what can occur.
·8· · · · I mean, you're also going to have to
·9· ·communicate to the public.· I mean, there's so
10· ·many things to think about, right?· Because,
11· ·then, how do you protect the public from going
12· ·to see someone -- looking online and seeing
13· ·that they have a dental license and then going
14· ·to that dentist and only receiving certain care
15· ·by that dentist.· There's just so much to think
16· ·through.· Not to say that we shouldn't do it,
17· ·it's just that it would be quite the
18· ·undertaking.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So the main
20· ·thing is, we have no avenue to do it, is what
21· ·you're saying, at this point?
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I don't feel comfortable
23· ·right now.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· All right.
25· ·So, Robert, all you can do is tell him, "We
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·1· ·talked about it.· We're looking into it, but
·2· ·don't get your hopes up."
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.· Well,
·4· ·just like Denny said, though, the Practice
·5· ·Act says special -- what does it say, Denny?
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· There's
·7· ·some language about the Board has the ability
·8· ·to restrict a license, but there's no real
·9· ·good understanding of what that means,
10· ·"restrict."· Is it a restriction, or is it,
11· ·you know, you're restricted due to a
12· ·disciplinary action, which I think has been
13· ·the way it's been used in the past?
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
15· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· And so,
16· ·you know, there's just not --
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And as we're sitting here
18· ·talking, it's funny.· The more discussion we
19· ·engage in, I think the clearer the issue can
20· ·become.· That's why I don't tend to criticize
21· ·people for long meetings because I do think
22· ·that they can be very productive.
23· · · · You would have to have -- you're
24· ·essentially -- in this specific case,
25· ·Dr. Smith, you're having to -- there would have
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·1· ·to be a concession or a modification to the
·2· ·traditional route of reinstatement; and that,
·3· ·in and of itself, is problematic.
·4· · · · So apart from the authority to even get
·5· ·him to the authority of holding a specific
·6· ·license, I don't see where there's a current
·7· ·reinstatement avenue that allows for him to
·8· ·practice.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Then you've
10· ·got the minimum CPR and all of that.· If he's
11· ·got non-use of his left hand, what happens if
12· ·an event occurs and then you're not able to
13· ·just do the basics?· It's concerning.
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· We've
15· ·talked about it.
16· · · · So does that take care of all of the new
17· ·business?
18· · · · · · · · ·(No response).
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· We're going
20· ·to consider going into executive session.
21· ·Does anybody want to make a motion to
22· ·consider it?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So moved.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in

Page 171
·1· ·favor, say "aye."
·2· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So, now, we
·4· ·want to go into executive session on pending
·5· ·investigations and disciplinary matters, to
·6· ·discuss that?
·7· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Yes.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So moved.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I've got a
10· ·motion.· We need a second.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER MS. BIRMINGHAM:· Second.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
13· ·All in favor, say "aye."
14· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
15· · · · · · ENTER EXECUTIVE SESSION
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· Who
17· ·is bringing up the remands?· Mr. Hardwick or
18· ·Westley?
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Nick will be addressing
20· ·those, sir, and I'll address the consent
21· ·orders.
22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· 16-A
23· ·on your computer.
24· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· As y'all have in
25· ·front of you, Exhibit A were the remands from
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·1· ·the investigations.· There's numerous of
·2· ·them.
·3· · · · Do you want to go down one by one, or do
·4· ·y'all want to glance through it to --
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Why don't we
·6· ·just glance through it and see.
·7· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Each one of the
·8· ·District Board members that reviewed the
·9· ·investigated dentists after discussion
10· ·between me and Sherese for that particular
11· ·one, that's where we derived at the remand
12· ·situation.· There was not enough allegation
13· ·there to prove anything.· We even had one
14· ·with just -- I'll just particularly point out
15· ·that with Group Dental, that even the dentist
16· ·that the complaint was against was not even
17· ·identified.· They couldn't even identify the
18· ·dentist.· So, you know, it naturally
19· ·warranted a remand.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So is that
21· ·Exhibit A in remands?
22· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Yes.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.  I
24· ·just wanted to mention that I did one, and
25· ·Dr. Bradley William is actually Williams.  I
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·1· ·don't know if that matters or not going
·2· ·forward.
·3· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· In that case
·4· ·number?· That's probably a typo on my part.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yes, I
·6· ·understand it being a typo.· But if it needs
·7· ·to be mentioned, his name is Williams.· And
·8· ·we're not related.
·9· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· I left my "s"
10· ·off.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm going to charge that
12· ·you were trying to conceal your relation.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I wanted to
14· ·make sure that there's no antitrust there;
15· ·there's no preferential treatment; and
16· ·there's no relation.
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Let's look into that
18· ·further.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The one on
20· ·the medical malpractice, she got hit for
21· ·$206,000 for not writing liquid antibiotics;
22· ·is that --
23· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· That's correct.
24· ·We hadn't gotten to that on the list, but
25· ·this -- when we were discussing remands.· But
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·1· ·that's under the NPDB filings.· There was no
·2· ·permanent damage there.· These are just the
·3· ·notifications that we were --
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I've never
·5· ·heard of anything like that.
·6· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· To answer your
·7· ·question, have I opened a case up on that one
·8· ·or any -- or those two and investigated them?
·9· ·No, not yet.
10· · · · You might want to discuss this -- if
11· ·you're going down the list, the -- jump back up
12· ·to the Letters of Concern.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· On the
14· ·remands, do we need to vote on that as a
15· ·group?
16· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Yeah, unless
17· ·y'all want to vote on this whole exhibit.  I
18· ·would suggest voting on the remands and then
19· ·we'll move down.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Yes, do the
21· ·remands first.· Let's separate it.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I move that we
23· ·accept the remands.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
25· ·There's a motion.· Is there a second?

Page 175
·1· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Thank you.
·3· · · · All in favor, say "aye."
·4· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
·6· ·"no."
·7· · · · · · · · · (No response)
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
·9· ·carries.
10· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· So moving on to
11· ·the Letters of Concern on this exhibit,
12· ·there's three names here that were related to
13· ·NPDB filings.· And, basically, these Letters
14· ·of Concern are -- and this is going to open
15· ·up for some discussion because we've had this
16· ·back and forth of them non-reporting of the
17· ·malpractice suits and those things.
18· · · · We had some gray area in discussion
19· ·between me and Westley.· If it's not -- I don't
20· ·know how to put it.· If it's not a permanent
21· ·damage settlement, say, an extreme death
22· ·settlement, those type things, then it's
23· ·not a -- and correct me, Westley, or pitch in
24· ·at any time --
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I do agree.
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·1· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· -- it's not
·2· ·disciplinary action.
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yeah.· So what is it?
·4· ·The -- I can pull up the regulation.· But,
·5· ·ultimately, the requirement regarding
·6· ·reporting of a NPDB action only applies when
·7· ·there is a permanent, I believe, physical
·8· ·injury.· I can't remember the wording
·9· ·exactly, but either a permanent injury or --
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Mental.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Go ahead if you have it
12· ·pulled up.
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I don't
14· ·have it pulled up, but it's a permanent
15· ·physical or mental injury.
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
17· · · · A permanent physical or mental --
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I'm
19· ·trying to find the regulation.
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Here it is.· It's 31.
21· ·So, "A permanent physical or mental injury
22· ·during or as the direct result of a dental
23· ·procedure or sedation," so a patient death or
24· ·permanent injury.
25· · · · If you have a temporary injury,
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·1· ·technically, you don't have to tell us that
·2· ·there was a settlement, bottom line.
·3· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Let me say this
·4· ·about these that are listed here.· There's
·5· ·one, two, three listed, and these all took
·6· ·place in District 4.· These cases were looked
·7· ·at, investigated, and reviewed by an
·8· ·investigative dentist, which is Dr. Grubbs.
·9· · · · In doing that, he recommended the cases be
10· ·remanded as far as the complaint of the
11· ·practice.· The listing here for the Letter of
12· ·Concern was because of the non-reporting of the
13· ·malpractice suit that we attained by NPDB.
14· ·That's the discussion on these cases before
15· ·you.
16· · · · Am I correct?
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· (Nods head
18· ·affirmatively).
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So we
20· ·need a motion to approve the Letters of
21· ·Concern?
22· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· That's what --
23· ·either deny or make a motion to approve the
24· ·Letters of Concern.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So you're
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·1· ·saying we need to send them a Letter of
·2· ·Concern because they didn't report?
·3· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Yeah.· And the
·4· ·problem lies by regulation, and that's where
·5· ·the gray area is.· By them not reporting to
·6· ·us and I get a notice from the National
·7· ·Database, I don't know whether patient harm
·8· ·is there or what that complaint -- they may
·9· ·not have been physically able to make a
10· ·complaint with us or maybe didn't want to
11· ·after they got a settlement in the lawsuit.
12· · · · So, you know, that's -- if we stand by
13· ·them reporting and putting the Board on notice
14· ·that they're being sued, then that gives me the
15· ·opportunity to go in and evaluate the case of
16· ·the actual problem.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Well, if I
18· ·interpreted Westley's comments just now,
19· ·those four under Letters of Concern, those
20· ·were all failures to diagnose.· There's no
21· ·mention of permanent damages of any kind.
22· · · · So why would they need a Letter of
23· ·Concern?
24· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Well, that's the
25· ·gray area.· Right.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You could not
·2· ·do anything or just do a Letter of Concern.
·3· ·A Letter of Concern does not show up on the
·4· ·National Database, but it gives them some
·5· ·notice that we looked at this really hard; we
·6· ·had some concern about it; and you need to be
·7· ·concerned about anything in the future.
·8· · · · I don't like it, but I would be -- and
·9· ·Nick knows this.· I wanted to just go ahead and
10· ·pop them for non-reporting it.· But, basically,
11· ·in the past, we've done it this way.
12· · · · So if anybody wants to do anything
13· ·different, let's do it.· But that's kind of
14· ·where we were.· Now, we had a case -- you know,
15· ·the big case that we had a few weeks ago where
16· ·we had an injury, and, of course, he got popped
17· ·on that.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Of course.· He
19· ·should have.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yes, sir.
21· · · · So that's the difference, is what we're
22· ·trying -- it's kind of a gray area.· So these
23· ·guys did what they were supposed to do.· Even
24· ·though they wound up getting sued on the
25· ·malpractice, they did what they were supposed
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·1· ·to do.· So it's almost -- I just felt like we
·2· ·had to do something.· Okay.· So I felt like
·3· ·they were doing what they were supposed to do.
·4· ·But if we do something to give them a little
·5· ·concern, which that's not anything, but they
·6· ·don't get it on the database, and that's the
·7· ·difference.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Should that be
·9· ·included in the Letter of Concern to reassure
10· ·them that it's not reported to the --
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It is included.
12· ·Essentially, there's a template that we
13· ·utilize and customize according to the facts.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· But there's
15· ·a regulation that says that you're supposed
16· ·to report to the Board if there's a
17· ·settlement against you, correct?
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· If there's permanent
19· ·damage --
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Correct.
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· -- or mortality.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Can I say
23· ·something?· And I know we're running really
24· ·late.
25· · · · Denny, could we not -- when we do a letter
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·1· ·that she puts out quarterly, could we take the
·2· ·top five or six things that we have issues
·3· ·with, like reportable deals, and just put in a
·4· ·little caption up there?· Because I can tell
·5· ·you that 99 percent of the dentists in
·6· ·Mississippi have no idea about this, and
·7· ·they'll tell you they don't have it.· And you
·8· ·know what?· Until I got on this Board, I didn't
·9· ·know it either.· So it's kind of tough.
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· I'll
11· ·try to highlight a regulation or two.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.· Could
13· ·we do something and just kind of rotate the
14· ·ones that we really have issues with?· That
15· ·way, -- and I know we don't have to do it --
16· ·it would still kind of be out there.
17· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
18· · · · Absolutely.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Or forget what
20· ·I said.· I'm just saying if you'll think
21· ·about it.
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We do the top
23· ·five violations every month to see exactly --
24· ·but it's the same thing we're seeing over and
25· ·over again just to let the public know.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· We shouldn't
·2· ·have to spoonfeed them.· I know that.· But if
·3· ·it would help somebody, that would be just
·4· ·great.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I move we
·6· ·send a Letter of Concern to these three
·7· ·people and move on.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Second.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in
10· ·favor, say "aye."
11· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
13· ·"no."
14· · · · · · · · · (No response)
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· The motion
16· ·carries.
17· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Next on the
18· ·items is just NPDB notifications, and we've
19· ·basically already --
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Just say it's for
21· ·informational purposes.· Make sure they know
22· ·that, please.
23· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Tell them for
24· ·me.
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And that's strictly for
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·1· ·informational purposes.· No action needs to
·2· ·be taken by the Board.· It's just an update.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· That second
·4· ·one there, did that really happen?
·5· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· I'll get back
·6· ·with you on that.· I can't tell you.· That's
·7· ·what was reported.· I have not opened an
·8· ·investigation on this.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· You're
10· ·talking about improper performance?
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· $206,000 for
12· ·failing to prescribe antibiotics?
13· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· That's what the
14· ·report said.· Now, I haven't pulled --
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· There's no admission of
16· ·liability in these settlements, mind you.· So
17· ·when there is a -- the subject matter is
18· ·what's reported, along with the payment, but
19· ·there's no admission of guilt.· So it was
20· ·contended that that was an issue, and it was
21· ·settled that that was an issue.
22· · · · And as Nick stated, subsequent to his
23· ·investigation, if there's sufficient evidence
24· ·to say that it was inappropriate, then you'll
25· ·see a case to that effect.· But right now, we
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·1· ·don't know.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· So did we
·3· ·investigate this case?
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No.· So this --
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· This was just
·6· ·reported?
·7· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's correct.· So when
·8· ·he receives NPDB reports, he notifies the
·9· ·Board of those reports that he's received and
10· ·then opens up cases subsequently to determine
11· ·whether there is actual actionable
12· ·information.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· So as a
14· ·lawyer, wouldn't you assume that there had to
15· ·be significant damages associated with this?
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
17· · · · $200,000?· Maybe.
18· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· On the
19· ·surface -- I'm with you.· On the surface,
20· ·there's red flags.· There's got to be
21· ·something there.
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Now, 900,000, yes.
23· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· D.K., I've
25· ·seen more cases settle in the last six months
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·1· ·than I've ever seen.· Of course, I haven't
·2· ·been on that Board in years and years.· But I
·3· ·don't know.· It was just insane the amount of
·4· ·money they're paying for this.· And I don't
·5· ·know if they're just chucking them off, "Just
·6· ·pay it, pay it, pay it."
·7· · · · But I can't believe some of these
·8· ·dentists -- I wouldn't let -- if I was on three
·9· ·out of four of those, I would have gotten my
10· ·own attorney.· Even though it didn't come out
11· ·of their pocket, they paid out of malpractice.
12· ·But it's just real questionable.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· On an
14· ·antibiotic claim, it would almost seem like
15· ·somebody had to have gone septic or something
16· ·because that's 200,000 just on your damages.
17· ·Somebody had a good lawyer or a bad lawyer,
18· ·one or the other.
19· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So we
21· ·don't need any action on that.· What about
22· ·going on to the proposed Consent Orders?
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's right.· So you
24· ·have the investigatory information including
25· ·the report of investigation.· You have the
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·1· ·applicable Board regulation for, I think, the
·2· ·corporate trade name, Regulation 55 or so.
·3· ·You've got a copy of the Consent Order that's
·4· ·been executed by Dr. Papania.
·5· · · · Ultimately, Dr. Papania submitted an
·6· ·application a few years back for the corporate
·7· ·trade name Medical Analysis.· And Dr. Papania's
·8· ·office is right next to a medical office that
·9· ·is named something Medical Analysis, something
10· ·very similar.
11· · · · The Board denied it, finding that it could
12· ·be misleading; and immediately thereafter or
13· ·close to thereafter, Dr. Papania submitted a
14· ·new application for approval of the corporate
15· ·trade name Dental Analysis, which was approved.
16· ·Letters were sent from this Board notifying
17· ·Dr. Papania of both actions, the denial and
18· ·subsequent approval.
19· · · · I don't recall -- perhaps you do, Nick --
20· ·how the investigation was initiated.· It may
21· ·have been the kind of thing where somebody was
22· ·driving down the road and saw it.
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I think it
24· ·was the Board President that --
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
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·1· · · · It was something like that.· But, in fact,
·2· ·Dr. Papania's office was utilizing the
·3· ·terminology "Medical Analysis," and there are
·4· ·pictures contained in the exhibits showing you
·5· ·exactly what was found.· You have, I believe,
·6· ·the door, the space above his office, the
·7· ·writing on the door, and a business card.
·8· ·Let's see here.
·9· · · · Excuse me.· Give me one more second.
10· · · · It has "Medical Analysis."· And then below
11· ·it, it says, "Dentistry - General, Emergent,
12· ·Dental Hygiene."· And then you have "Papania
13· ·Family Dentistry" right below it, "Medical
14· ·Analysis Dentist," and then, on a business
15· ·card, "Medical Analysis Dentistry - Two
16· ·Convenient Locations."
17· · · · And so, that's it, the using of a
18· ·corporate trade name in violation of the Board
19· ·regulation.· It was clearly denied and you have
20· ·a Consent Order to that effect.
21· · · · Go ahead, Nick.
22· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· I was just going
23· ·to explain that he had a billboard sign
24· ·within the parking lot of the complex; and,
25· ·then, on the front door, it had that, as you
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·1· ·can see the pictures of it.· And immediately
·2· ·when I walked in, on the front desk, they had
·3· ·the business cards using the name.
·4· · · · And in interviewing him and talking with
·5· ·him, he said, "Well, I thought we had that
·6· ·worked out.· We got it worked out."· That was
·7· ·his response back to me.· And it was never
·8· ·worked out.· It was denied back in -- I don't
·9· ·know.· What --
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· In '21 or something.
11· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Several years
12· ·ago.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Now that
14· ·we've got a compliance officer, is she going
15· ·to be responsible for checking all of these
16· ·things out, if they're in compliance?
17· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· She's
18· ·only ensuring that they comply with the
19· ·Consent Order, so pay the fines or whatever.
20· ·I haven't read the Consent Order.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Because that
22· ·was in 2018, and it's, you know, 2023 now.
23· ·Nobody checked it.· In four years, five
24· ·years, nobody checked it.
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Well,
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·1· ·it was a denial of a corporate trade name.  I
·2· ·don't know that it would have been checked by
·3· ·anybody anyway because, you know, that's just
·4· ·a denial of the --
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But then
·6· ·they came back and asked for the Dental
·7· ·Analysis -- I mean, the dental thing, and we
·8· ·said, "Okay."
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yeah, I mean --
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But nobody
11· ·checked it.
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· I think that
13· ·there's probably a presumption that if
14· ·somebody gets an approval --
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah, a
16· ·presumption that they were going to change
17· ·it, but they didn't change it.
18· · · · How many more in Mississippi are there
19· ·like that?· I don't know either.
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I wouldn't think many,
21· ·but, you know, who knows?
22· · · · But it is -- I think what Denny's point
23· ·was, it's kind of a distinction between
24· ·somebody that's been ordered something, okay,
25· ·as a result of a violation, whereas now -- or
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·1· ·excuse me -- denial of a corporate trade name,
·2· ·in and of itself, is not a violation.· It's
·3· ·just a denial.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But, now,
·5· ·see, they've got to sign a Consent Order; and
·6· ·we're going to say, "In 30 days, somebody's
·7· ·going to go check this and be sure that they
·8· ·have" -- somebody's going to check on our
·9· ·Consent Orders now?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· In this instance, I would
11· ·say that the Board would be well advised to
12· ·do follow-up regarding Dr. Papania.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah,
14· ·exactly.
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And I'll defer to Denny
16· ·in terms of how that's carried out.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, Wade
18· ·Bishop, our legal examiner down there, needs
19· ·to ride by the office and double-check it.
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That will do it.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So we've got
23· ·to pick and choose which Consent Orders we
24· ·check?
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· No.· That's
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·1· ·what I'm saying.· They all need to be
·2· ·checked.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I agree with
·4· ·you.· I just wasn't sure if I heard that or
·5· ·not.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Yeah.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I have a
·8· ·question.· There's four dentists' names on
·9· ·the door.· Why is only one getting --
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's a good question.
11· ·We went -- so according to the language of
12· ·the way that it's written, you really have
13· ·one person primarily responsible.· And that
14· ·is Dr. Papania.· He did make the filings on
15· ·behalf of this business.· Also, it was -- I
16· ·believe John Sullivan was no longer
17· ·associated with the business, and then I
18· ·can't remember about the other two.· We did
19· ·do a brief look to see kind of what the
20· ·status was with these other providers, but
21· ·none of them participated in filing the
22· ·documentation for which our regulations say
23· ·there's one person responsible, really.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· But if
25· ·they're working somewhere, aren't they
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·1· ·responsible for listing where they work?
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· They are.· And to be
·3· ·fair, there's part of the regulations that
·4· ·say, in a sense, you know, that you're
·5· ·responsible as well.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And are
·7· ·there hygienists that work there?
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I would have a hard time
·9· ·holding a hygienist accountable.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· We ask
11· ·hygienists to submit who they're working for.
12· ·Is there a hygienist working in this
13· ·practice?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The quick answer to that
15· ·is, I don't know.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· But is the
17· ·hygienist working for Dr. Papania, or is the
18· ·hygienist getting a paycheck from Medical
19· ·Analysis Dentists, P.A.?· I know there's a
20· ·P.A. listed on the business card, maybe, as
21· ·"John Sullivan, D.D.S., P.A."
22· · · · But if they're getting paychecks from
23· ·somebody that says "Medical Dental Analysis" --
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Part of the issue, I
25· ·think, that we ran into, Dr. Williams, is our
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·1· ·lack of records.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.· And
·3· ·I'm not -- I'm okay with however we proceed.
·4· ·But what I'm saying ultimately is, we talk
·5· ·about license issues and who has a license
·6· ·and who they work for.· And this is going to
·7· ·be a much, much bigger issue going forward
·8· ·with corporate dentistry getting a bigger
·9· ·footprint in the State of Mississippi as to
10· ·who you're working for.· And guess what?
11· ·Some of these entities are going to be owned
12· ·by out-of-state people that we have no
13· ·control over, but who we do have control over
14· ·is the dentist licensee and the hygienist
15· ·licensee.· We do have control over those
16· ·people.
17· · · · Now, I would submit to you that at the end
18· ·of the day, everybody that works there who gets
19· ·a license from the State of Mississippi should
20· ·be held to the same standard.
21· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Allow me a moment to find
23· ·the appropriate regulation.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I know.  I
25· ·just want you to keep that in mind going



Page 194
·1· ·forward.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Point well taken.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Because
·4· ·we're going to have hygienists working
·5· ·without a dentist in the building pretty
·6· ·soon.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So we need
·8· ·to get a motion to accept the Consent Order?
·9· · · · It's getting close to 2.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What's the
11· ·Consent Order?· What do we do?
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So the Consent Order was
13· ·modeled after Cynthia Thompson, who just
14· ·recently we approved a Consent Order for
15· ·practicing for several years at a location
16· ·without an approved trade name.· And so,
17· ·ultimately, it is a fine and -- let's see.  A
18· ·$500 fine, plus costs, a jurisprudence exam,
19· ·and that's it.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· What about
21· ·changing the wording and such?
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· What do you mean, sir?
23· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, I mean,
24· ·I thought our issue was the "Medical
25· ·Analysis" part.· Are they going to change
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·1· ·that?
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· He's been made aware.
·3· ·Now, I have not explicitly included it in the
·4· ·Order.· But, I mean, being found in violation
·5· ·of the regulation is in no way a condemnation
·6· ·of keeping the name.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· All right.· So
·8· ·when we do this, are we going to put a time
·9· ·limit on it?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We could.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Tiffany -- if
12· ·she's going to be our compliance officer,
13· ·we're going to have to put timelines on all
14· ·of this stuff because she can't just sit
15· ·there and wait for something to happen in six
16· ·months -- unless we're already doing it.  I
17· ·don't know.· Tell me.
18· · · · But you're going to have to have a
19· ·spreadsheet with all of this stuff out there,
20· ·check it, and --
21· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· That's what I'm
22· ·trying to do as far as --
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But we need to
24· ·give you a timeline so that you're very
25· ·specific about it.
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And I think that's fair.
·2· ·And, really, it could be -- and that's not
·3· ·something that I've included in the Consent
·4· ·Order.· But I think that it would be wise to
·5· ·include a timeline in which all signage is
·6· ·rectified.
·7· · · · So what would be a reasonable timeline?
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Don't ask me.
·9· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Well, in
10· ·your letter to him, it says, "This is
11· ·effective immediately once you sign it," I
12· ·think.
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It is.· I guess, you
14· ·know, the point that I'm hearing being made
15· ·is that you can't necessarily assume
16· ·someone -- even by understanding he's in
17· ·current violation -- we may be setting up,
18· ·for example, our compliance officer.· Well,
19· ·at what point do we say, "Why haven't you
20· ·fixed it yet?"· We could be more explicit to
21· ·say, "You have ten days to get this
22· ·rectified."
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Thirty days.
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Thirty days.
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Or 30 days --
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· -- to get this rectified
·3· ·as opposed to leaving it open-ended.
·4· · · · Frankly, I think I'm guilty of making the
·5· ·assumption that, "Yeah, somebody is signing a
·6· ·Consent Order.· It's effect-" -- "persons have
·7· ·already made the change or are going to make
·8· ·the change."· But if we don't explicitly
·9· ·include that, it does become more gray.· Why
10· ·not make our lives easier?
11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But since
12· ·he's already signed this one, then we've got
13· ·to go with this?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No, sir.· Here's what I
15· ·would propose:· I would propose that -- so
16· ·this is always subject to Board approval.
17· · · · So you can make a motion to approve this
18· ·with the inclusion of language that all
19· ·signage -- all signage -- I'm thinking if
20· ·there's additional language that needs to be
21· ·included.
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We do need to
23· ·do one that's signage, cards --
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· "All representations to
25· ·the public concerning this corporate trade
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·1· ·name shall cease and be changed to the
·2· ·approved corporate trade name, Dental
·3· ·Analysis, within 30 days from the date the
·4· ·Board President executes the Consent Order."
·5· ·That's the language that I would use.
·6· · · · And so, you make that motion, and I will
·7· ·include that language, and I will -- so this
·8· ·will also be subject to Dr. Papania agreeing to
·9· ·it.· I see no reason why he wouldn't agree to
10· ·it.· But that's the motion that I would
11· ·recommend.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Can I add
13· ·something?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yes, sir.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Why can't we
16· ·put in there that, "You have to fix this
17· ·within 30 days and show us evidence that you
18· ·have done this"?· And that would make her job
19· ·so much easier.
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Even better.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· She doesn't
22· ·have to get on the phone.· It's just
23· ·something in the mail, and it's done.
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Submit photographic
25· ·evidence, you know, or photographs?· Is that
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·1· ·what we want?
·2· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Thank you.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Who wants to
·4· ·make that motion?
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I'll make
·6· ·that motion.
·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay,
·8· ·Dr. Carlton.
·9· · · · Is there a second?
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Second.
11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
12· ·So with the correction, we're going to add
13· ·the 30 days.· And the motion is to accept the
14· ·Consent Order.
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
16· · · · Photographic evidence.
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
18· ·All in favor, say "aye."
19· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
21· ·"no."
22· · · · · · · · · (No response)
23· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
24· ·The motion carries.
25· · · · I guess the next thing is the Compliance
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·1· ·actions consent orders.
·2· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Okay.  I
·3· ·divided from the CE what we require them to
·4· ·show us completion of it and then showing
·5· ·that they paid their fine.· Everything that's
·6· ·highlighted in yellow means they've completed
·7· ·it and they are in compliance.
·8· · · · If you scroll down -- and on the very back
·9· ·page, we have Cynthia Thompson, Reuben Little,
10· ·Lee Gary, and Jeff Zimmerman.· Those were
11· ·different because we had one for advertising
12· ·and the other ones that had different
13· ·infractions.
14· · · · We see that Dr. Little is out of
15· ·compliance.· His fine of 5,000 is past due.· It
16· ·was due on December 27th, 2023.
17· · · · Lee Gary is in gray because he still has
18· ·to enroll in the Promethean course.· He has not
19· ·done that.· But he has been made inactive, and
20· ·he also has paid his fine, and he has taken his
21· ·jurisprudence exam.
22· · · · And Dr. Zimmerman has not enrolled in the
23· ·PROBE Plus Program, and he is out of compliance
24· ·as well.
25· · · · What I would also like to say is, in
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·1· ·keeping up with this compliance, as far as I
·2· ·know, we have not assessed costs.· We have not
·3· ·recuperated any costs from any of these
·4· ·investigations.· So we need to decide how
·5· ·that's going to be done.· Because from
·6· ·Dr. Zimmerman's, we still haven't recuperated
·7· ·costs from that past case, and then Dr. Gary,
·8· ·Dr. Little.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What are we
10· ·missing from Zimmerman?
11· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Costs from the
12· ·first Consent Order.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· All right.
14· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· And
15· ·Dr. Thompson, too, you know, is advising.
16· ·But we don't have a letter sent to them that
17· ·shows how much they owe us.· They have not
18· ·been generated.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Dr. Gary, I
20· ·think -- I'm not going to recommend we do
21· ·anything about this.· But I think he was a
22· ·day late paying his money; is that correct?
23· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
24· · · · Technically, yes.
25· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· I think so,
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·1· ·yes.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You have that?
·3· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· I put that he
·4· ·paid on 12/7.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But the Board
·6· ·needs to be aware of that.
·7· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And I'm not
·9· ·saying -- if somebody wants to do something
10· ·about it, you'll have to do it because I'm
11· ·not involved with it.· But he was a day late
12· ·in paying his money.
13· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Correct.· The
14· ·ones that are out of compliance right now are
15· ·Dr. Little.· He has not paid his $5,000 fine,
16· ·and he actually has until the 27th of this
17· ·month to complete those 40 hours of CEs; and
18· ·then Dr. Zimmerman has not enrolled in the
19· ·PROBE Plus Program.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But Zimmerman
21· ·has a period of time that he can do that; is
22· ·that correct?
23· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· He's out of
24· ·compliance.
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· December the
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·1· ·21st was his deadline.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, I
·3· ·thought that was an automatic 30-day
·4· ·suspension with him.· Am I not correct?
·5· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No, sir.
·6· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· For failure
·7· ·to comply?
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· No.· Because
·9· ·we gave him plenty of time.· Remember,
10· ·Westley, you actually brought it to our
11· ·attention.· But he took the first PROBE
12· ·course?
13· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes, sir.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.· He's
15· ·current on that.
16· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· And then he has
17· ·a certain amount of time to enroll in the
18· ·next one and --
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· He's just not
20· ·enrolled in it?
21· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Correct.· Yes,
22· ·sir.· So he's out of compliance --
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But he does
24· ·have time to do it?
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· No.· He did
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·1· ·have time.· He just didn't do it.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· He was
·3· ·supposed to be enrolled by January 2nd, 2024,
·4· ·according to this.
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· The deadline
·6· ·was December the 21st.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Look, I'm not
·8· ·taking up for him.· I just want to make sure
·9· ·I understand.· If he didn't comply, he was
10· ·supposed to be jerked for 30 days; is that
11· ·correct?
12· · · · I believe Dr. Carlton made that motion,
13· ·didn't you, John?
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I can't
15· ·remember all of the details.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I'm just
17· ·kidding.· You mentioned it one time.
18· · · · I mean, Westley actually sat right here
19· ·and said, "There's no way he can do that last
20· ·course, so you're going to have to give him to
21· ·a certain period of time."· I just want to make
22· ·sure we're correct on this.· He can have a
23· ·certain period of time to get this last course
24· ·in, which is the only thing he's lacking,
25· ·correct?
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·1· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· No.
·2· ·Dr. Zimmerman just had a new Order produced
·3· ·from the AG's Office, where he owes another
·4· ·thousand dollars.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah, I got
·6· ·that.· He's paid that?
·7· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· No.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.· Well,
·9· ·then, we need to pull up this thing and get
10· ·it straight right now because we're not -- my
11· ·understanding was, if he didn't do --
12· ·anything.· If he stubbed his toe on anything,
13· ·he got suspended for 30 days.
14· · · · But what's in the Order?· We don't have
15· ·the Order?
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm looking.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So when was
18· ·the thousand dollars due?
19· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· We have not
20· ·sent that letter out yet because we just got
21· ·the Court Order from the AG's Office.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And we had
23· ·that hearing --
24· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· He paid the
25· ·first one.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· What day did
·2· ·we have the hearing?
·3· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:
·4· · · · October 27th.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Dang.
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· And we
·7· ·just received the --
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That's
·9· ·two months and two weeks to just get us -- I
10· ·mean, we decided all of that that day.
11· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Yes,
12· ·sir.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And it's
14· ·taking them that long?· What are they doing
15· ·over there?
16· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I've got no
17· ·comment.· You got mine within a week is all
18· ·I'm going to say.· You got mine within a
19· ·week.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So are you
21· ·saying he hasn't been noticed?
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
23· · · · So Dr. Grubbs is correct in that -- yeah,
24· ·it looks as though -- so we just received the
25· ·Final Order from the AG's Office.· I have it
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·1· ·here, and I have it here to be executed by
·2· ·Dr. Smith.· As soon as that is executed, that
·3· ·Order goes into effect.
·4· · · · And you are correct, from reading the
·5· ·order, that failure to pay the fine according
·6· ·to these terms -- or, no.· Wait.· That's --
·7· ·whoa.· It just says, "Failure to pay the fine
·8· ·according to these terms."· It does not say --
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· It was
10· ·supposed to say "anything," and we discussed
11· ·this.
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Well, so she -- not to
13· ·take up, but that was the purpose of when we
14· ·disseminated -- at one point, we disseminated
15· ·the Final Order, the proposed Final Order for
16· ·any feedback.· And I followed up with her,
17· ·and she did not receive any feedback.
18· · · · And so, this is -- now, this has not been
19· ·executed.· Okay.· So shifting gears, because
20· ·it's not an executed Final Order, it's not
21· ·effective.· So what I'm hearing is, this Final
22· ·Order is inaccurate.· So the Final Order could
23· ·still be corrected and then be executed and
24· ·then be implemented, which would be, from what
25· ·I'm hearing, if this Board agrees that is what
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·1· ·was correct -- or is correct according to what
·2· ·was determined at the hearing, is that there
·3· ·would be an immediate suspension following any
·4· ·noncompliance.
·5· · · · And I'm reading this here, "Shall pay a
·6· ·$1,000 fine.· Failure to pay fine according to
·7· ·these terms will result in an immediate
·8· ·suspension of licensure for 30 days.· Licensure
·9· ·will be reinstated automatically at
10· ·expiration."· But that does not address the
11· ·PROBE Plus.
12· · · · Does the Board -- I hear Dr. Grubbs say
13· ·that, and I'm fine going back to the Attorney
14· ·General representative with those corrections.
15· · · · But does anyone else have that
16· ·recollection?
17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Tell me
18· ·about -- we have to send -- you drew up the
19· ·Consent Order, and then you have to send it
20· ·over to the Attorney General's Office?
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No, sir.· They draw it
22· ·up.· They draw up the Final Order.· And then
23· ·she asked that I basically send it out to
24· ·you-all for you-all to provide any comment.
25· ·And that's essentially it.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Can I say
·2· ·something?· This is almost in defense of Jeff
·3· ·because, Westley, you sat right there and we
·4· ·gave him a timeline that he could not
·5· ·fulfill.
·6· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I do remember that.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And you came
·8· ·in and said, "Guys, he can't do that."· And
·9· ·we all agreed to give him an extension to
10· ·give him the amount of time.· Nothing to do
11· ·about the thousand dollars, now, okay, but
12· ·the PROBE course.· That gave him plenty of
13· ·time into this year, June -- or I don't know.
14· ·That would give him plenty of time to take
15· ·the course, okay, which I didn't have an
16· ·issue with that at all.
17· · · · But, now, you're telling me he didn't even
18· ·pay the fine, or he has not even been submitted
19· ·this information?
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· No, no.· So according to
21· ·his first -- his initial Consent Order, he
22· ·had to complete the PROBE and he had to --
23· ·within three months of completion, he had to
24· ·sign up for PROBE Plus.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's the issue.· He's
·2· ·always been aware of that.· It was in the
·3· ·original Consent Order.· He never signed up
·4· ·for PROBE Plus after he completed PROBE.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· All right.
·6· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We had the hearing of
·7· ·noncompliance -- when we had the
·8· ·noncompliance hearing, he was not yet tardy
·9· ·with signing up with PROBE Plus.· He still
10· ·had time.
11· · · · Okay.· And since that time, since the
12· ·hearing, he's become delinquent.· And so,
13· ·that's a violation of that Consent Order that's
14· ·still effective.
15· · · · This Final Order that was produced as a
16· ·result of that hearing does nothing more than
17· ·add an additional fine.· He's not responsible
18· ·for paying this fine until he receives this
19· ·Order, for example, "Shall pay a fine which
20· ·must be received 30 days from the day that the
21· ·Board" -- "that the Order is executed."· So
22· ·until he receives it, he doesn't have to pay
23· ·the fine.· So he'll have 30 days once he gets
24· ·it.
25· · · · The problem is, from what I'm hearing, is
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·1· ·that the automatic suspension -- and I don't
·2· ·know.· I'm not privy to executive session, so I
·3· ·was not a part of those discussions.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So that was
·5· ·not a question, in my opinion.
·6· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And so --
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But I don't
·8· ·know how you're doing on the timing thing.  I
·9· ·can't -- I just know that you spoke up and
10· ·said, "There's no way he can do that.· You
11· ·have to do this."· And that's all I remember.
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· I do recall that
13· ·when it was read on the record, I spoke up
14· ·to -- and, frankly, I don't know that I even
15· ·see that that is addressed.
16· · · · I can't recall specifically, Dr. Grubbs.
17· ·But I know that there was a timeline that was
18· ·discussed about getting him to complete
19· ·everything, and my objection at the time was,
20· ·"PROBE Plus takes six months."
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And so --
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And nobody
24· ·disagreed with that.· I can tell you that.
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yes, sir.
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·1· · · · So, today, I think, when Tiffany brings
·2· ·that to the Board, the issue is that he's out
·3· ·of compliance again.· And so, according to this
·4· ·Final Order, I need to know whether I need to
·5· ·go back to the Attorney General rep and say,
·6· ·"Hey, they believe that they asked for" -- or
·7· ·that, "This is incorrect.· This Order is
·8· ·incorrect," or the Order gets executed and we
·9· ·still need to vote on what to do with him
10· ·because he's noncompliant again?
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· This is -- I
12· ·mean, how many times are we going to vote on
13· ·it?
14· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I was going
15· ·to say, if he's not in compliance, I guess we
16· ·need to pull his license.
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The problem is, the Order
18· ·does not address noncompliance in the form of
19· ·the PROBE Plus.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, I'm
21· ·looking at the February Order, though.
22· ·That's the key.· If I can get this phone to
23· ·work.· Look at the February Order.
24· · · · See, the whole point was --
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· It's on
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·1· ·page 41 of our document today -- well, the
·2· ·minutes are.· Like in the -- I mean, I'm
·3· ·reading page 41.
·4· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· So in the
·5· ·February Order, it talks about the PROBE
·6· ·Plus; it talks about the fine; and I thought
·7· ·it had requirements on it.
·8· · · · Now, my point is, the second hearing, the
·9· ·one that he's got, was merely, "You didn't do
10· ·it.· We're going to charge you another thousand
11· ·dollars."
12· · · · There was already in the first Order a
13· ·penalty for, "If you don't do the other stuff."
14· ·And so -- but I can't -- what did it say?· What
15· ·does the February Order say, or do we not have
16· ·it in there?· I didn't see it in there.· It
17· ·said, "You have to do it," but I don't think it
18· ·said anything about pulling his license.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· On line 14
20· ·on page 146, or page 41 on our document, the
21· ·header says, "Board Member Williams:· No, no,
22· ·no.· What I'm saying is that he could be --
23· ·he could be in violation of the $1,000 fine
24· ·and have a 30-day suspension.· He could be in
25· ·violation of registering for the course and
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·1· ·have a 30-day suspension; is that right?"
·2· · · · "Board Member Curtis:· Yes."
·3· · · · "Board President Smith:· Yes."
·4· · · · And Mutziger says, "So I understand an
·5· ·order will be produced to this effect, right?"
·6· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So that only addresses
·7· ·the fine, so that would suggest the Order is
·8· ·correct according to that.· But let's back
·9· ·up.· The discussion goes further --
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Oh, yeah, it
11· ·starts way back.· I mean, there was a lot
12· ·of --
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· "Six months, which is" --
14· ·Okay.· There's the six months --
15· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· So it says
16· ·that, "Failure to comply with the terms of
17· ·this Consent Order may result in further
18· ·disciplinary against the respondent's
19· ·license."
20· · · · So we did not say what we were going to
21· ·do --
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· In the original Consent
23· ·Order, --
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· -- in the
25· ·original.
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· -- and that's the reason
·2· ·why we had the proceeding.
·3· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Right.
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· But in the subsequent
·5· ·one, according to this, at least -- and I'm
·6· ·glad you pointed that out, Dr. Williams.
·7· · · · According to the minutes, what we
·8· ·discussed -- wait a minute.· You're on page 41.
·9· ·Go down.· And I have -- I'm going to quote
10· ·myself, "And I do have an additional question
11· ·as well.· Is there any additional action on
12· ·behalf of the Board that's required to submit
13· ·the following" -- "to submit the showing of
14· ·failure payment fine for the" -- wait a minute.
15· ·That's not right.· "To submit the showing of
16· ·failure of payment" --
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So this all
18· ·has to do with the October 21st CO that was
19· ·going to be issued that, apparently, we're
20· ·just now issuing, right?
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Correct.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So we were
23· ·in...
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· "Payment of fine,
25· ·register" -- "he has registered or enrolled
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·1· ·in" -- okay.· So still reading.
·2· · · · Okay.· I would say -- Dr. Conaway chimes
·3· ·in, "You may want to clarify the 30 days is
·4· ·based on the fine or is 30 days based on the
·5· ·registration of the course or both?",
·6· ·Dr. Conaway chiming in.
·7· · · · "President Smith:· Both."
·8· · · · "Williams:· It is both.· It is either both
·9· ·or" --
10· · · · "Mr. Malone:· Failure to comply with
11· ·either of these terms would result in the
12· ·30-day suspension."
13· · · · "So it could be both?," Williams.
14· · · · "Love:· Well, one has a later date, so I
15· ·think" -- and then she says, "That's correct."
16· · · · "No, no.· What I'm saying is he could be
17· ·in violation of...; isn't that right?"
18· · · · Yeah, I agree with you.
19· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· What did the
20· ·Order say?
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· But this was
22· ·all relative to the second Order?
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· So I need to go
24· ·back and address these minutes with Ms. Love
25· ·and get that changed is what it looks like.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And he has
·2· ·never even been presented with the second
·3· ·Order from October 27th?
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yeah.· The Final Order,
·5· ·correct.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· So what do we
·7· ·do?
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Nothing.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· We can't do
10· ·anything because he --
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· We can't do
12· ·anything to him.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, now,
14· ·wait a minute, though.· He still has got
15· ·failure to comply.
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So as soon as the Order
17· ·is corrected and executed, a suspension will
18· ·be immediately imposed.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· What I'm
20· ·saying, though, is that he is not in
21· ·compliance with not registering for the
22· ·course for 30 days, --
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Correct.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- but that
25· ·was not in the original CO, to lose your
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·1· ·license for 30 days.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It was, wasn't it?
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That was not
·4· ·until October 27th, when he --
·5· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· But not to be suspended.
·6· ·You're right.· We would have to bring him
·7· ·back to another hearing.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So when we
·9· ·had him back here on October 27th, then we
10· ·said, "All we can do is a $500 for two
11· ·violations each, which was $1,000; and if you
12· ·don't register for the course by this day,"
13· ·or whatever, either one, not paying the
14· ·thousand-dollar fine or not registering for
15· ·the course by the deadline would result in a
16· ·30-day suspension.· And that's what I was
17· ·trying to get clear with Ms. Love that day.
18· · · · But he hasn't even been -- he's past the
19· ·deadline to register according to the first CO,
20· ·but the penalty for that was lined out in the
21· ·second CO that he's never been --
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So what we need to do is,
23· ·I need to go back to Ms. Love and get this
24· ·changed and then get it executed.· And once
25· ·it's executed, there will be an automatic
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·1· ·penalty.· I'm glad that you picked up on that
·2· ·because otherwise --
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What is the
·4· ·automatic penalty?
·5· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
·6· · · · Suspension for 30 days, according to the
·7· ·Order.· It just wasn't in there.· And according
·8· ·to the minutes, that's what it should have
·9· ·been.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Could he
11· ·fight that?
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So he
13· ·doesn't have to sign the second CO.
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· He doesn't sign it.· It's
15· ·not a CO.· It's a Board Order.· It's issued
16· ·against him.· Whether he agrees to it or not,
17· ·that's the Order of the Board.· He has no
18· ·say-so.
19· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Despite it being sent out
20· ·now rather than last --
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· (Nods head
22· ·affirmatively).
23· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· So there's no way he can
24· ·appeal that to say, "I didn't receive this"?
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I mean, I'm not taking
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·1· ·up.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:  I
·3· ·understand.
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It's only one Order.· But
·5· ·I come from an agency where you have 20
·6· ·orders.· And you can understand why 20 takes
·7· ·so long, right?
·8· · · · But, no, I've seen, actually, worse.· Not
·9· ·to defend, but I've seen worse than this in
10· ·terms of timeliness.· It's not best practice,
11· ·but --
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· On 12/14 is
13· ·when it was sent out to y'all to look at, so
14· ·she gave y'all time to respond/not respond,
15· ·and then --
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I followed up with her
17· ·several times until I finally got her -- I
18· ·talked to her, I think it was, on Monday.
19· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Yeah, I
20· ·remember we talked about it.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· What's her
22· ·name?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Kristen
24· ·Love.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· But, still,
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·1· ·we need to have closer follow-up.· We need to
·2· ·know.· I mean, can't you just call the AG's
·3· ·Office and bug them to death?· I mean, that's
·4· ·ridiculous to go on like this.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And I didn't
·6· ·open this to go after Jeff.· You know, I was
·7· ·fine with you giving him the extension
·8· ·because it gave him enough time to do it.
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But it still
11· ·doesn't give him the right to just do
12· ·nothing, just do nothing.· I hate that.
13· ·That's just crazy.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· The only
15· ·thing he's in violation of right now is not
16· ·registering for the course.· He hasn't even
17· ·been made aware of the thousand-dollar fine
18· ·and the penalty that, "You are going to lose
19· ·your license for 30 days if you don't" --
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But, yet,
21· ·we're fixing to suspend his license.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That's what
23· ·I'm saying.· He's not even been made aware of
24· ·that, and I think that's --
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· That will be
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·1· ·fun.· That will be real fun.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So if he
·3· ·gets an attorney, I mean --
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Let me make sure I'm
·5· ·following you.· So state your concern.
·6· ·Finish your thought.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, my
·8· ·concern is that when he -- the original CO
·9· ·said he had to take the courses and pay the
10· ·$2,000 fine.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Uh-huh (affirmative
12· ·response).
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· He didn't
14· ·pay the $2,000 fine within 30 days, but he
15· ·did pay the fine.· He registered for one part
16· ·of the course on the 29th of June or
17· ·something, the day before the deadline or
18· ·something.· And then we're here in August and
19· ·we said, "Well, he's got to take the PROBE
20· ·Plus course," right?
21· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Uh-huh (affirmative
22· ·response).
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And you
24· ·said, "He can't take it for a while."· So
25· ·when we get this CO, then we can get through
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·1· ·this thing.· So on October 27th, we have a
·2· ·hearing --
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm following you.  I
·4· ·think the saving grace is the fact that it
·5· ·was always a requirement within the initial
·6· ·Consent Order.· It's just the Board, at a
·7· ·later date, ultimately determined, "Well,
·8· ·he's had one violation.· Another violation,
·9· ·this is going to be the remedy."· He was
10· ·already on notice of the requirement and the
11· ·timetable for the requirement.
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I do
13· ·understand that.· But the penalty for this,
14· ·for violating the October 27th Consent Order,
15· ·is significantly more punitive than the other
16· ·one.
17· · · · And while I'm not trying to take up for
18· ·the guy, if he doesn't get a document until
19· ·after the date that says, "You're going to lose
20· ·your license if you don't sign up for something
21· ·by that date," that seems a bit --
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· All right.
23· ·So let me -- in case you want to know, this
24· ·is what I think.
25· · · · The Order -- the first Order, I just
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·1· ·looked at it, and it just said, "Additional
·2· ·disciplinary action may occur."· All right.· So
·3· ·then we do the next hearing, and we impose
·4· ·additional -- i.e., the thousand dollars.
·5· · · · So on this Order that we're going to have
·6· ·to send back, it's going to be $1,000, the
·7· ·PROBE Plus; and at that time, however far out
·8· ·you want to give him, 30 days to -- I mean,
·9· ·because we're talking about registering, not
10· ·completing it -- 30 days, pay us our money,
11· ·register.· If you don't do that within 30 days,
12· ·it's a 30-day suspension.
13· · · · I don't think you can -- I don't think on
14· ·this Order -- because I didn't see anything
15· ·about suspension.· I don't think on this Order
16· ·you can say, "A thousand dollars, and we're
17· ·going to suspend you for 30 days."
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, what
19· ·it's saying on this Order, it already defines
20· ·the 30-day suspension if you haven't
21· ·registered for PROBE Plus by December
22· ·the 27th.
23· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Did it say a
24· ·30-day suspension?
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· State it again, please.
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·1· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I don't think
·2· ·it says that on this Order.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· The
·4· ·October 27th CO says, "You have to pay a
·5· ·$1,000 fine and register for the course by
·6· ·the date, December 27th, or an immediate
·7· ·30-day suspension."
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· There's no -- in the
·9· ·Order that we're provided, there's no date.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· The date was
11· ·from the original CO.
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· From the original CO.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· But it didn't
14· ·say a 30-day suspension.· It just said --
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That's what
16· ·I'm saying.· So he said that if he signs this
17· ·one, he's going to have an immediate 30-day
18· ·suspension.· That would be --
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· And that --
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That would
21· ·be based off the second CO that he's not
22· ·even -- that we decided on October the 27th
23· ·that he hasn't even been made aware of.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, let me
25· ·complicate this even further.· If we send
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·1· ·this back to get rewritten --
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· It's going
·3· ·to take another two and a half months.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· -- and it
·5· ·takes another 60 days to get it, how is he
·6· ·going to be able to even make the PROBE Plus
·7· ·after that?
·8· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, he
·9· ·knows he's got to do that.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Huh?
11· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· He's always
12· ·known he's got to do -- register for PROBE
13· ·Plus.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· But the
15· ·30-day suspension penalty is the bigger issue
16· ·here to me.· I mean, I wouldn't sign it if
17· ·you said, "Well, when you sign it, you're
18· ·going to have" -- "immediately you're
19· ·going" --
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Again, he's not signing
21· ·anything.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.· But
23· ·he's not even aware of it.· But, technically,
24· ·then, he's in violation at this very moment
25· ·if he's practicing dentistry in the State of
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·1· ·Mississippi or even if he's practicing for
·2· ·the Navy using the Mississippi license.
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Oh, he's in violation,
·4· ·yes.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So...
·6· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We just need
·7· ·an order that sets out more specifically what
·8· ·the penalty is for that violation.
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· There are two options:
10· ·Number one, we go with the Order as we have
11· ·it, and he'll have 30 days to pay the fine,
12· ·and you set him for an additional hearing.
13· · · · Option number two, we try to get the Order
14· ·corrected to include that, and we have to
15· ·determine -- because, I mean, I see the
16· ·concern.· I mean, you're issuing an Order; and
17· ·by issuance of the Order -- actually -- but
18· ·does he have to be -- I mean, you know, Drew,
19· ·I'm sitting here thinking.
20· · · · Does he have to be re-noticed?· I mean,
21· ·this is a requirement that he already --
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· But we never
23· ·said what the penalty would be.· This says,
24· ·"Additional disciplinary actions could
25· ·occur."· That's the problem, is we were vague
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·1· ·on that.
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So you can set him for a
·3· ·hearing, or I tend to agree with what Drew
·4· ·said, that we try to get this --
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Get that
·6· ·rewritten, set it out, --
·7· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And have the 30-day --
·8· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· -- that
·9· ·you've got 30 days to do it or it's a 30-day
10· ·suspension.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, that's
12· ·what we asked for in October.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, we're
14· ·fixing the Order so that it will say that,
15· ·yes.
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And when we
17· ·were sitting in here talking about it, we
18· ·thought we were going to have this done by
19· ·the end of the year, that he would have
20· ·registered for PROBE and the money would have
21· ·been paid by December 31 is what we were all
22· ·thinking was going to happen.
23· · · · And since he's never even gotten the
24· ·stuff -- and I know earlier we said --
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Everything
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·1· ·you're saying is correct.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- we've got
·3· ·to have hard deadlines or the person writing
·4· ·the Order is kind of boxed into a corner if
·5· ·you leave it to them.· Well, we didn't leave
·6· ·it open on October 27th.
·7· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We didn't
·8· ·think so, yeah.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I thought we
10· ·had it pretty well locked down.
11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Did y'all say also 30
12· ·days for the PROBE as well -- no, y'all
13· ·wouldn't have addressed that.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· That was
15· ·always on the six-month thing.· So we assumed
16· ·it was the end of December because --
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· December 21st was
18· ·his deadline.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· -- when we
20· ·were discussing it, it was always based off
21· ·of the fact that you said at some point,
22· ·"Well, he can't do that because of the timing
23· ·and the number of courses that are issued,"
24· ·and everything else.
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And so, from
·2· ·the original one, he was supposed to have
·3· ·signed up no later than sometime in December.
·4· ·So on October the 27th, we said, "He's got to
·5· ·pay a $1,000 fine and he's got to sign up for
·6· ·that course, or he gets a 30-day suspension."
·7· · · · And that's the reason I kept saying,
·8· ·"Could it be either one?· If he doesn't pay the
·9· ·fine, will he get a 30-day suspension?"
10· · · · And I think she said, "Yes."
11· · · · "If he doesn't sign up for PROBE, would he
12· ·get a 30-day suspension?"
13· · · · "Yes," either one of them.
14· · · · I think that's what that says in the
15· ·minutes.
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Yeah.· I mean, that's how
17· ·I interpret it.
18· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Can I
19· ·ask a question?· If he had been here for the
20· ·hearing in person and on that day,
21· ·October 27th, knew the outcome of the
22· ·decision, wouldn't he, then, be responsible
23· ·from that date to have complied with the
24· ·Order, whether it was given to him in writing
25· ·or not?
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·1· · · · And, if so, by the fact of choosing not to
·2· ·attend your hearing, is that still not the
·3· ·right date to use, is the October 27th?· I'm
·4· ·just curious.
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· That's a good
·6· ·point.· But the reality of it is, though, the
·7· ·controlling document is the Order.
·8· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Okay.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I mean, you
10· ·can tell them they've got to do it.· But, you
11· ·know, we always fudge on the time, as
12· ·attorneys, when we blow through the Final
13· ·Order because the Final Order is when your
14· ·appeal time starts and the domino of things
15· ·that occur.
16· · · · But everything that you're saying is
17· ·correct.· The bottom line is this, you know,
18· ·using the John Wayne approach, "Your fault, my
19· ·fault, nobody's fault."· We didn't do the
20· ·Order; we've got the Order now; it needs to be
21· ·fixed.
22· · · · So let's fix the Order; get it out; let's
23· ·get it down to Zimmerman; and then we'll let it
24· ·roll from there.· We're not happy about it, but
25· ·it is what it is.· And we're going to -- we'll
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·1· ·get it back and express that it needs to be
·2· ·done now; that we need to add -- the thousand
·3· ·is in there, but we need 30 days to sign up for
·4· ·PROBE Plus; and if you don't do the thousand or
·5· ·the 30 days -- or the signing up, it's a 30-day
·6· ·suspension.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Okay.
·8· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Is that what
·9· ·we're --
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yes.· I just
11· ·think --
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· That's what
13· ·we thought we had done before.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Correct.
15· ·And we thought that he would have had that in
16· ·the middle of November or something like that
17· ·and that he would have time to comply before
18· ·the end of the year.
19· · · · I just think it would be unfair to submit
20· ·this to him right now and say, "When you sign
21· ·this" -- "you effectively were supposed to have
22· ·done this three weeks ago, and now you're going
23· ·to have to void your license for 30 days."
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· No, you can't
25· ·do that.
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, that's
·2· ·what I understood.
·3· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I don't think
·4· ·that --
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I don't
·6· ·either.· I don't agree with that.
·7· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· You can't do
·8· ·that.· That was never -- that's what this
·9· ·order is going to do.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Correct.  I
11· ·understand that.
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· So you are
13· ·correct.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So should --
15· ·I know you're going to put 30 days in here.
16· ·Is that from the executed date from when the
17· ·President signs it?
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Uh-huh (affirmative
19· ·response).
20· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Because I need
21· ·to know that for compliance.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I understand
23· ·that.· So who is going to be in charge of
24· ·making sure this gets handled?
25· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I mean, I think that --
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I'm
·2· ·asking this from a Board standpoint
·3· ·because --
·4· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I just think that I'm
·5· ·going to have to meet, before it ever gets to
·6· ·compliance --
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Correct.
·8· ·Somebody has got to liaison between us and
·9· ·the AG's Office because, quite honestly, I'm
10· ·shocked that we're here standing on January
11· ·the 12th and this was not done two months
12· ·ago.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· In November.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Because we
15· ·certainly -- there was a lot of consternation
16· ·and stomach lining that went into creating
17· ·that thing.
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Sure.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And we
20· ·finally thought, "Okay.· It's done."· And now
21· ·it's causing --
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Can I give
23· ·you what your response is going to be?· Y'all
24· ·were sent an e-mail on December the 12th.
25· ·Did anyone respond back to her?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I want to
·2· ·make this as -- and I do not want to sound
·3· ·like I'm trying to abdicate my
·4· ·responsibilities as a Board member.  I
·5· ·thought that was sent to us as notification,
·6· ·that that was being handled by the Board and
·7· ·her, not me as an individual member of the
·8· ·Board.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Oh, yeah,
10· ·yeah.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I'm not
12· ·trying to -- because that's the ultimate why
13· ·I'm asking now.· What do we need to do to
14· ·follow up with this?· Because if it needs to
15· ·be Mark Williams, I will call.· I will set an
16· ·appointment in my appointment book that every
17· ·Wednesday at 1:00, I call the AG's Office and
18· ·say, "What about this thing?"
19· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We will dog
20· ·this.· But I'm just telling you that that's
21· ·what the response will be, right or wrong.
22· ·But we will fix it.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So we're at
24· ·the mercy of the Attorney General, even for
25· ·those two cases that we had today, as to when
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·1· ·we get direction from them?· There's not a
·2· ·timeline?
·3· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I mean, I've told you
·4· ·that I've seen longer.· I mean, it's not
·5· ·as -- it's not good, but it's not as shocking
·6· ·to me because I've just seen longer.· I've
·7· ·seen six months.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What are we
·9· ·going to do about Dr. May?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· What do you mean?
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Because aren't
12· ·we going to have a deal from the Attorney
13· ·General writing this up saying that he's
14· ·going to do this?· And if we don't have that
15· ·in the next two months, you know, he'll have
16· ·his knee surgery, which that's nothing to us.
17· ·I'm just saying, so that ain't going to
18· ·happen.
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I hate to say it's
20· ·outside of our control, but, I mean, I don't
21· ·know what --
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I hope
23· ·that you -- in his case, if he does the
24· ·30 days even before he gets the Order, I hope
25· ·we would say, as a Board, "Time served,"
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·1· ·whatever.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I would.
·3· ·After what I've seen today, I would.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yes.· And I
·5· ·mentioned that specifically to Denny.
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· We
·7· ·talked to him.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I don't
·9· ·care.· As long as he serves 30 consecutive
10· ·days, if we get the order on June the 1st and
11· ·he signs it and he says, "Well, I did it from
12· ·January 21st to February 20th," I would say,
13· ·"That's fine."
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, that's
15· ·still got to be told to him in some form or
16· ·fashion.
17· · · · So do we put this -- to further muddy the
18· ·water, do we put this on Tiffany to follow
19· ·these up and see if they're six weeks, eight
20· ·weeks behind, or what?
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· What?· The
22· ·orders?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah.
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'll follow
25· ·it up.· I've got zero pull, but I'll follow
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·1· ·it up.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· It might be
·3· ·better if we're screaming at them rather than
·4· ·you.
·5· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· They don't
·6· ·really care what I say; but, yeah.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Well, that's
·8· ·what I'm saying.
·9· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So
11· ·we're going to stop on Zimmerman and talk
12· ·about the other ones?
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So let me make sure
14· ·that --
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Make sure
16· ·we've got that right.
17· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· So I think what we're
18· ·doing --
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So I think
20· ·even in that e-mail chain it said, from
21· ·Westley -- this came from Ms. Love, "Don't
22· ·respond to me because I'm the prosecuting
23· ·person on this."
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I can't --
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And I'm
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·1· ·not -- I wish it would have been more clear
·2· ·to have said, "Hey, this is between y'all and
·3· ·Ms. Love.· Is this correct?"· Because when I
·4· ·saw that on there -- I did see the e-mail,
·5· ·and I scrolled through it.· But I just
·6· ·assumed it had all been taken care of, and I
·7· ·had no idea that this thing still needed a
·8· ·signature from the President of the Board
·9· ·before it was done.· If not, I would have
10· ·called him and said, "Hey, go down there on
11· ·the 15th and sign it."
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· But then it
13· ·wouldn't have been right.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, I
15· ·understand.· But it would have at least been
16· ·legal.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah, I guess
18· ·so.
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· It would
20· ·have been legal.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Mark, would
22· ·you re-present this thing so we can -- don't
23· ·you need this to go ahead and move it along?
24· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm trying to
25· ·conceptualize what it is that we're doing.
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·1· ·So we're going back to get the Order
·2· ·corrected and moving on from there.
·3· · · · So, really, I don't think there's any --
·4· ·unless you guys just want to take a vote, I
·5· ·mean, there's no Board action being taken,
·6· ·official Board action that modifies anything.
·7· ·We're just trying to get the Order corrected
·8· ·and executed.
·9· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I think
10· ·that's really what you're looking at, is the
11· ·Order as has been presented to the Board does
12· ·not accurately reflect what the Board's
13· ·wishes are and, for that matter, what the
14· ·Board voted on.
15· · · · We are, therefore, sending the Order back
16· ·to be -- with the additions made so that it
17· ·would properly reflect what y'all voted on.
18· ·You don't have to vote on it again for them to
19· ·fix what should have been fixed in the first
20· ·place.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I don't
22· ·think I've ever gotten an e-mail from the
23· ·Attorney General.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· It came from
25· ·Westley, and it was forwarded --
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I've never
·2· ·seen one.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· The document
·4· ·was forwarded from the Attorney General, and
·5· ·it was on the 14th of December.
·6· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I've never
·7· ·seen it.· Have you ever gotten another one?
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· No.· This is
·9· ·the e-mail right here.· I'm telling you, I
10· ·remember seeing it whenever you said that.
11· ·But I -- honestly, I looked at it and went,
12· ·"Okay.· Westley is taking care of this."
13· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Right.· And about the
14· ·only thing I can do is check for grammar on
15· ·these things because as a prosecutor, you
16· ·have a conflict of interest in terms of
17· ·preparing the Order.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Is there not
19· ·a way she could have just e-mailed -- well,
20· ·probably not, right, or a representative?
21· ·Because I feel -- like I understand what
22· ·you're saying.· Like you were put in a
23· ·predicament where you could not say; you only
24· ·could just, you know, say, "Hey" -- because
25· ·you said accordingly and if necessary.
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·1· · · · But we could not respond back to you.· We
·2· ·would have to go to her.· But if she would have
·3· ·just maybe had a representative to say, "Look
·4· ·at this.· Review this.· If there are any
·5· ·suggestions" --
·6· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I'm not sure why she did
·7· ·it.
·8· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Because I think that that
·9· ·was kind of gray, because I wouldn't have
10· ·responded -- I didn't respond.· I looked at
11· ·it, but I didn't respond.
12· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I did the
14· ·same thing.· I saw it, and I went, "Well,
15· ·okay."
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Maybe I could have been
17· ·more clear in my e-mail.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· I don't think
19· ·you could have without giving -- in your
20· ·position.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I didn't
22· ·understand the gravity of your e-mail.
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Well, we have to find a
24· ·way just to have, I guess, a stronger
25· ·connection between -- now, I can be that
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·1· ·person that gets on the phone and says, "Hey,
·2· ·give the Order.· Give the Order.· Give the
·3· ·Order," but I can't do anything really more
·4· ·than that.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Can Denny
·6· ·call us and say, "You've got an e-mail from
·7· ·Westley that contains a Consent Order" -- or
·8· ·you're not calling it a "consent order" -- "a
·9· ·Board Order"?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Well, frankly -- you know
11· ·what?· I'm going to take advantage of you
12· ·right now.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'll do it.
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We have -- I didn't
15· ·really recognize this at the time, but I
16· ·recognize it now, is that we're in a -- by
17· ·virtue of having Drew here, who is not our
18· ·Hearing Officer nor is he the prosecutor,
19· ·that's the perfect person to be the --
20· · · · MR. MALONE:· I'll tell them that it does
21· ·not accurately reflect what the Board stated,
22· ·that it needs to be changed.
23· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· But I'm also saying that
24· ·you can be our liaison in terms of -- if we
25· ·have to, to facilitate getting a Board Order
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·1· ·back.
·2· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I can try.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· And not just
·4· ·that.· I really didn't understand that I was
·5· ·responsible for reading this and approving it
·6· ·or deciding if it was correctly reflective of
·7· ·what we decided.· I did not understand that
·8· ·that day without opening this e-mail.  I
·9· ·looked at it and moved on, and --
10· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I mean, I'll
11· ·take the blame for that.· The reality of it
12· ·is, is that -- I mean, y'all needed to be
13· ·informed of what the Order said.· But the
14· ·reality of it is, is that y'all don't have
15· ·the time or the expertise to be trying to
16· ·analyze what these Orders are saying.  I
17· ·didn't remember the 30 days.· I mean, I've --
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I didn't either until we
19· ·talked about it.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· So that's not
21· ·on you, no.· You were just merely to be
22· ·informed that this is what the Order is
23· ·because you're required to be provided notice
24· ·of what it is.· I'll get it fixed.
25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· We almost
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·1· ·need the minutes of -- if it's going to be
·2· ·two months, we need the minutes to re-read it
·3· ·ourselves and stuff, you know.· I forget.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Yeah, I
·5· ·agree.
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Does
·7· ·the Board want to review it again before it's
·8· ·sent out once it's corrected?· If so, I don't
·9· ·mind calling and saying, "Hey, read this
10· ·e-mail," or do you want it to just be sent to
11· ·be executed?
12· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I'm fine
13· ·with that.· But it is all incumbent upon us
14· ·to know how to handle this one because we
15· ·have two more today that are going to get
16· ·written up.· And, apparently, the same thing
17· ·is going to happen on these two, and we need
18· ·to --
19· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I will
20· ·express that they really need to be
21· ·expedited.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Well, we at
23· ·least need to know what to do when we get it.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· We
25· ·still need to do something on Dr. Little
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·1· ·because he's in noncompliance.
·2· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What's the
·3· ·deal on him, now?
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· It says he's
·5· ·missed his $5,000 payment that was due on
·6· ·December 27th.
·7· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Yeah, I can't
·8· ·remember.· Where is he?
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· He's in
10· ·Meridian.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Can't you do
12· ·anything about your people over there?
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· I cannot.  I
14· ·have tried.
15· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
16· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So what's our
17· ·options?· Are we through with the other one?
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· We are.· All right.· So
19· ·Dr. Little is the same situation,
20· ·noncompliance.· Really, you can vote for the
21· ·Board to take no action, specific action, or
22· ·you can set it for a show-cause hearing.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· A hearing.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· If he has a
25· ·show-cause hearing, what happens then?
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· A show-cause hearing is
·2· ·the same thing that Dr. Zimmerman did not
·3· ·show up for.· It's where the Board puts on
·4· ·evidence showing where he is in violation --
·5· ·where he has violated his Order, and the
·6· ·Board simply renders a decision, whatever
·7· ·discipline you deem appropriate.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So it could
·9· ·be in addition to the previous finding?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· In addition to, yeah.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Can any new
12· ·allegations be brought up at a show-cause
13· ·hearing?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That would be
15· ·inappropriate.· The show-cause hearing is
16· ·just to show cause --
17· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We want our
18· ·$5,000.· How come he hasn't paid it?· That's
19· ·it.
20· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What's the
21· ·quickest way to get it?
22· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Well, the quickest -- I
23· ·don't know what the quickest way would be to
24· ·get it.· I don't know that one's particularly
25· ·quicker than the other.· You can say, "Hey,"
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·1· ·and offer him an additional fine or some
·2· ·other penalty as part of the Consent Order,
·3· ·and it could be modeled to include something
·4· ·about the automatic suspension, or you can
·5· ·just set him for hearing.
·6· · · · I mean, hearings -- I guess I'll say a
·7· ·hearing is always a more sure bet unless
·8· ·someone is going to request a continuance
·9· ·because you get them on the docket.· I mean,
10· ·you give them motivation.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What about a
12· ·suspension?· If you don't have it here in
13· ·30 days, we're suspending your license?
14· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You would have to have --
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· We would have
16· ·to have a hearing?
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· We have to
18· ·do another CO?
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Another CO or have a
20· ·hearing.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Can we say,
22· ·"You have a fine.· We're going to assess a
23· ·penalty of 10 percent.· It's payable within
24· ·30 days or the" -- "and the fine as well,"
25· ·the fine plus the interest penalty, whatever
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·1· ·it is?
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I would say, just
·3· ·honestly, just set a specific new fine.· Just
·4· ·set a specific new fine, whatever you want it
·5· ·to be.
·6· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Is this
·7· ·presented through a CO?
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It would be.· And that's
·9· ·what --
10· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· No.· I mean,
11· ·the $5,000 fine?
12· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's correct.
13· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· What do we
14· ·put as the penalty if you don't do this?
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· The same as the first
16· ·one, you know, a show-cause hearing.
17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What did he
18· ·do?· I forgot.
19· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:
20· · · · Dr. Little, if I recall correctly, he
21· ·wrote prescriptions to family members without
22· ·medical records.· He wrote some prescriptions
23· ·without checking the PMP or at least
24· ·maintaining records with the PMP as required.
25· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· And scope.
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·1· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Thank you.
·2· · · · And he also practiced out of the scope of
·3· ·his license.
·4· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You don't
·5· ·think doing a hearing would motivate him to
·6· ·either pay his money?· If we set him up for a
·7· ·hearing and he sends us a check, will that go
·8· ·away, is that right, or we've got to see him
·9· ·either way?
10· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You're going to either
11· ·have to do a Consent Order or a hearing.· If
12· ·you want to do anything, those are your two
13· ·options.
14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I thought we
15· ·already did a Consent Order.
16· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You would do an
17· ·additional Consent Order if you wanted to.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I don't want
19· ·to do another Consent Order.
20· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· That's fine.· So you
21· ·would need to do a hearing.
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Gee whiz.
23· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· And, plus, he
24· ·has only two more weeks until he's supposed
25· ·to have his 40 hours for his CEs, and he
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·1· ·hasn't shown that yet either.· That's only to
·2· ·the 27th.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So if we did
·4· ·an additional CO --
·5· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Will y'all excuse me for
·6· ·a second while y'all discuss that?· Kids at
·7· ·school.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· There were
·9· ·additional complaints.· So could that mean
10· ·that the future hearing might involve more
11· ·than just noncompliance with the first CO?
12· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, the
13· ·easy answer is "yes," but we would have to do
14· ·a whole new complaint setting out the new
15· ·allegations, and then we would -- in essence,
16· ·we would then do the show cause, "Why didn't
17· ·you pay us our $5,000?"· And then I think
18· ·she's right, and, "Why didn't you finish your
19· ·CEs?"· And then, "Oh, by the way, we've got
20· ·new allegations here that we're going to" --
21· ·you know.
22· · · · So, yeah, it's two different complaints,
23· ·so to speak.· There's a show cause and then a
24· ·complaint.· I mean, to some extent, you know, I
25· ·almost wish we could do like what Dr. Grubbs
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·1· ·wants, which is like, "If you pay it within
·2· ·five days, we'll let it go."· But then we know
·3· ·he's not going to get his CEs done in
·4· ·two weeks.· So it's like we're going to be just
·5· ·sending letter after letter after letter
·6· ·saying, "Do this.· Do this."· And I think he --
·7· · · · Are we at a point where we've got new
·8· ·allegations?· I don't know.· Has anyone called
·9· ·him and reached out to him to say, "Where's our
10· ·$5,000?"
11· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· No.· He took
12· ·his jurisprudence, and then he requested to
13· ·speak to Westley about registering for the
14· ·PROBE courses.· He requested to speak to
15· ·Westley regarding those, and Westley sent him
16· ·the contact information for taking those
17· ·PROBE courses.· So he did speak with Westley.
18· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, I know.
19· ·But what about, "Where's my $5,000?"
20· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· (Shakes head
21· ·negatively).
22· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'm a huge
23· ·proponent of, "Where's my $5,000?"· I mean,
24· ·we go through all of this, but --
25· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· So does
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·1· ·the Board wish us to make reminder calls
·2· ·regarding compliance?· I think there's been
·3· ·different opinions about that.· So if the
·4· ·staff is -- if we're directed to do it,
·5· ·certainly we will do it.
·6· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I mean, you
·7· ·can do whatever you want, but we're sending
·8· ·out a lot of Orders.
·9· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· What
10· ·would be the wish or the desire of the Board
11· ·to --
12· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I think one
14· ·call would be just fine to find out what he's
15· ·thinking, you know, or she.
16· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· Can we
17· ·put that on the record?
18· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
19· · · · COURT REPORTER:· Who am I following?
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I'm sorry.
21· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· So do we
22· ·want to get a motion that --
23· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I think it
24· ·would be helpful to just know that we're
25· ·being --
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I think
·2· ·they're sharing something.
·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· This is
·4· ·about a phone call.
·5· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
·6· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· A show cause.
·7· ·A show-cause hearing.
·8· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· We don't need
·9· ·to waste a phone call on him.
10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I'm just
11· ·saying in the future.· We're not talking
12· ·about --
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Why would we
14· ·do that?· If they have a Consent Order that
15· ·says $5,000, why would we call them and ask
16· ·them?· That's just wasting our time and
17· ·wasting her time.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· If it would
19· ·cut down on all of this, it might be good.
20· · · · · ·(Overlapping conversation)
21· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· We will
22· ·do whatever you direct us to do.· I just want
23· ·it to be consistent.
24· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CARLTON:· I make the
25· ·motion that we make a phone call and remind
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·1· ·them that the money is due at a certain point
·2· ·and that, "If you're not compliant, then
·3· ·actions will be taken."
·4· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Can I make amendment to
·5· ·the motion?
·6· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· You can
·7· ·make a second first, and then you can amend
·8· ·it.
·9· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Oh, yeah, you're right.
10· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· You
11· ·need to have a second on that.
12· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
13· · · · EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR MR. HYDRICK:· You can
14· ·make the amendment.
15· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Can we maybe say with any
16· ·Consent Order whatever the penalty is,
17· ·whether it's time, CE, whatever?· And it's an
18· ·attempt.· It's not you actually have to talk
19· ·to them, but just an attempt just one time.
20· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Are we saying
21· ·before the money is due or after?
22· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· We're just
23· ·talking about any penalty with a Consent
24· ·Order.
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· I agree.· It
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·1· ·just seems that --
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Before.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Before.
·4· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Before the
·5· ·money is due, just call and say, "You owe us
·6· ·$5,000.· It's due in this office tomorrow.
·7· ·You might want to get in the car and bring me
·8· ·a check."
·9· · · · But I think you're right, just one.· We're
10· ·not going to beg them for it.
11· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· Yeah.· And if you don't
12· ·answer, then, okay, that's on you.
13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· So
14· ·we've got a motion on the floor to make one
15· ·phone -- some type of communication prior to
16· ·the deadline of the payment?
17· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Yes.
18· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.
19· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· What is the
20· ·deadline?
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, that
22· ·doesn't apply to this one.· This is for
23· ·future cases.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Future
25· ·cases, yeah.
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·1· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· This is for
·2· ·future.
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.· Robert,
·4· ·I retract my former remark.
·5· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
·6· ·All in favor, say "aye."
·7· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
·8· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed,
·9· ·"no."
10· · · · · · · · · (No response)
11· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All right.
12· ·The motion carries.· There will be one phone
13· ·call or one communication.· It could be a
14· ·text, I guess.
15· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Is that a communication
16· ·regarding money?· Is it regarding every
17· ·element of the --
18· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· I said any type of --
19· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· She said
20· ·anything.
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Every
22· ·element.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So what did we
24· ·decide on the --
25· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, no,
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·1· ·we're going to do Little next.
·2· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Little is up
·3· ·now.· Are we going to do a show cause, or are
·4· ·we going to do a hearing?
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· What is show
·6· ·cause?
·7· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· A show cause is a
·8· ·hearing.· It's just terminology that kind of
·9· ·relates to a noncompliance with an Order
10· ·because you're really having them show up to
11· ·show cause why the Board shouldn't take
12· ·further action because you're failing to
13· ·comply with your Order as opposed to them
14· ·being forced for the first time.
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I see.
16· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I hate to
17· ·wait until April.
18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You guys speak a
19· ·different language and so do we.· I forget
20· ·that sometimes.
21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I remember
22· ·that I got a Consent Order a few years ago
23· ·about an advertising thing, and I challenged
24· ·it and came before the Board with my
25· ·attorney, but there was no hearing.
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·1· · · · What do you call that?
·2· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· I don't know.· Perhaps an
·3· ·informal settlement conference of sorts.  I
·4· ·don't know.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I mean, I won
·6· ·it.· They remanded it.· But I don't know what
·7· ·they called it.
·8· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Let's talk some more
·9· ·about that later.· I would like to learn a
10· ·little bit more about it.
11· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Okay.
12· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Now that
13· ·you've got the old minutes and stuff, if he
14· ·knows what year that happened, then --
15· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I don't
16· ·exactly, but it's been within six years.
17· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Little.
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· I think
19· ·Conaway was the President.
20· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· '18 or --
21· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We've got a
22· ·motion for a show cause on Little.
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· For a hearing.
24· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· Well, a
25· ·show-cause hearing.
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·1· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Do we have a
·2· ·second?
·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. LAMPKIN:· Second.
·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· A second.
·5· ·Okay.
·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· If we go that
·7· ·route and he doesn't show up, then we can
·8· ·really hammer him.
·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· You can do what you want.
10· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I hate to use
11· ·that word.· Mark, do you have a problem with
12· ·that.
13· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· (Shakes head
14· ·negatively).
15· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in favor
16· ·of the hearing on Little, say "aye."
17· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.
18· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Any opposed?
19· · · · · · · · · (No response)
20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Motion
21· ·carries.
22· · · · Is that it, Tiffany?
23· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· No.
24· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· No?· There's
25· ·one more?
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·1· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Tiffany, I'm
·2· ·not sure -- my understanding is that Dr. Gary
·3· ·is out for 90 days; is that correct?
·4· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes, sir.
·5· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And my
·6· ·understanding is that Dr. Mike Carter is
·7· ·filling in for him?
·8· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes.
·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.· Have
10· ·we -- this is going to be something on our
11· ·compliance thing going forward.· Has he
12· ·signed in stating that he's working for
13· ·Dr. Gary?
14· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yeah -- well, I
15· ·believe -- Haley asked me if I had gotten an
16· ·e-mail, so I was checking back with my
17· ·e-mails to see if --
18· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I can't hear
19· ·you.· I'm sorry.
20· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Haley said an
21· ·office staff sent me an e-mail, but I didn't
22· ·see it.· So I asked her to re-send the e-mail
23· ·where it was saying that Dr. Carter was going
24· ·to be a fill-in for Dr. Gary.
25· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· So an office
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·1· ·staff did that?· They sent you something to

·2· ·the effect that he's going to be working in

·3· ·the office?

·4· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes.· Dr. Mike

·5· ·Carter will be doing fill-in work.

·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· I'm sorry?

·7· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes, Dr. Mike

·8· ·Carter will be doing the fill-in work.

·9· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· And when did

10· ·you get that?

11· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· She said she

12· ·sent it in December, but I didn't believe

13· ·that I got it.· So I updated it today.

14· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· You're going

15· ·to verify that?

16· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yes, sir.

17· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.· My

18· ·other question is:· How are we going to --

19· ·are we going to send somebody to that

20· ·practice to check and make sure he's not

21· ·practicing?· Just a spot-check?

22· · · · DEPUTY DIRECTOR VAUGHN:· Yeah, it would

23· ·be the investigators to spot-check and make

24· ·sure he's not practicing, and they can run

25· ·his PMP, too, to make sure he's not
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·1· ·prescribing anything.

·2· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· We already

·3· ·started that process.· I have started to

·4· ·begin to monitor him on PMP and other means

·5· ·to do that.

·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. GRUBBS:· Okay.

·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Now, are we

·8· ·finished with the noncompliance?· I don't

·9· ·have anything else.· Westley or Denny,

10· ·anything else in executive session?

11· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· Nothing on my end, no,

12· ·sir.

13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· Well,

14· ·we can --

15· · · · BOARD COUNSEL MR. MALONE:· We need a

16· ·motion to come out.

17· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· -- make a

18· ·motion to come out.· Somebody?

19· · · · MR. LAMPKIN:· So moved.

20· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Second?

21· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· Second.

22· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in

23· ·favor, say "aye."

24· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.

25· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Okay.· We
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·1· ·are now out of executive session.

·2· · · · · · (EXIT EXECUTIVE SESSION)

·3· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· Now, we're

·4· ·on the last two things:· A report of any

·5· ·Board actions taken in executive session and

·6· ·then the adjournment.

·7· · · · So who gives the report of what took

·8· ·place?· We don't have to do that.

·9· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· It would be appropriate

10· ·for the Board President to do so.· And, in

11· ·fact, actually, I'll give you the assist,

12· ·Dr. Smith.

13· · · · So it was my understanding that the Board

14· ·voted to approve the remands as provided in

15· ·Exhibit A.

16· · · · Is that correct, Nick, Exhibit A?

17· · · · INVESTIGATOR HARDWICK:· Exhibit A.

18· · · · MR. MUTZIGER:· And then they voted to

19· ·approve the Letters of Concern also in

20· ·Exhibit A.· They voted to approve the Consent

21· ·Order for Dr. Papania subject to the

22· ·submission of a 30-day time limit in which

23· ·Dr. Papania will remove the -- will remove

24· ·"Medical Analysis" from any of his business

25· ·representations and his facility.· And, also,
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·1· ·Dr. Papania would submit evidence of

·2· ·compliant -- photographic evidence of

·3· ·compliance of that requirement to the Board

·4· ·staff.

·5· · · · Then, in terms of noncompliance, I do not

·6· ·believe -- let's see.· The Board voted to

·7· ·pursue a show-cause hearing in the matter of

·8· ·Dr. Reuben Little for violation of his Consent

·9· ·Order.

10· · · · And I believe that that covers all of the

11· ·matters in executive session.· Is that

12· ·everything?

13· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· I think it

14· ·was.· Thank you, Westley.

15· · · · Right before we adjourn, I suspect this is

16· ·my last meeting as a -- in this office as the

17· ·President, and I've enjoyed serving with

18· ·everyone.· Excuse me for all of the errors that

19· ·I've made, but we've gotten through this last

20· ·year and a half somehow.· And I appreciate what

21· ·each one of y'all have contributed to my

22· ·learning experience, and, hopefully, I will

23· ·still be able to continue to visit and share my

24· ·little bit of knowledge with the Board as the

25· ·years keep going.· So thank y'all.
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·1· · · · All right.· With that, I'll entertain a

·2· ·motion to adjourn.

·3· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. WILLIAMS:· So moved.

·4· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· And a

·5· ·second?

·6· · · · BOARD MEMBER DR. CURTIS:· Second.

·7· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· All in

·8· ·favor, say "aye."

·9· · · · BOARD PANEL:· Aye.

10· · · · BOARD PRESIDENT DR. SMITH:· We're

11· ·adjourned.

12· · · · (HEARING ADJOURNED AT 2:59 P.M.)
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·2
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